BLUE RIVER HOLDINGS LIMITED
ENERERAE

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(REFEZMR L 2ERATE)
Stock Code B2 4855%: 0498.HK

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 F#k



Based in Hong Kong, Blue River Holdings Limited
is principally engaged in, among others, gas
distribution, logistics and energy-related businesses
in the People’s Republic of China, as well as property
investment, securities trading and investment, and

provision of financing related services.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
~AAER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Kwong Kai Sing, Benny
(Chairman and Managing Director)
Au Wai June

Independent Non-Executive Directors

William Nicholas Giles
(resigned with effect from 17 January 2025)
Yu Chung Leung
Lam John Cheung-wah
Liu Jianyi

(appointed with effect from 27 December 2024)
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Corporate Governance and Compliance

Committee

Au Wai June

William Nicholas Giles (Chairman)
(resigned as Chairman with effect from
17 January 2025)

Yu Chung Leung

Lam John Cheung-wah

Liu Jianyi (Chairman)
(appointed as Chairman with effect from
17 January 2025)

Ho Sze Nga, Maggie

Share Repurchase Committee
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William Nicholas Giles (Chairman)
(resigned as Chairman with effect from
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Liu Jianyi (Chairman)
(appointed as Chairman with effect from
17 January 2025)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ho Sze Nga, Maggie

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Kwong Kai Sing, Benny

Ho Sze Nga, Maggie

Chan Dik Keung, William
(Alternate to Kwong Kai Sing, Benny and
Ho Sze Nga, Maggie)

(resigned with effect from 30 September 2024)

AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Audiitors
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
RAEHR

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation

Limited

LEGAL ADVISERS

Eric Yung & Co.
Conyers Dill & Pearman (Bermuda)

FINANCIAL ADVISER

Akron Corporate Finance Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

31st Floor

China United Centre
28 Marble Road
North Point

Hong Kong

Tel: +852 3198 0469
Fax: +852 2372 0641
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PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited

Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM11

Bermuda

(appointed with effect on 31 December 2024)

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

www.blueriverholdings.com.hk

STOCK CODE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETEBRESE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Blue River Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), we would
like to present the audited annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2025 to the shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
recorded a consolidated revenue of approximately
HKS$39 million (2024: HK$62 million). Net loss for the
year attributable to the owners of the Company was
approximately HK$177 million (2024: HK$265 million),
and basic and diluted losses per share were both
HK17.0 cents (2024: HK25.5 cents). Equity attributable
to the owners of the Company decreased by 12% to
approximately HK$825 million (2024: HK$933 million),
representing HK$0.79 (2024: HK$0.90) per share as at
31 March 2025.

OVERVIEW

The Board had resolved not to recommend payment of
a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024
Nil).

During the year under review, the Company maintained
a prudent approach in refining its strategy with a
view to strengthen the long-term value of the Group.
During the year, the Group had realised a property in
Hong Kong (i.e. 9th floor, together with three carparks
on 2nd floor, of E-Trade Plaza) as well as certain
listed securities in its investment portfolio. The sales
proceeds facilitated the Group with more flexibility to
seize suitable business and investment opportunities
as and when they arise. A detailed review of our
operations during the year was set out in the Business
Review of this annual report.
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The Company continues to pursue effective internal
control measures and endeavours to enhance the
quality of its overall corporate governance measures.
We maintained transparent communications with
investors and stakeholders, persisted to pursue
consistent and effective internal control and audit
programs, and offered relevant trainings for directors
and management of the Group. Details of the Group’s
corporate governance practices were set out in
the Corporate Governance Report and Business
Review of this annual report.

The Company demonstrated a strong commitment to
corporate social responsibility. Details of the Group’s
corporate social responsibilities were set out in the
Business Review and Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of this annual report.

PROSPECTS

The Board undertakes strategic review of the Group’s
assets from time to time with a view to maximising
returns to the shareholders of the Company.
Concurrently, the Group will explore opportunities to
diversify and broaden its business and investment
portfolios by investing in business with optimistic
prospect. The Group will continue looking for
investment opportunities in a cautious and pragmatic
approach with a view to enhancing shareholders’ value.

APPRECIATION

| wish to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to my fellow Board members for their valuable
guidance and monitoring to the Group. On behalf of
the Board, | would like to express our appreciation to
the Group’s staff for their dedication and contribution
that gives impetus to the development of the
Group. | would also like to send our gratitude to our
shareholders, clients and partners for their continuous
support and confidence to the Group. | wish them all
prosperity and continued success in the coming year.

Benny KWONG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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BUSINESS REVIEW
XBEMR

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS
DEVELOPMENT

Ports and logistics

During the year, the CNG distribution and logistics
businesses of Minsheng Natural Gas in Wuhan, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) recorded a
segment loss of approximately HK$12 million (2024:
profit of HK$31 million, including gain on disposal of
subsidiaries of HK$59 million). Influenced adversely
by the continuing and bolstered promotion of electric-
powered vehicles by the Wuhan Municipal People’s
Government and the popularisation of electric-powered
vehicles in Wuhan City, the sales of CNG decreased
by 24% to approximately 9 milion m® (2024: 11.8
million m® when compared with last year. After closure
of one CNG automotive fueling station in February
2025, Minsheng Natural Gas owns and operates three
CNG automotive fueling stations in Wunhan City. As
at 31 March 2025, loan receivables due by a former
subsidiary under the ports and logistics businesses
with the principal amount of RMB4,000,000 were
outstanding and an interest income of approximately
RMB127,000 was derived from these loan receivables
during the year, particulars of which were set out in
Note 24 of the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements”.

The expediting deployment of new energy vehicles
in both public and private transportation sectors by
the Wuhan Government casts a bleak outlook on the
CNG distribution and logistics businesses of Minsheng
Natural Gas. The Group will continue its operation of
the CNG distribution and logistics businesses through
Minsheng Natural Gas in Wuhan City primarily for
fulfillment of its obligation of fueling service to the
local public buses. Given Minsheng Natural Gas has
been loss-making under the bleak outlook on the
CNG distribution and logistics businesses, the Group
is assessing its options on this business based on
its development potential as well as using its best
endeavour to explore and seize opportunities and
cooperation from the energy-related businesses.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report
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Property

Golden Lake Property Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, had disposed of the whole
floor of the 9th floor, E-Trade Plaza and three carparks
(no. 222, 223, 224) on the 2nd floor of E-Trade Plaza,
24 | ee Chung Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong (the “E-Trade
Property”) at a consideration of HK$50 million (the
“E-Trade Disposal”) and the completion of the E-Trade
Disposal took place on 31 March 2025. Details of the
E-Trade Disposal was set out in the section “Material
Acquisition(s) and Disposal(s)” below. Subsequent to
the E-Trade Disposal, the Company primarily invests
in properties in Hong Kong through investments in
associates as the Group remains cautious in the
property adjustment cycle with potential decline and is
repositioning its focus in the property segment so as
to weather any headwinds ahead as well as to capture
opportunities from relaxation of the rules regulating
the property market by the government and economic
recovery in the foreseeable future.

The property business recorded a segment loss of
approximately HK$13 million (2024: HK$32 million)
for the year which mainly composed of the loss on fair
value changes of investment properties in Hong Kong
of approximately HK$4 million (2024: HK$10 million)
and share of the associates’ loss of HK$9 million
(2024: HK$23 million), as affected by the interest rate
fluctuation and uncertainties, sluggish economy as well
as the weak demand for office premise in Hong Kong.

BUSINESS REVIEW
XBEER

Yl =

EHOEERAR(ARBIZE2EWE
NAE) AR B5,0008 8 T & & B %
BN RE4ARRERESZIERE MR
REES2EN = EFEEM (45222
223 224) ([REWME]D ([RELES
H]) RREHE EIEN2025%F 3 A 31
HEK RELEFTBEZHFBIHRT
N[ERAKBEERLE] - REEH
EEHEE ARATEFBREH L
NAIRERERBZME RAALRE
EHEAERBARE TRRIFEE
RE UTENMTUNERYELIRZE
2 WEEER AR A E - WIEEBRA
BMEMEMSGHRERABERRKEE
EERAER 2B o

R O B K N REGE M - A8 B R B
REBRAEMETKESAZE
W) E B F RS D 26 18 491,300
BB r(2024:32008 L) ¥ B
BIEBEREMEZATEEEZE
B 18 49400& & 7T (2024 : 1,000 & &
70) K (R B & N B) 2 5189008 8 7T
(2024 : 2,3008 /8 7T) °

EmMEZERAERLDT 2025 F 7R

9



10

BUSINESS REVIEW
XBER

Securities

The securities segment recorded a segment loss of
approximately HK$0.01 million (2024: HK$0.01 million).
As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s investments in listed
equity instruments not held for trading amounted to
approximately HK$194 million (2024: HK$129 million).
The increase in fair value of approximately HK$90
million (2024: decrease HK$81 million) for the year was
recognised in other comprehensive income.

The Group adopted a cautious and disciplined
approach in managing the Group’s securities portfolio.
The Group will continue to monitor its securities
portfolio and look for investment opportunities with a
view to achieving growth in portfolio value in future.

Financial services

The financial services business recorded a segment
loss of approximately HK$111 million (2024: HK$204
million) for the year, which was mainly attributable
to the share of loss of its investee associates of
approximately HK$81 million (2024: HK$208 million)
during the year.

The Group adopted a cautious approach in managing
its direct loan financing business aiming to gradually
build up a creditworthy clientele base. During the
year, loan facilities of HK$18 million granted last year
and HK$4 million granted during the year were drawn
down by two borrowers respectively. As at 31 March
2025, only a facility with a principal amount of HK$4.5
million remained outstanding (31.3.2024: Nil) and
partial settlement of HK$3,353,000 was made after
the end of the reporting period. An interest income
of approximately HK$1 million was derived from the
loan receivables during the year, particulars of which
were set out in Note 24 of “Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements”. The direct loan financing
business contributed revenue of approximately HK$1
million (2024: HK$9 million) for the year.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report
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The Group held one-third of equity interest in Maxlord
Enterprises Limited (“Maxlord”), a licensed money
lender carrying out money lending business in Hong
Kong, which is an indirect 66.67% owned subsidiary
of Planetree International Development Limited (stock
code: 0613.HK) as at 31 March 2025. During the year,
the Group shared a loss of approximately HK$8 million
(2024: HK$35 million) on its investment in Maxlord.

The Group participated mainly in the financing business
through a 40% owned associate, Golden Thread
Investments Limited (“Golden Thread”) as at 31 March
2025. During the year, the Group shared a loss of
approximately HK$91 million (2024: HK$32 million) on
its investment in Golden Thread.

The Group participated in the integrated financial
services sectors, particularly the licensed securities
brokerage and margin financing business through
equity investments to share knowledge, expertise and
network in the field with industry partners. As at 31
March 2025, through equity investment in Hope Capital
Limited, the Group indirectly held 31.54% equity
interest in Hope Securities Limited, which is a licensed
corporation under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
to carry on regulated activities including dealing in and
advising on securities and future contracts and asset
management. As at 31 March 2025, the Group also
held 33% equity interest in HEC Securities Company
Limited which is engaged in treasury activities. The
equity investments are classified as associates of the
Company and the Group shared profit of approximately
HK$18 million (2024: loss of HK$141 million) during the
year.

With a view to contribute a stable and favorable income
stream to the Group, it will continue to explore business
opportunities in the financial service business with a
prudent credit strategy and capitalise on the expertise
and competitive strength of other sophisticated
industry participants through partnerships.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
XBER

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT(S)

An investment with a carrying value of 5% or more
of the total assets of the Group is considered as a
significant investment of the Group. As at 31 March
2025, the Group’s investment in 306,000,000 ordinary
listed shares of Oshidori International Holdings Limited
(“Oshidori”), represented approximately 4.9% of
Oshidori’s issued share capital, was measured at
fair value of approximately HK$147 million, which
represented approximately 16% to the total assets of
the Group. Total cost for the investment in Oshidori
amounted to approximately HK$85 milion and the
cumulative unrealised fair value gain was approximately
HK$62 million. An investment with a carrying value of 5%
or more of the total assets of the Group is considered
as a significant investment of the Group. The existing 4.9%
shareholding in Oshidori was as a result of the Oshidori
share (the “Oshidori Share(s)”) disposal in October
2024 (the “Oshidori Share Disposal”), details of which
was set out in the section “Material Acquisitions and
Disposals” below.

Oshidori is a company incorporated in Bermuda with
limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 0622.HK).
Oshidori and its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in investment holdings, tactical and/or strategical
investments (including property investments), provision
of financial services including the Securities and Futures
Commission regulated activities, namely Type 1 (dealing
in securities), Type 2 (dealing in futures contracts), Type
4 (advising on securities), Type 6 (advising on corporate
finance), Type 8 (securities margin financing) and Type
9 (asset management) and provision of credit and
lending services regulated under the Money Lenders
Ordinance. During the year, no dividend was received
from Oshidori and the unrealised fair value gain of the
investment in Oshidori of approximately HK$85 million
was charged to the investment revaluation reserve
through other comprehensive income.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report
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As extracted from the annual report of Oshidori for the
year ended 31 December 2024, Oshidori recorded an
audited net loss of HK$195 million, compared to a net
loss of HK$84 million for the comparative year. As at
31 December 2024, Oshidori had audited total assets
and net asset value of HK$3,218 million and HK$3,036
million respectively. The liquidity of Oshidori remained
strong with a current ratio of 7.1 and a gearing ratio
of 1.6%. As at 31 March 2025, the closing price of
Oshidori of HK$0.48 per share represents a discount
of approximately 2% to its audited net assets value as
at 31 December 2024 of HK$0.49 per share. As a long
term investment, it represents a value stock pick with
potential for a higher return.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not hold any
significant investments in any investee company with
a value above 5% of the Group’s total assets as at 31
March 2025.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

During the period from April to June 2024, the
Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
disposed of a total of 3,288,000 shares of Bradaverse
Education (Int’'l) Investments Group Limited (stock
code: 1082.HK) (the “BEIG Share(s)”), whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
in the open market for an aggregate consideration of
HK$4,775,000 (exclusive of transaction costs) (the
“Previous BEIG Disposal”).
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On 29 August 2024, the Company, through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, disposed of a total of
1,064,000 BEIG Shares in the open market for an
aggregate consideration of HK$1,744,960 (exclusive
of transaction costs) (equivalent to an average price
of HK$1.640 per BEIG Share) (the “BEIG Disposal”).
The Previous BEIG Disposal together with the BEIG
Disposal, which took place within a 12-month period,
were aggregated as a single series of transactions
pursuant to the Listing Rules and constituted a
discloseable transaction of the Company, details
of which were set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 29 August 2024,

On 17 October 2024, the Company, through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, disposed of a total of
159,000,000 shares of Oshidori Shares, whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
in the open market for an aggregate consideration of
HK$27,030,000 (exclusive of transaction costs) (equivalent
to an average price of HK$0.17 per Oshidori Shares).
The Oshidori Disposal constituted a discloseable
transaction of the Company, the details of which
were set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 17 October 2024. Subsequent to the Oshidori
Share Disposal, the Group is holding an aggregate
of 306,000,000 Oshidori Shares, representing
approximately 4.9% of the total issued share capital of
Oshidori as at the date of this report.

Golden Lake Property Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a provisional
conditional sale and purchase agreement dated
15 November 2024 (the “Provisional SPA”) and the
subsequent formal agreement, as supplemented by
a supplemental agreement, both dated 29 November
2024 (collectively, the “Formal Agreement”) with Mrs.
Lui Ip, King Yee Elsa as the purchaser and, in relation
to the Provisional SPA only, A Land Property Limited as
the property agent, both of which were an independent
third party in respect of the E-Trade Disposal at a
consideration of HK$50 million pursuant to the terms
of the Formal Agreement. Upon passing of the relevant
resolution by the shareholders of the Company at the
special general meeting on 16 January 2025 approving
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(the “SGM”), inter alia, the E-Trade Disposal and the
transactions contemplated thereunder, the completion
of the E-trade Disposal took place on 31 March 2025.
Details of the E-Trade Disposal were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 15 November
2024 and 2 April 2025 and the circular of the Company
dated 27 December 2024 respectively.

On 18 March 2025, the Company, through its wholly-
owned subsidiary, disposed of a total of 8,000,000
shares of Hao Tian International Construction
Investment Group Limited, a company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability, the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1341) (the “Hao Tian Shares”)
in the open market for an aggregate consideration of
HK$6,400,000 (exclusive of transaction costs) (equivalent
to an average price of HK$0.8 per Hao Tian Shares) (the “Hao
Tian Disposal”’). The Hao Tian Disposal constituted a
discloseable transaction of the Company, the details
of which were set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 18 March 2025.

On 31 March 2025, the Company, through its wholly-
owned subsidiary, disposed of a total of 199,962,000
shares of Central Wealth Group Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability,
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 139) (the “Central
Wealth Shares”) in the open market for an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$7,000,000 (exclusive
of transaction costs) (equivalent to an average price
of HK$0.035 per Central Wealth Shares) (the “Central
Wealth Disposal”). The Central Wealth Disposal
constituted a discloseable transaction of the Company,
the details of which were set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 31 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have
other material acquisition(s) and disposal(s) during the
reporting period.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no major subsequent events occurred
since the end of the reporting period and up to the
date of this annual report.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
recorded a consolidated revenue of approximately
HK$39 million (2024: HK$62 million) and gross profit of
approximately HK$10 million (2024: HK$24 million). The
decrease in revenue during the year was mainly due to
the decrease in sales of CNG products impacted by
the increased popularity of electric-powered vehicles
and interest income from loan receivables. During the
year, the Group recorded a loss before taxation of
approximately HK$177 million (2024: HK$264 million),
which was composed of:

() net loss of approximately HK$12 million (2024:
profit of HK$31 million, including gain on disposal
of subsidiaries of HK$59 million) in ports and
logistics segment;

(i) net loss of approximately HK$13 million (2024:
HK$32 million) in property segment;

(i) net loss of approximately HK$0.01 million (2024:
HK$0.01 million) in securities segment;

(iv) net loss of approximately HK$111 million (2024:
HK$204 million) in financial services segment;

(v) net corporate and other expenses of
approximately HK$39 million (2024: HK$90

million);

(vi) net exchange gain of approximately HK$0.01
million (2024: loss of HK$1 million);

(vii) no gain on forfeiture of deposit and earnest money
received (2024: HK$8 million);
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(viii) no impairment loss reversed on amounts due from
former subsidiaries in liquidation (2024: HK$31
million); and

(ix) finance costs of approximately HK$2 million (2024:
HK$7 million).

After taking into account the tax credit of approximately
HK$0.01 million (2024: HK$0.4 million), the
operations of the Group recorded loss for the year of
approximately HK$177 million (2024: HK$263 million).

Net loss for the year attributable to the owners of
the Company was approximately HK$177 million
(2024: HK$265 million) and basic loss per share was
approximately HK17.0 cents (2024: HK25.5 cents).
The decrease in net loss for the year was mainly
attributable to the net effect of (a) net loss from share
of results of associates decreased from approximately
HK$231 million for last year to approximately HK$93
million for the vyear; (b) decrease in administrative
expenses from approximately HK$108 million for
last year to approximately HK$45 million for the
year; (¢) no impairment loss reversal on amounts
due from the former subsidiaries in liquidation for
the year, as compared with reversal of impairment
loss of approximately HK$31 million for last year; (d)
absence of gain on disposal of subsidiaries for the
year, as compared with gain on disposal of certain
loss-making subsidiaries from the Group’s ports and
logistics businesses of approximately HK$59 million
for last year; and (e) no gain on forfeiture of deposit
and earnest money received for the year, as compared
with gain on forfeiture of deposit and earnest money
received approximately HK$8 million for last year.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION

When compared with the Group’s financial position as
at 31 March 2024, total assets decreased by 3.79% to
approximately HK$939 million (2024: HK$976 million).
As at 31 March 2025, net current liabilities amounted
to approximately HK$30 million (2024: HK$1 million),
whereas current ratio deriving from the ratio of current
assets to current liabilities decreased to 0.75 times
(2024: 0.97 times). After taking into account (a) the
net loss attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$177 million; (b) the increase
in carrying amount of financial assets measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income of
approximately HK$102 million recognised in the
investment revaluation reserve; (c) the share of other
comprehensive expense of associates of approximately
HK$33 million; and (d) the Renminbi exchange deficit of
approximately HK$0.04 million arising from translation
of foreign operations, equity attributable to owners of
the Company decreased by 12% to approximately
HK$825 million (2024: HK$933 million), representing
HK$0.79 (2024: HK$0.90) per share as at 31 March
2025.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had total assets of
HK$939 million (2024: HK$976 million) which were
financed by shareholders’ funds and credit facilities. A
variety of credit facilities were maintained to meet its
working capital requirements and committed capital
expenditure, which bore interest at market rates and
had contracted terms of repayment ranging from on
demand to one year. The Group mainly generated
revenue and incurred costs in Hong Kong dollar and
Renminbi. During the year, no financial instruments
had been used for hedging purpose and no foreign
currency net investments are hedged by currency
borrowings or other hedging instruments. The Group
adopts a prudent funding and treasury policy and
manages the fluctuation exposures of exchange rate
and interest rate on specific transactions.
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As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s other borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$91 million (2024:
HK$16 million) with approximately HK$91 million (2024
HK$15 million) repayable on demand or within one year
and no other borrowings is repayable after one year
(2024: HK$1 million). Borrowings denominated in Hong
Kong dollar of HK$72 million (2024: Nil) bore interest
at fixed rate. Borrowings denominated in Renminbi of
approximately HK$19 million (2024: HK$16 million)
of which HK$13 milion (2024: HK$16 million) bore
interest at fixed rate and the rest of HK$6 million (2024:
Nil) was non-interest bearing. The Group’s gearing
ratio increased to 0.11 (2024: decreased to 0.02),
which was calculated based on the total borrowings of
approximately HK$91 million (2024: HK$16 million) and
the equity attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately HK$825 million (2024: HK$933 million).

Cash, bank balances and deposits of the Group as at
31 March 2025 amounted to approximately HK$22
million (2024: HK$20 million), of which approximately
HK$10 million (2024: HK$6 million) was denominated
in Hong Kong dollar and approximately HK$12 million (2024:
HK$14 million) was denominated in Renminbi.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year, the Group has not conducted any
equity fund raising activities. As at 31 March 2025,
the total number of issued shares of the Company
was 1,040,946,114 shares with a par value of HK$0.1
each.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no expenditure
contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated
financial statements (2024: Nil).
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EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN
EXCHANGE RATE

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions are mainly denominated in Renminbi and
Hong Kong dollars. The Group is mainly exposed to
foreign exchange risk with respect to Renminbi which
may affect the Group’s performance. The Group
regularly reviews the balances of assets and liabilities
and the currencies in which the transactions are
denominated so as to minimise the Group’s exposure
to foreign currency risk. During the year, no financial
instruments had been used for hedging purpose and
no foreign currency net investments are hedged by
currency borrowings or other hedging instruments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no contingent
liabilities (2024: Nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group pledged certain
right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and financial assets measured
at FVOCI of the Group with an aggregate value of
approximately HK$53 million (2024: Nil) to secure
general credit facilities granted to the Group.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed a total of
68 (2024: 100) full-time employees, inclusive of the
directors of the Company. Remuneration packages
consisted of salary as well as performance-based
bonus.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report

VE S 35 B L B

AEBrEBREE RAEARRSGEE
AARBREETHE- AKEETER
BARBIIERR TARTERE
BexBR - AEEEHEHMEEMA
ENERARRZAENEE  UE
ERLAEE@EEBENIINERER - F
A RERELE R SR TR JREIN
BEHERREANGEERIEME P THE
TER ) o

HAREE

MR2025F3A31H  AEEIEAAE
& (2024 © 4&%) o

EERA

2025 3A31H  AEBEBLELNE
5,300& B L (2024 : ) 2 /5 T A #E
BE WX BRERE EFEER
BEAVTEEFAHEHMEZENRE 2R
BEEERR UEREBETAEEZ —

REERE -

BEHB RFMBUR

202538318 AEBA KEMAGS
#%(2024 :100%) 2R EE(BEAR
AER) FHEAHFEUARERIE
B 2 TEATFT4EAX ©



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
COMPLIANCE MATTERS

Environmental Policies and Performance

We aim to operate our business with good
environmental protection practices which comply with
applicable laws, regulations and standards and we
endeavour to:

v

Apply practices which minimise, lessen or
remediate the impact of our activities on the
environment including potential air and greenhouse
gas emissions, wastewater discharges, land
contamination as well as generation of wastes;

Use raw materials, energy and natural resources
as efficiently as possible and strive to improve that
efficiency; and

Adopt measures to mitigate the negative effects of
environmental incidents.

The aforesaid principles are enshrined in our
Environmental, Social and Governance Policy adopted
in June 2014. The Company is committed to managing
all business operations with sensitivity to environmental
protection. We will review our environmental protection
practices from time to time and will continue to apply
eco-friendly measures and practices in our operation.
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Relationships with Employees, Customers
and Suppliers and Other Stakeholders

The Company has committed to responsible practices
by adopting three guiding core values: Genuine,
Exceptional and Involved as expressed in our Code
of Conduct. Operating with integrity, being ethical
and treating others with respect; creating exceptional
experiences that delight our stakeholders; and
inclusive, open and actively engaging our stakeholders
and serving communities. In essence, we adhere to
integrity, respect, responsibility, competence and
safety in carrying out our business. The following
principles, which are enshrined in our Environmental,
Social and Governance Policy and Code of Conduct,
are being adopted:

Employees
v' Providing a healthy and safe working environment;

v/ Adopting and maintaining a positive safety culture
and behaviour;

v'Instituting occupational and community health/
hygiene programmes with an aim to eliminate
or mitigate safety, occupational and community
health and hygiene hazards;

v' Offering suitable training and development
opportunities;

v" Providing equal opportunity throughout the Group
and treating employees fairly; and

v Providing fair remuneration.

Customers and Suppliers

v' Providing efficient and courteous services with
good value of money to customers;

v Offering products and services with high standard

of safety, quality and reliability and accepting the
social responsibility for improvement;
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v" Promoting fair and open competition for
procurement procedures through providing an
environment of mutual trust and impartiality to
suppliers and contractors; and

v" Prohibiting bribery and corrupt practices and
promoting responsible and ethical business
practices.

Information about the major customers, the credit
terms of customers and the Group’s management on
new customers and credit monitoring were set out in
Notes 7, 27 and 37(b) to the consolidated financial
statements respectively in this annual report.

Community Involvement and Other Stakeholders

v' Building and maintaining good relationships
with the communities and other stakeholders
associated with our operations;

v" Working with local authorities, governments, inter-
governmental and non-governmental bodies and
other relevant stakeholders to develop projects
that benefit the communities connected to our
operations in a sustainable manner;

v" Minimising the negative impacts of our operations
on the communities where we operate;

v" Investing in charitable and educational

contribution;

v' Supporting the community as a whole, especially
those communities in which our offices are based;
and

v' Supporting and encouraging our employees for
their charitable and community involvements.

Further discussion on the Company’s environmental
policies and performance and the account of key
relationships of the Company with its stakeholders
are contained in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” (the “ESG Report”) from pages 75
to 109 of this annual report.
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XBER

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

The responsibilities of the corporate governance and
compliance committee include general oversight of the
Company’s compliance with the legal and regulatory
requirements of its business operations. Significant
non-compliance with laws and regulations, if any,
will be investigated by the corporate governance and
compliance committee and escalated to the board as
and when necessary. During the year under review, no
material non-compliance of the laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group was noted.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is affected by a number of risk factors,
some of which are likely to affect the performance of
businesses generally. Some risks are particular to the
Group’s operations.

As stated in the section “Risk Management
Framework” of the Corporate Governance Report, key
risks facing the Group have been identified, assessed
and prioritised according to the likelihood of their
occurrence and the significance of their impact on the
business of the Group. Moreover, risk management
measures are in place to manage the risks to an
acceptable level. A description of the principal risks
and uncertainties faced by the Group based on our
risks assessment outcome under “Strategic Risks”,
“Operational Risks” and “Financial Risks” was set out
in this section.
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XBEER

Risk change
during the
reporting
Risk categories Risk description period Key mitigating measures
BB A ¥R
[ B2 38 5l [ B 4 HANKE IEEHER
Strategic Risks
KR
Concentrated investment A significant part of the Group’s Remained » Establish mechanism
RESESEH operations is conducted in China. broadly the to assess and closely
Accordingly, business performance same monitor any changes in the
and future prospects of the XEIHFA political, social, economic
Group will be adversely affected or tax policies of the PRC
by unfavourable changes in the government. Relevant
political, social, economic or tax measures are also put in
policies of the PRC government place to deal with such
and may lead to losses to the changes.
Group. BB DART 4 R ) B
AEBERRE SO EBHHER BB AER &
B o EIt - AEBE KL FEMN OB B R e L
ARAI R BEE A P B BT W2 %EE T B B A
Boa (g ?&E&fﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ(ﬁ? JE ZE Bt -
MEREMXAINOEE -
mT%ﬁﬁ$%l§§ﬁ%o
Business strategy Business strategic planning is Remained » The Group focuses on its
Feg g important to the Group to achieve broadly the core business extension and
its core objectives. The objectives same development and conducts
of project companies may not be X EHH[F macro-research and study

in line with the Group.

KEFEWBAENERAEEER
HEZOLEZREFER-HAR
A BRI EAER T~ -

to reduce strategic risk.
Relevant measures are also
put in place to make sure
the objectives of project
companies to be in line with
the Group.
REBEEEZOEBLTME
MER FARZEFAM -
B K 5% B R B - 3l 5E AR
FTE M BIRIEE A A
BIREAREE -
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Risk categories

[ B 38 B

Risk description

[ B 4 it

Risk change

during the
reporting
period

BB R H &

Key mitigating measures

HANRE IEEBEER

Operational Risks
EERK

Environmental
RiE

As a substantial part of the
Group’s operations are conducted
in the PRC and are related to
ports and logistics business, we
are subject to various inspections,
examinations, inquiries and
audits by relevant PRC regulatory
authorities in accordance with
applicable PRC environmental,
health and safety (“EHS”) laws and
regulations, in which the outcomes
form part of the conditions for
obtaining, maintaining or renewing
various licenses, certificates and
permits required for conducting
our businesses. As the PRC EHS
laws and regulations continue to
evolve, such changes may bring
additional compliance challenges
and costs to the Group’s
businesses.
REBABSHEBHESTH
MpkBEORDRRS B
BEBHEEANRE #F
Mz 2([EHS)) EREREX
HETEEE®E DR A K
BB ERMES O HAE
ERER HMEXNEFTLER
P EBMTONSEER &
EMFAZEPHILD R -
BE 2t BIEHSE & 0% 7 &) T
BR ZEZEEARERLE
EREBTREBEIINAR LA
PRBL AN A o
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Remained
broadly the
same

REHER

»  The compliance team of the
Group has been working
closely with operation
units to assess the impact
of those promulgated
environmental, health and
safety laws and regulations.
REENARBEHKELE
RRAIBRTmAE FIHER
HERR BERR2ER
EROTE -

»  Policies to minimise the
environmental impacts
from operations have been
formulated and updated
regularly by reference to
the aforesaid laws and

regulations.

HIEMEBBRRAZER D

EEHRBEENNTEY

BRI FOERIERETE

HA S8 3 o

For more discussion, please see
the “ESG Report” from pages 75
to 109 of this annual report.
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Risk categories

[ B 38 B

Risk description

[ B 4 it

Risk change
during the
reporting
period

[ B R ¥R
MAme
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XBEER

Key mitigating measures

TEEBER

Rules and regulations

EREFER

Changing rules and regulations
may adversely affect the Group’s
capacity to consummate important
transactions, enforce contractual
agreements or implement specific
strategies and activities.
TR ERIAER TS
HAEBRTKEER S W17
& [ 1 &% 3 B b 55 & B AR
BHEENEETNEE -

Remained
broadly the
same

REHER

Monitor changes to rules
and regulations and evaluate
their impacts to the Group.
ERABRNERN (T
AEEHARNEENTE -

Establish policies and
procedures to manage
those rules and regulations
that will have impact to the
Group.

il 7E BEE M AZ 7 oK B IR G
HAEEELEXENER
AR °

Monitor the Group’s
compliance with rules
and regulations that have
significant impact to the
Group.
EREASEETHASHE
BEAZENERNER
B
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Risk change
during the
reporting
Risk categories Risk description period Key mitigating measures
[ B A R 5
= B 38 1 [ B 4 4 HANKE IEEHER
Financial Risks
B 7% B B
Financial markets Financial assets held by the Remained »  Monitor changes in prices of
A5 Group are subject to movements broadly the listed securities and evaluate
in prices, rates, indices, etc., same their impacts on the Group.

which have affected the value of A Z4H[A

the Group’s financial assets and
have led to fair value losses to the
Group.

rEBERBENEGREERE
BoNE EHREEHNHTE
THEREEeREENE
B BRAEELERAFEE
1|x o

Certain financial risks and uncertainties are also set
out in Notes 4, 5 and 37 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

* For identification purpose only

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report

ERLTESFERESY
AEEHASENTE -

»  Engage experts in providing
professional advices on
securities investments of the

Group.
EFERBRAERIFSFKR
BERHTEXER -

»  Perform regular valuations
for all major financial assets
of the Group and evaluate
their impacts on the Group.
THUEAXEERMBEEXESD
MEEETHRE  FEHH
HEAEBNRE -

For more discussion, please
see Notes 37(b) and 37(c) to the
consolidated financial statements”
in this annual report.
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PROFILE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS*

MR KWONG KAI SING, BENNY
B RR AR B &
Executive Director, Chairman and Managing Director

HMITEF FTEREH

Mr Kwong Kai Sing, Benny, aged 66, was appointed
as a non-executive director of the Company on 9
February 2021 and was then appointed as the non-
executive chairman of the Company on 1 April 2021.
Subsequently, he was redesignated as an executive
director on 8 November 2021 and has concurrently
been the executive chairman since then. He was then
appointed as the managing director of the Company
on 1 July 2023 and remains as the executive chairman
at the same time. He is also a director of various
members of the group. Mr Kwong holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Arts from Simon Fraser University in British
Columbia, Canada. He held senior positions with major
international banks in Hong Kong in respective lending
departments and China department and has served
as executive director of various listed companies in
Hong Kong. Mr Kwong has extensive experience and
knowledge in banking and financial services industry.

Mr Kwong was an appointed member of the China
People’s Political Consultative Conference of the
Hubei Province and Zhaoging City of the Guangdong
Province. He is the Audit Committee member of
Tung Wah College since 2013 and was the Hospital
Governing Committee member of Tai Po Hospital
from April 2012 to March 2021. His interest in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company, which
was disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, was set out in the directors’ report.

The executive directors are regarded as members of the Group’s senior
management

EEREN
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PROFILE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EEREN

MR AU WAI JUNE
MEREE

Executive Director

HITEF

Mr Au Wai June, aged 61, was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 18 January
2021. He is also a member of the Company’s
remuneration committee, nomination committee,
corporate governance and compliance committee and
share repurchase committee and is a director of various
members of the group. He graduated from University
of Windsor, Canada with a Bachelor of Arts degree. Mr
Au was the managing director of a telecommunication
equipment manufacturing and trading company with
more than 16 years of experience and extensive
knowledge in product development, purchasing,
production, business administration and merchandising
of both the People’s Republic of China and overseas
market.
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MR YU CHUNG LEUNG
RMREE

Independent Non-Executive Director

BUIFNTTEF

Mr Yu Chung Leung, aged 54, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on
1 August 2022. He is also a member of the Company’s
remuneration committee, nomination committee and
corporate governance and compliance committee and
the chairman of the Company’s audit committee. Mr
Yu has over 29 years of experience in auditing and
accounting. He holds a Master of Arts in international
accounting from City University of Hong Kong. Mr
Yu is a member and an authorised supervisor of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, a chartered tax adviser of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a practising
certified public accountant in Hong Kong. He is also a
member of the Process Review Panel for the Financial
Reporting Council and an appointed member of the
7th term Yuen Long District Council. Mr Yu is a partner
of Lee & Yu Certified Public Accountants. He was
awarded the Chief Executive’s Commendation for
Community Service in 2022.

He was an independent non-executive director of
Narnia (Hong Kong) Group Company Limited, a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability whose shares are listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock
code: 8607), from 29 January 2019 to 1 April 2025,
an independent non-executive director of Oshidori
International Holdings Limited, a company incorporated
in Bermuda with limited liability whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 622) which is a substantial
shareholder of the Company, since July 2022 and
an independent non-executive director of Envision
Greenwise Holdings Limited, a company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 1783),
since December 2023. Mr. Yu is also a director of
Esprit Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in
Bermuda with limited liability, whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 330) since January 2025.
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PROFILE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EEREN

MR LAM JOHN CHEUNG-WAH
EEER4E
Independent Non-Executive Director

BUIFNTTEF

Mr Lam John Cheung-wah, aged 70, was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 1 August 2022. He is also a member
of the Company’s audit committee and corporate
governance and compliance committee and the
chairmen of the Company’s remuneration committee
and nomination committee. Mr Lam has substantial
experience in the banking industry. From 1991 to
2005, he held various senior positions at Hongkong
Bank of Canada (currently known as HSBC Bank
Canada), HSBC California and Hang Seng Bank
Limited. He subsequently worked at Dah Sing Bank,
Limited from September 2005 to February 2012 with
his last position as an executive director, head of retail
banking. After that, Mr Lam acted as the vice chairman
and an executive director of Nan Fung Property
Holdings Limited in China Property Division between
February 2013 and December 2021, and he has
served as their consultant since January 2022.

He graduated from Ryerson Polytechnical Institute
(currently known as Toronto Metropolitan University)
in Toronto, Canada in June 1988 where he received
his bachelor of business management degree. He is
a fellow of The Institute of Canadian Bankers and a
fellow of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.
He was a member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference Guangzhou Committee.

Mr Lam was an independent non-executive director
of USPACE Technology Group Limited, a company
incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code:
1725), from 1 October 2021 to 5 July 2022 and an
independent non-executive director of C&D Newin
Paper & Pulp Corporation Limited (formerly known
as Samson Paper Holdings Limited), a company
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 731),
from 20 May 2022 to 31 October 2024.
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Mr. Lam is also an independent non-executive director
of Wing Lee Property Investments Limited, a company
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 864),
since February 2013, an independent non-executive
director of Oshidori International Holdings Limited,
a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability whose shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock
code: 622) which is a substantial shareholder of the
Company, since August 2022 and an independent
non-executive director of Envision Greenwise Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Golden Ponder Holdings
Limited), a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (stock code: 1783), since June 2023. He has
also been a non-executive director of Lincoln Minerals
Limited, a company incorporated in Australia with
limited liability whose shares are listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange (ASX: LML), since September
2023.
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PROFILE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EEREN

MS. LIU JIANYI
g fe et

Independent Non-Executive Director

BUIFNTTEF

Ms. Liu Jianyi, aged 39, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on
27 December 2024 and was subsequently appointed
as the chairmen of the Corporate Governance and
Compliance Committee and the Share Repurchase
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 17 January 2025.

Ms. Liu holds a master degree of business
administration in Cornell University in 2014 and
a bachelor degree of engineering in The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 2010. Ms. Liu is currently
working as a director of a corporate financial services
institution and has extensive management experience
in corporate finance and equity funds. Ms. Liu is
an independent non-executive director of Imagi
International Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 585) since May
2017.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Blue River Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) strives to attain
and uphold high standard of corporate governance
and maintain well-established corporate governance
practices for the benefit of shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) and other stakeholders.

To demonstrate the Company’s continued commitment
to high standards of corporate governance, the board
of directors of the Company (the “Board”) adopted a
Board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) in
June 2013, a summary of which is set out at pages 42
and 43 of this annual report.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
After having made specific enquiries, all directors of
the Company (the “Directors”) have confirmed their
compliance with the required standard set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 March 2025 (the
“Reporting Period”).

The Company has also established written guidelines
no less exacting than the Model Code (the “Model
Code for Employees”) for securities transactions
by employees who are likely to be in possession
of unpublished inside information of the Company.
No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code
for Employees by the employees was noted by the
Company during the Reporting Period.

Since the launch of the code of conduct of the Company (the
“Code of Conduct”) in October 2009, all Directors,
senior management and staff of the Company have
been under specific obligations to comply with the
ethics and principles under which our business is
conducted and have been allowed to report actual or
potential violations of the Code of Conduct through
specified procedure. Non-compliance with the Code
of Conduct will result in disciplinary action. During
the Reporting Period, we are not aware of any non-
compliance with the Code of Conduct.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE 1

The structure below shows the key parties involved in
our corporate governance practices and policies within
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BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES

Board Composition

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A
of the Listing Rules, there were five Directors in our
Board consisting of two executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors as at the date
of the directors’ report. Mr Yu Chung Leung (“Mr
Yu”), being the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company (the “Audit Committee”), is an independent
non-executive Director with the appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under
the Listing Rules. The Board comprises not less than
one-third of the independent non-executive Directors
members and demonstrates a strong independent
element that enhances independent judgement.

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to
the date of the directors’ report were:

Executive Directors
e  Mr Kwong Kai Sing, Benny (“Mr Kwong”)
(chairman and managing Director)

e MrAu WaiJune (“Mr Au”)

Independent non-executive Directors
e Mr William Nicholas Giles (“Mr Giles”)
(resigned with effect from 17 January 2025)

e MrYu
e Mr Lam John Cheung-wah (“Mr Lam”)
e Ms. Liu Jianyi (“Ms. Liu”)
(appointed with effect from 27 December 2024)

Details of the changes in Board and Board committee
composition with effect from 27 December 2024
and 17 January 2025 respectively were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 27 December
2024 and 17 January 2025.
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Save and except Mr Kwong was both the Chairman
and the managing director of the Company (the “Managing
Director”, equivalent to the chief executive officer of
the Company (the “CE”) since 1 July 2023, there is
no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship) among members
of the Board, particularly between the chairman of the
Company (the “Chairman”) and the managing director
of the Company (equivalent to the CE).

Brief biographical details of each Director (including his
age, gender, professional qualification and experience)
are set out on pages 29 to 34 of this annual report and
are also available on the Company’s website (www.
blueriverholdings.com.hk).

The Company has also maintained on its website and
website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) an updated list of its Directors
identifying their roles and functions and whether they
are independent non-executive Directors. Independent
non-executive Directors are also identified as such in all
corporate communications that disclose the names of
Directors.

Each independent non-executive Director shall inform
the Company and the Stock Exchange as soon as
practicable if there is any subsequent change of
circumstances which may affect his independence.
The Company has received a written confirmation on
independence from each of the independent non-
executive Directors. The Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent
in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in the Listing Rules.

All Board members have complied with the requirement
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance regarding
disclosure of their respective interests in the Company
and its associated corporations, if any, during the
Reporting Period. Interests and short positions of the
Directors in shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations are
disclosed in the directors’ report on pages 119 and
120 of this annual report.
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Board’s Role and Delegation

The primary role of the Board is to maximise long-
term Shareholder value. It assumes the responsibility
for providing effective and responsible leadership and
control of the Company and directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs in pursuit of the Group’s
strategic objectives.

The Board, led by our Chairman, Mr Kwong, who
approves and monitors group-wide strategies and
policies, evaluates the performance of the Group and
supervises the management.

The Board delegated its former Managing Director,
Mr Marc Andreas Tschirner (the “Former Managing
Director”) at the material time, the day-to-day
leadership and management of the Group. The senior
management of the Group, on the other hand, was
responsible for the management and administrative
functions and the day-to-day operations of the Group
under the supervision of the Former Managing Director.

Following the resignation of the Former Managing
Director, Mr Kwong, who is currently the Chairman and
an executive Director, was appointed as the Managing
Director concurrently with effect from 1 July 2023.
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Pursuant to the Code Provision C.2.1 in Part 2 of the
Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 of
the Listing Rules (the “Corporate Governance Code”)
stipulates that the roles of chairman and the CE should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Following the resignation of the Former
Managing Director (which is equivalent to the CE) with
effect from 1 July 2023, Mr Kwong was appointed
as the Managing Director and has been performing
the roles of the Chairman and Managing Director with
effect from 1 July 2023. Mr Kwong assumes both
roles of the Chairman and the Managing Director and
is responsible for overseeing the management and
operations of the Group. The senior management
of the Group continues to be responsible for the
management and administrative functions and day-
to-day operations of the Group under the supervision
of the Managing Director, who is concurrently the
Chairman. Despite the deviation from the Code
Provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code,
Mr Kwong continues to provide solid and continuous
leadership to the Group with his extensive experience
and knowledge in management and maintain the
continuity and efficiency in the management and
operation of business of the Group. Moreover, under
the supervision of the other existing members of
the Board, including the independent non-executive
Directors, the Board is appropriately structured with
balance of power comprising experienced and high
caliber individuals with not less than half of the number
thereof being independent non-executive Directors to
provide sufficient oversight to protect the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders.

The corporate governance structure of the Company
as disclosed in this annual report at page 36 shows the
detailed relationship between the Board, the Managing
Director and the senior management as well as other
stakeholders.
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Below was a summary of specific matters which are
reserved for the Board:
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SUMMARY OF SPECIFIC MATTERS RESERVED FOR THE BOARD

EEREEEBNRE

Financial reporting and control

PR E M Ea

Equity fund raising
BARERE

Recommendation/declaration of dividend or other distributions

frEREMDIRNEZE Tk

Notifiable and connected transactions under the Listing Rules and inside information under the

Securities and Futures Ordinance
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Capital reorganisation or other significant Changes in the capital structure of the Group

BEARBHIAEEEREBNEME RN E
To facilitate effective oversight and decision making by
the Board, the Company has established a mechanism
to ensure independent views and input are available
to the Board. The Board comprises more than one-
third of independent non-executive Directors. They
have full and timely access to the Group’s information,
and are entitled to seek advice from the independent
professional advisers at the Company’s expenses in
appropriate circumstances. These independent non-
executive Directors provide a balance in the Board,
bring in view and opinion to the executive Directors and
the management, and oversee the Group’s operation
and corporate action. The Board will review the
implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism
annually.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had reviewed
and considered the implementation of the mechanism
was effective.
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Board’s Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Board acknowledged its responsibility for
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Group and for ensuring that the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group was in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
standards.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company
concerning its reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group was set
out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 131
to 138 of this annual report.

Board Diversity Policy

As mentioned above, a Board Diversity Policy setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board was
adopted in June 2013. Pursuant to the policy:

(@ the Company recognises and embraces the
benefits of having a diverse Board, and sees
diversity at Board level as an essential element
in achieving a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company;

(b) the nomination committee of the Company
(the “Nomination Committee”) is primarily
responsible for reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board, identifying and selecting
suitable individuals to the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on any proposed
changes to the Board; and

(c) selection of candidates for directorship with
the Company will be based on diversity of
perspectives which can be achieved through
consideration of a number of factors including
without limitation gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional
and industrial experience, skills, knowledge and
independence (if applicable).
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Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy, the
Nomination Committee and the Board recognise
the importance and benefits of gender diversity at
the Board level and the Company is committed to
improving gender diversity as and when suitable
candidates are identified. Ms. Liu was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 27
December 2024 in compliance of Rule 13.92 of the
Listing Rules. In order to maintain gender diversity,
similar considerations will be taken when recruiting and
selecting senior staff and other employees. During the
Reporting Period, the Company maintained a balance
of gender ratio in the workplace, details of which were
set out in the environmental, social and governance
report on pages 107 to 109 of this annual report.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the
implementation of the policy and review the policy,
where necessary, to ensure its continued effectiveness.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”), setting out the principles, which
guides the Nomination Committee to identify and
evaluate a candidate for nomination to the Board for
his/her appointment and for Shareholders in respect of
his/her election as a Director.

Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, the factors listed
below will be considered in assessing the suitability of
a proposed candidate:

(@) qualifications, professional experience, skills and
knowledge which are relevant to the businesses of
the Group;

(b) commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest;

(c) regulatory requirements for appointment of
independent non-executive Directors and the
independence criteria set out in Chapter 3 of the
Listing Rules; and

(d) diversity perspectives set out in the Board
Diversity Policy.
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The above factors are for reference only and are not
meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to take into account
additional factors as it considers appropriate.

For filing a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
existing Board, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration
and approval. For proposing candidates to stand
for election at a general meeting, the Nomination
Committee shall propose nominations to the Board for
its consideration.

On making recommendation, the Nomination
Committee may submit to the Board for consideration
a proposal comprising, inter alia, the personal profile
of the proposed candidate with the candidate’s
information required to be disclosed under Rule
13.51 of the Listing Rules. In case of a proposed
appointment of an independent non-executive Director,
the candidate will also be assessed in accordance with
the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

A circular containing information of the candidates
nominated by the Board to stand for election at a
general meeting (including names, biographic with
qualifications and relevant experiences, independence
and other relevant information) as required pursuant
to the Listing Rules, the bye-laws of the Company
(the “Bye-laws”) and other applicable laws, rules and
regulations will be sent to the Shareholders.

The Board shall be vested with power to make the final
decision on all matters relating to the recommendation
of candidates for appointment as well as for standing
for election at a general meeting as a Director.
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Board Meetings and Process

During the Reporting Period, 9 Board meetings were
held and the overall attendance of Board and Board
committee meetings were set out in the section
“Attendance Record of Meetings held during the
Reporting Period”.

The Board meets at least 4 times a year to review
financial performance, strategy and operations. Notice
of not less than 14 days (or such other reasonable
period) will be given for each meeting and agenda
and board papers will be given 3 days (or such other
reasonable period) prior to the meeting.

Senior management and professional advisers are
invited to attend Board meetings to brief the Board on
issues considered by the Board where appropriate.
In the event where independent professional advice
is required, the request for seeking such advice was
abided by pre-approved procedures.

The minutes for the Board and Board committees
meetings, which are recorded in sufficient detail, are
circulated to all Directors within a reasonable time
period after meetings for their comments and are kept
in the minute book for inspection by Directors.

Also, each Director is required to make disclosure of
his interests or potential conflict of interests, if any, in
any proposed transactions or issues discussed by the
Directors at Board meetings. Directors shall not vote on
any resolution of the Board approving any contract or
arrangement or any other proposal in which he or any
of his close associates is materially interested nor shall
he be counted in the quorum present at the meeting.
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Board Tenure

As stipulated by the Bye-laws, all Directors (including
non-executive Directors) are required to retire by
rotation at least once every three years and seek for
re-election at annual general meeting. At each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being shall retire from office. Any new Directors
appointed either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board during the Reporting Period
by the Board following the recommendation of the
Nomination Committee are subject to re-election by
Shareholders at the next following annual general
meeting after their appointment.

All Directors, who had entered into letters of
appointment with the Company for a term of three
years, are subject to retirement from office by rotation
and re-election at annual general meeting.

The relevant retiring Directors, being eligible, have
sought for re-election pursuant to the Bye-laws. Their
respective biographies are set out in a circular, which
shall be despatched to Shareholders around 29 July
2025 to assist Shareholders in making an informed
decision on their re-elections.

Directors’ Commitments

All Directors are committed to devoting sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Group. They
have disclosed to the Company the identity of public
companies or organisations in which they have held
offices, and the number and nature of the offices,
as well as other significant commitments and are
required to notify the Company of any changes of
such information in a timely manner. Directors are also
required to confirm details of biographies and their time
commitments to the affairs of the Company as well
as the time committed to other public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments on an
annual basis.
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Training and Professional Development

For all newly appointed Directors, a comprehensive
and tailored induction was administered to ensure full
awareness of Director’'s duties and responsibilities
under statute and common law, the Code of Conduct,
the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements and
the business and governance policies of the Group.

The Company recognises the importance of continuing
professional training for the Directors and management
and believes that it is effective to enhance corporate
governance through regular training within the Group.
Directors are encouraged to keep up to date on all
matters relevant to the Group and attend suitable
briefings and seminars that provide updates on the
governing laws and regulations of the jurisdictions
where the Company operates businesses and
applicable guidelines and rules issued by regulatory
authorities organised by professional bodies from time
to time.

All Directors and senior management are required to
provide the Company with their training records on
an annual basis, and such records are maintained
by the company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) for regular review by the
corporate governance and compliance committee
of the Company (the “Corporate Governance and
Compliance Committee”). The Company Secretary
had also completed the required relevant professional
training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. The training records of the Directors and senior
management for this Reporting Period were reviewed
by the Corporate Governance and Compliance
Committee in June 2025.
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TEERERRE

According to the records, the Directors received
the following training with an emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of a director of a listed company
in compliance with the Code Provision C.1.4 in Part 2
of the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period:

Directors

BzE

RECLE EERNHEHERI T A
ZELTRAEFAC BERET
ZEEF - AT AL TR B M 8C1 AT
H(EEXERTADE —&H o278l
R ECAAIGRZIRTE -

Type of Training
1% 5 5 Bl

Attending internal
and external
seminars or
conferences or
reading materials
i E R 3B R S AR
MEEXERD
B &M E

Executive Directors
BITES

Mr Kwong B 5t 4
Mr Au 7] 5 &

Independent Non-Executive Directors
BYFHTES

Mr Giles Giles %t 4

(resigned with effect from 17 January 2025)
(620251717 HEFH )

Mr Yu 7R 5t &

Mr Lam & 7/t 4

Ms Liu 8 Z £

(appointed with effect from 27 December 2024)
(B20244F 12 A27 H # EZ T)
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Board Committees

Constantly striving to achieve greater transparency
and accountability to the Shareholders, the Board
has established five Board committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the remuneration committee of
the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”), the
Nomination Committee, the Corporate Governance
and Compliance Committee, and the share repurchase
committee of the Company (the “Share Repurchase
Committee”); each having specific roles, authority and
functions as detailed in the respective written terms
of reference which are accessible on the Company’s
website (Www.blueriverholdings.com.hk). At least half
of members of all Board committees are independent
non-executive Directors.

The Board may also establish working committees
(including independent board committee) on an ad hoc
basis to approve projects as it deems necessary.

All Board committees have adopted, to a large extent,
the same principles, procedures, and arrangements
as those of the Board and are provided with sufficient
resources to perform their duties. The Board
committees will make recommendations to the Board
on a regular basis unless there are legal or regulatory
restrictions on their ability to do so.
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LEEARE

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF MEETINGS HELD DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD
REBEEHRETHEE 2 HETE

BOARD COMMITTEES
EEREEE
Corporate
Governance
and Share

Board Audit Remuneration  Nomination Compliance Repurchase Shareholders

EER B B0 RA CEERRER ROBE MR
Number of meetings held during
the Reporting Period
REEHRETERRY 9 3 3 3 2 0 2
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr Kwong B8 %& & 9/9 - - - - - 2/2
Mr Au 17 %5 & 9/9 - 3/3 3/3 2/2 0/0 2/2
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUYHTES
Mr Giles Giles %t 4
(resigned with effect from 17 January 2025)
(B20254 1A 17 A& (E) 9/9 3/3 3/3 3/3 2/2 0/0 2/2
Mr Yu 7R %6 4 9/9 3/3 3/3 3/3 2/2 - 2/2
Mr Lam B %5 4 9/9 3/3 3/3 3/3 2/2 — 2/2
Ms. Liu 2] & +
(appointed with effect from 27 December 2024)
(B 2024 12 527 H ## Z (T) 1/1 0/0 1/1 1/1 0/0 - 1/1
Company Secretary
DEME
Ms Ho Sze Nga, Maggie i % ¥ %2 9/9 3/3 3/3 3/3 2/2 0/0 2/2

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEREBRE

The composition of the Board committees, their A T %l & &R /T\ E’\ wE W EERZ

respective roles and functions and a summary and/ E@M4EK - EAEEEBE
or report of the works performed by them during the B K5 $hjz%: 5

= ‘m]n

Reporting Period was shown in the table below:

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

FHESS

Composition

N

Mr Au 77 % H

(executive Director)

(HITEE)

Mr Giles Giles % 4

(independent non-executive Director, resigned with effect from 17 January 2025)

(B IHTEE  H2025F1 17 HEEHT)

Mr Yu 7 58 4
(independent non-executive Director)

(BLIFHTEE)

Mr Lam % 4 (chairman) (3 /&)
(independent non-executive Director)

(BHHTEE)

Ms. Liu 2% +

(independent non-executive Director)

(B IHNTEE)

(appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 27 December 2024 and as a member of

Remuneration Committee with effect from 17 January 2025)
(B2024F 12 27T A EZ L RB U FRTEFERF2025F 1 FITAEEZERFHESEME)

Role & Function*

AGEREE

Reviews the remuneration policy of the Company

ENENNETE B TNE S

Makes recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of formal and transparent procedures for developing remuneration policy

R EESHSREEENTHBERER URAFEZEFHEER YT —ALRAMAESHENET RAE
=RELER

Determines or makes recommendations to the Board on the specific remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment
ARERMEZREZENNTEFRAATEENETHMNGSE 2EEDI R RREBEIRBESH(BE
BHREARKIEEBRBREEMENOERGEES)

Makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of Directors

MEERHEREFHH

Reviews and/or approves matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules

EHR/SHACETRADETLERTERROAZINER

*  Please refer to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee on the Company’s website (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) for further details.

Y BRE—FHFE

& B B _F R 2 7] 4904 (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) Z 3 Bl Z 8 & Bt 1 #6 [ »
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TEERRE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

FHEEE (R)

Summary of Work Reviewed the remuneration of Directors and senior management and made recommendations to the Board for
Performed Shareholders’ approval at 2024 annual general meeting (“AGM”)

THERBE BENEERSAEEENES YREFRHRLEZ  UHBRERE2024FERAFA G ((RFBFREG]) LA

Reviewed staff remuneration (including salaries and other benefits (inclusive of bonus) and retirement benefit scheme
contributions) for the Reporting Period and made recommendations to the Board accordingly

BB TRRERANMES (BEH MR EAERN (BEEA) R BHGFEHR)  UhtRmEERIELES
Reviewed the status by the share scheme(s) of the Company annually

BERN AR ARG E KRR

Reviewed the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee

EHFHEESRESRE

Reviewed and recommended the remuneration package adjustments of Mr Kwong and Mr. Au to the Board for approval

B REREFRAEBEERMEETMEFE 2 HE

Reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval in respect of the remuneration package of Ms. Liu for her
appointment as an independent non-executive Director and, subsequently after the resignation of Mr. Giles, as chairmen
of the corporate governance and compliance committee of the Company and the share repurchase committee of the
Company, a member of the audit committee of the Company and the nomination committee of the Company as nominated
by the nomination committee

B N EREERYMER LRI R EERBILFNATESTRNCGles TEBTREZERRRAGEERRERE
BEERARAROEBEZESER ARAEREZEGRARAIREEZEGHRE (KIZEEEZESRA) WG

8

Performance-based Remuneration Policy

Director’s remuneration is determined with reference
to factors including prevailing market conditions,
salaries paid by comparable companies, duties and
responsibilities of a Director, employment conditions
elsewhere in the group and time committed by the
Director concerned.

The Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration of the Directors and senior management;
and made recommendations to the Board.

A performance-based element was considered
instrumental in aligning the interests of individuals
with those of the Group and has been built into
management compensation.

The Group has adopted its own remuneration policy
to support the Company’s strategy. The Company
is committed to providing fair and competitive staff
compensation that will attract, motivate, retain and
reward employees at all levels.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEREBRE

The Company had effectively deployed an appropriate 7N A &) i@ & K& A & 8 8 £ I8 B LA
mix of its existing equity-based reward vehicles, 1 AEBEEES - KD HE
including the share incentive scheme(s), as well as T2/ AKIBEIEA -

cash bonus.

Details of remuneration of Directors and senior EENMEREEEBHFMAFIBIHNE
management are set out in Note 12 of the consolidated ~ £20259F3A31H IF FE M4 &

Bt 75

financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 — Rk ([BF 3w K ) Mz 12 »
(the “Financial Statement”).

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

REEES

Composition

Mr Au 77 %2 4

(executive Director) (177 & %)

Mr Giles Giles 4t 4

(independent non-executive Director) (38 17 FE #1717 & %)

(resigned with effect 17 January 2025)

(B 202591 /17 A FH )

Mr Yu 5 £ &

Mr Lam & % & (chairman) (£ &)

Ms. Liu 2%+

(independent non-executive Director) (38 17 FE# 77 & %)

(appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 27 December 2024 and as a member of Nomination
Committee with effect from 17 January 2025)

(B2024F 12 27T A EZHE R B U R ITEFERE2025F 1 FITAEEZERIESESEEME)

Role & Function*

AGERE"

Reviews the structure, size and diversity (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional and industrial experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board at least annually and makes
recommendations to the Board on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy
ZLEFRIAEERNHERE ABRZTHL(BEETRNMER  Fi  XEREEFER Bk ZERTESE
B2 K8 KR HEKRBES)  UREAEEZDNESRRHEZUARE AR AN ERK

Identifies individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and selects, or makes recommendations to the Board on
the selection of, individuals nominated for directorship

MERERNEGBEABEIESERINE kEIANESFRRERZFHATLEES

Assesses the independence of independent non-executive Directors

ARBILFRITEENBE LI

Makes recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular, the Chairman and the Managing Director

REFZAESENZE ULBSF(LERTIREANECHEEFEERNESRIELER

Develops, reviews and recommends to the Board for adoption of measurable objectives for achieving and improving
diversity on the Board

REBRAZEE/MEZ L HF] BRIAREBITEEEETEFRRMY

Develops and reviews the policy, criteria and procedures for identification, selection and nomination of candidates for
appointment as Directors

FIET R mE ZERREBGEEANHETAES CBR  BRAIRER

Monitors the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy (a summary of which was set out on pages 42 and 43)
ERBFFERANEZ LB (ERMERINE42R43E) ATER

Monitors the implementation of the Nomination Policy (a summary of which was set out on pages 43 and 44)
ERIERBER (ABEHINEAB R4 E) HATIER

Review the disclosures in relation to the Board Diversity Policy, Nomination Policy and other information incidental thereto as
set out in the corporate governance report

BHACEXEAMENAEBEERXNEZ LERER REBEKLEMERERNEE

* Please refer to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee on the Company’s website (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) for further details.
“ BRIE G EBE E R A4 U (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) 2 125 Z B @ B {E E [E -
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LEEARE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

REZE8E ()

Summary of Work Nominated the retiring Directors for re-election by Shareholders at 2024 AGM

Performed RERTEFE204FRRBFARG FHRREEEE

ITHERBE Reviewed and assessed individual independent non-executive Director’s annual confirmation of independence declared

pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules

EHRAZERNBILIENTEFRR(ETRAUDESIBEMRB 2 FEBLIEER N

Reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board from time to time

TR ERDORE - ABRAX

Reviewed and recommended the Board Diversity Policy for the approval by the Board

B REZEERPLEESTRINE S TILER

Considered and recommended the gender diversity to be achieved in the Board

ERREENREZREBMAZ T

Discussed the gender ratio in the workforce and considered the challenges in achieving gender diversity across the
workforce

AmBE 2 RIS WERSE NP BRI RZ T TGP E

Discussed and considered the recommended disclosure in 2024 corporate governance report regarding the Board Diversity
Policy and the Nomination Policy and recommended them to the Board for approval

A kERBBHE2024FEZ(EEERBE)PHHEMEETRKEZ TERRERELCRRNREREANR I
BEBERTUAILE

Reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval in respect of the appointment of Ms. Liu as an independent non-
executive Director for compliance of board diversity requirement as set out in Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules
BRAREZEERUAEZEI LT EEBUFNTES  UFE EMBRAEBREMEANEETRLNEZ TE
RIE

Reviewed and received the resignation of Mr. Giles as an independent non-executive Director, the chairmen of the corporate
governance and compliance committee of the Company and the share repurchase committee of the Company, a member
of the audit committee of the Company and the nomination committee of the Company and, subsequent to the resignation
of Mr. Giles, reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of Ms. Liu’s appointment as the chairmen of the
corporate governance and compliance committee of the Company and the share repurchase committee of the Company, a
member of the audit committee of the Company and the nomination committee of the Company

WA REEGles T EHEBLHNTES ARAACEERRERZEGREARTARNOBEZEESER AR
AIEZEZEGRARAREEZEGKE  WNGlesE EB TR R NBEZEFTRU AN L L EZEAARRA
TEEARERZEGRARABRMOBEZEESER ARFAERZEGRARIREEZEENE

NOMINATION PROCEDURES, PROCESS REERF BREUKZES

AND CRITERIA

Nomination Committee
makes recommendations
to the Board on any
proposed changes

REZB G EMEIF
BHNEERREHESR

Nomination Committee
identifies individuals
suitably qualified to
become Directors

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report

Nomination Committee
selects or makes
recommendations to the
Board on the selection
of persons nominated for
directorships

REZBESHkBEAME
ERREESNESH
BRZANTHEES

The Board makes formal
invitation to selected
persons for appointment to
the Board

EERMEKEALE
[ B @ ) X
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LEEARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE
TEEARERESS

Composition

N

Mr Au 17 55 4

(executive Director) (#177 % %)

Mr Giles Giles 4t 4

(independent non-executive Director, resigned with effect from 17 January 2025)

(B IHNTEF - F202541H17 A #EFFF)

Mr Yu 7 55 4

(independent non-executive Director) (¥ 17 FF %177 & %)

Mr Lam 5 5t 4

(independent non-executive Director) (% i/ 3£ %77 & &)

Ms. Liu % +

(independent non-executive Director) (Chairman)

(BIINTEE) (FE)

(appointed as an independent non-executive director with effect from 27 December 2024 and Chairman of corporate
governance and compliance committee with effect from 17 January 2025)

(B2024F 1227 A EZ(F BB L IHFHITEEREL2025F1A17THEEZFBLEERRIMEESEF)
Ms Ho Sze Nga, Maggie 1] &% # 22 &

(company secretary) (2 5] # &)

Role & Function*

AeEBE

Develops and reviews the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and makes recommendations to the
Board

BlIERBATAAFANEEEABRREE THESFHRLESR

Reviews and monitors the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management
BRAREREEHGRERENFIIRSESEER

Reviews and monitors the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and
meets with the management of the Company to assess the Company’s compliance policies, programs and procedures
BAREEARAEETEELEERTTANRERSR THARANEEREETE R  UTEARAH
AREE - HRERRER

Develops, reviews, monitors and approves any code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of
the Company and Directors

BIE A ERREHEARAAFEEREFHEATRLEIRERAFM(WE)

Investigates or causes to be investigated any significant instances of non-compliance or potential compliance violations that
are reported to the Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee
AERZHACRACEERARERZESTRRNEMNERERNEEERBER

Reviews the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code as contained in the Listing Rules and disclosure
in the corporate governance report

B ARAEBF(ETRIDAZ(EEERTFADNBARERCEEERBRS) AN KE

Reviews the Company’s compliance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as contained in the
Listing Rules and disclosure in the environmental, social and governance report

B ARRAREFCETRADAZCRIR L ERERAREEDNBERREBHNHNCRIE L EREBRE)NNEE

*  Please refer to the terms of reference of the Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee on the Company’s website (www.
blueriverholdings.com.hk) for further details.
“ BEE KT ERE LR KL A4 i (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) Z (R E EE RIEEZ E S B iEEE -
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PANETOR-
1E "é,ﬁﬁﬁ%

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

TEERREREZEES (H)

Summary of Work Reviewed the corporate governance report for the Reporting Period

Performed ENRMEM (R EE RS

THERE Reviewed the updated compliance reports of the Company and its major subsidiaries and other relevant updates and the

Company’s compliance and corporate governance practices for the relevant period
HUARARAETENBATRNHEREN SIS R BERHLMEEERN  URARFANEBEREEELER
Reviewed the recommendation of the relevant disclosure in the directors’ report, if any
EHRNEZRBEEANMIFHEBRE 2= (5H)

Reviewed the confirmation of Directors’ and senior management’s participation in training for the purpose of continuous
professional development during the Reporting Period in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
ENEEERSAERERRSHNRBICEEATIDZAELRUBESEFRABENZBIIRARRS
Reviewed the terms of reference of the Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee
ERCEEAREREESRESRE

Reviewed and recommended the policy on disclosure and public relations for approval by the Board
BALEZEEERAERE R ALBEERBE

Reviewed the environmental, social and governance report for the Reporting Period

EHRMER R  HEREBRS)

Reviewed and recommended the code of conduct for approval by the Board

B kEREERMLETRTE

Reviewed the shareholders communication policy of the Company

BET AR A IR R BABR

Reviewed and recommended the mechanism to ensure independent views and input are available for approval by the Board
BRAREZEERAERRESELERLE R OKH

SHARE REPURCHASE COMMITTEE

BRHOEBZESS
Composition o MrAuf A
A (executive Director) (¥ 77 & %)

Mr Giles Giles %t & (chairman) (£ &)

(independent non-executive Director) (38 17 FE# 77 & %)

(resigned with effect from 17 January 2025)

(62025117 HEEF L)

Ms. Liu 2l % +

(independent non-executive Director) (38 17 FE# 77 & %)

(appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 27 December 2024 and as Chairman of Share
Repurchase Committee with effect from 17 January 2025)

(B2024F 12 H27T AR EZHE BB HFHNTEEREG2025F 1 HI7TAEEZERRNOEZESTE)

Role & Function*

AeEBE

Exercises the general mandate granted by Shareholders to the Board to repurchase shares of the Company in accordance
with the Listing Rules, Bye-laws and the applicable laws of Bermuda
BEBECEMBAD  RAMRUAREREFRZR TEREETESRABARARMN 2 —REE

*  Please refer to the terms of reference of the Share Repurchase Committee on the Company’s website (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) for further

details.

© BHEFHE

BB | # R K 2 7] 48 i (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) 2 & 7 [B1 fE Z & & Bt 1# #0 [ -

Summary of Work
Performed

IHhE=

Reviewed the terms of reference of the Share Repurchase Committee
HZHRNOBZEQHEDE

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

ERZEY

Composition e Mr Giles Giles 5t 4

R (independent non-executive Director) (¥ 37 FE £ 77 % %)

#

(resigned with effect from 17 January 2025)

(B 20251/ 17 H )

Mr Yu* 5 58 & * (chairman) (£ &)

(independent non-executive Director) (38 17 FE# 77 & %)

Mr Lam 5 % 4

(independent non-executive Director) (38 17 FE# 77 & %)

Ms. Liu 2%+

(independent non-executive Director) (38 17 3E# 77 & %)

(appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 27 December 2024 and as a member of Audit
Committee with effect from 17 January 2025)

(B2024F 12 H27T AR EZ T BB U IFRTEERB2025F 1 AITHEEZFIRELLZESHKE)

Mr Yu is currently a certified public accountant with extensive experience in auditing, accounting and financial management services.

P ORAERR—EAMEE ERE BHRHMBERRE AR LEER -

Role & Function*

AGEBAE

Makes recommendations to the Board on appointment of external auditor and approve the terms including remuneration of
the engagement

BREMEIEZHMAESBIRDERDIOEGRR(BEZEEBH)

Reviews the Group’s financial information

EHAEEMBER

Oversees the Group’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal control systems

EEASENBERNE RAREBERAMBEITRL

Reviews the interim and final results of the Group prior to submission to the Board for approval

ERREBZRIAEZA - FHAKEHAMKAEE

Reviews financial reporting and internal control matters and to this end has unrestricted access to both the Company’s
external and internal auditors

HHMSERMAIEIEET - WAl AL B &Y AU IR 2K A TSNS A SUAD Ko ) 20 25 5T A EUS B 22

*  Please refer to the terms of reference of the Audit Committee on the Company’s website (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) for further details.

 BREEFFE

&8 E _F #H R 2 G490 (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) Z % Z 8B & B £ # [ -

EmMEZERAERLDT 2025 F 7R

57



58

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

LEEARE

AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

EREET (A

Report on work
performed
THE®RSE

Reviewed unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of the Group, the interim results announcements of the
Group and the interim report of the Company together with the audited annual consolidated financial statements of the
Group, the annual results announcement of the Group and the annual report of the Company with a recommendation to
the Board for approval

EHAEBARCERTHRRAVBRR AEETHREERERARATHEE  UREAEELERFELR
SUBRERAKREFEEERERARAFR TEREZEERHBER

Reviewed internal control and risk management framework of the Group

FEREAEENMEERRERERIER

Received and reviewed progress reports on internal control, risk management and internal audit actions implemented/
planned by the Group

ERREHNAEERET FEMNANNERE  RRERERANDET TENERBRS

Approved audit fee proposal of external auditor in connection with the audit of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the Reporting Period

BAENEZEMAEZEAEENRER RV BEBRRAERNZHE

Approved the engagement and the fee proposal of external auditor in connection with the agreed-upon procedure
regarding financial information for the six months ended 30 September 2024

BOEZEINEIZEAD R AR E2024F9A30B I AEAAZHBEMOBERFMEZNE A

Reviewed connected transactions of the Group, if any

FRAEEzBERS(INE)

Recommended the re-appointment of Crowe (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe (HK)”) as the Group’s external auditor at 2024
AGM

BENR0UFRRAFAG LENZAERATEEFB)EANEBMARATAN(BEEEE(FEB)) AEE
HNISRZ B R

Met with external auditor in the absence of executive Directors

ERBATESESNBERT - & RINEZER

Reviewed and recommended the terms of reference of the Audit Committee to the Board for approval
EHNERZESRREEETRREEREN

Reviewed audit planning for the Reporting Period

EWREBANFZ S
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SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with Shareholders

As part of corporate governance, the Company is
committed to safeguarding Shareholders’ interests and
maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders.

To achieve this, the Company established a shareholders
communication policy setting out various channels
of communication with Shareholders and investor
community for ensuring effective disclosure of the
Company’s performance and business activities.

The Company regards its physical Shareholders’
meetings as a valuable forum for Shareholders to raise
comments and exchange views directly with the Board
face to face. The Shareholders are encouraged to
attend the general meetings of the Company. All our
Directors and senior management and representatives
from external auditor will make effort to attend
Shareholders’” meetings and address queries from
Shareholders in order to provide Shareholders a
clear and adequate explanation of any matters to be
considered at the Shareholders’ meeting.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held two
general meetings. Voting on resolutions put forward
at the general meetings were taken by way of poll
and the poll results were published and posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
All resolutions put to Shareholders were passed at
the said general meetings. The resolutions and the
percentage of votes cast in favour of the resolutions
were set out below:
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THE COMPANY’S GENERAL MEETING(S) HELD DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD
RBESHABITHERARRAE

Annual general meeting (the “AGM”) on 28 August 2024* % of Votes Cast For
R2024F8H2BHBTHRRBFRE(RRBF KRG )" BREHNLLR
Approval of the 2024 audited accounts 100.00%

BiB2024F EHREZRAE

Re-election of Mr Yu as an independent non-executive Director 99.99%
BEREERBUNFNITES

Re-election of Mr Lam as an independent non-executive Director 99.99%
BEELRERBIUFNITES

Approval of the fixing of Directors’ remuneration 99.99%

RABETEEWSE

Re-appointment of Crowe (HK) as auditor and authorisation to the Board to fix its remuneration

BEZIEEEE (BB ARBMEARREESRETCANS 99.99%

Grant of general and unconditional mandate to Directors to issue shares 99.92%

BTEFETRON — R EERGEE

Grant of general and unconditional mandate to Directors to repurchase shares 99.99%

BTEFOERD O — RN E G RE

Extension of the share issue mandate to Directors 99.92%

BARTESFBITROZES

Approval of the adoption of the new bye-laws of the Company 99.99%

BB RN AN BT AR A

*  Representatives of Crowe (HK) attended the AGM on 28 August 2024 to answer possible queries.
© EHEEE(FE)RERER2024F8HL8H HERKRAFA G UL EEEELH -

* All Directors attended the AGM either in person or via electronic means.

Y BEFEOHEANEEEF T AMERRBFAE -

Special general meeting (the “SGM”) on 16 January 2025* % of Votes Cast For
M2025F1 A16 B BITHRRFEAI ARG (RR&ER RG> BEREHNLR

Approval and ratification of the provisional sale and purchase agreement and the
subsequent formal agreement, as supplemented by a supplemental agreement (the
“Disposal Agreements”), and the transaction contemplated therein in respect of
the disposal of a property comprising the whole floor of the 9th floor and three car
parking spaces (Nos. 222, 223 and 224) on the 2nd floor of E-Trade Plaza, 24 Lee
Chung Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong, subject to the terms set out in the Disposal
Agreements 100.00%
HEMERGHEERZMNAREA R (KB BEAGR) (HEWHR]) &
HETHETZRS ATEARLE—BYE BEFEREMNREF24RRE
BRSO ER2E=EFHM (FI5222 - 223k 224) - W AX HEHHETH
fig SR AR PR

* All Directors attended the SGM either in person or via electronic means.
Y HBEEFHESANFREFAAUEREFFIXE -
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Apart from holding Shareholders’ meetings, the
Company also endeavours to maintain effective
communication with all Shareholders through other
channels such as publication of annual and interim
reports, announcements as well as circulars (all in
bilingual) so as to provide extensive information on
the Group’s activities, financial position, business
strategies and developments to enable them to
make informed decision on matters relating to their
investment and exercise of their rights as Shareholders.
Such information is also available on the websites of
the Company (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) and the
Stock Exchange.

Our website is an effective means of communication
with Shareholders. Any Shareholders who have
questions or comments on what we are doing are
most welcome to contact us at any time through our
website. We will use our best endeavour to answer the
questions within a reasonable time.

The Board reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the abovementioned arrangements
during the Reporting Period. The Company’s website
was updated from time to time and the Shareholders
could access the latest information of the Company
through the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The Shareholders were provided with
the opportunities to communicate with the Directors
directly at the Shareholders’ meetings. Based on
the above, the Board was of the view that the
arrangements regarding Shareholders’ communication
were effective.

Shareholders’ Rights

Convening of SGM on Requisition by Shareholders
The Company recognises the importance of ensuring
that Shareholders’ rights are protected. In accordance
with the Bye-laws and the applicable laws of Bermuda,
all the Shareholders are entitled to attend or be
represented by proxy, speak and vote at general
meetings. Shareholders holding not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require a
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SGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business or resolution specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held in the form of a physical
meeting only and within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionists themselves may convene such
physical meeting in accordance with the provisions of
Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
General Meetings by Shareholders

Shareholders holding () not less than one-twentieth
of the total voting rights of all Shareholders having the
right to vote at the general meeting; or (i) not less than
100 Shareholders, can submit a duly-signed written
request stating the resolution intended to be moved
together with a statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at a particular general meeting and deposited at the
registered office of the Company.

The Company would take appropriate actions and
make necessary arrangements, and the Shareholders
concerned should have deposited a sum reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in giving
effect thereto.

Procedures for Director’s Nomination and
Election by Shareholders

All Shareholders have the right to propose a person
for election as a Director in accordance with its
Bye-laws and the relevant procedure and details for
proposing a person for election as a Director has
been made accessible on the Company’s website
(www.blueriverholdings.com.hk).

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries
to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing by post to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong or by email to info@blueriverholdings.com.hk for
the attention of the Board.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Responsibility

The Board assumes responsibilities for ensuring
that appropriate and effective risk management
and internal controls systems of the Company are
established and maintained in line with the Corporate
Governance Code. The Board considers that sound
risk management and internal control systems are vital
to the achievement of the Group’s strategic objectives
and acknowledges its responsibilities to establish,
maintain and review the effectiveness of such systems
on an ongoing basis.

Management of the Company is responsible for the
design, implementation and ongoing monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems of the
Group to achieve the following business objectives:

effectiveness and efficiency of operations

reliability of financial reporting and non-financial
reporting

compliance with applicable laws and regulations

Such systems are designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and aim to provide a reasonable, as
opposed to an absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee has ongoing responsibilities
to review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems and to
report to the Board at least annually.

The Company adopts policies and procedures which
provide a framework for risk management and internal
controls, with the aim of fulfilling the responsibilities of
the Board and the management of the Company.
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The roles and responsibilities of the key parties in our T X &5 FZ A B FE K FIH E R E B
risk management and internal control systems were set M A EEIZ XA RNFTIEE W A @ &

below: BE -

Board

BEER
Sets strategic objectives Evaluates and determines the Provides direction on the
= BB B = nature and extent for the Group’s importance of risk management
Oversees management in the principal risks and risk management culture
design, implementation and A AEENEERELAL @ HERBEESEMNRERRE
monitoring of the risk management ~ E £& f 2 & B bR M

and internal control systems

Wﬂ%’*ﬁﬂﬂ % e 1 K A AR

EREGHRE  BMER

Managing Director & Senior Management Audit Committee

BERSREERE EREES
Assesses risks group-wide and develops mitigating Reviews the effectiveness of risk
measures management and internal control systems
5 B BB 1Y /A 2 A1 13 L B A0 1 E L B 4 AR 4 B of the Group
Designs, implements and monitors the risk management WA ASRERREEEMAIBEZEZRFD
and internal control systems |
FEt - BB E R T RN AP EIE RS
Provides confirmation on the effectiveness of risk Internal Audit Function
management and internal control systems to the Board/ R B 2 5 BB BE ZB P

Audit Committee
HRREEMABEZZRANEIERNESRR, B
1{?2;,\5?&{ {%uu

Supports the Audit Committee in reviewing
the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems
XEREZZESHEREEMAIDEE
Rz BRI E L

Operation Management
EEEHERE

Implements and monitors the risk management and internal control procedures across the business
operations and functional areas of the Group
Bl EREEE XKL ENBEBPNARERMAIEZREFF
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Risk Management Framework

The Company established an enterprise risk
management framework to identify business risks
that may impact the Group, to assess the likelihood
and potential impact of the business risks, to manage
business risks within its risk appetite, to monitor
business risks in response to the change in business
environment, so as to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the achievement of the Company’s
objectives. The risk management framework adopted
by the Group was shown in the diagram below:

Strategy & B

Vision
Statement

=EH

Policy
BE

Process i &

Identify
=%

Report Risk Analyse
B Management A

Process

E R EERRE

Monitor Respond

Ex =1 f&
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Elements 7T &
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. ssurance
Measure Commitment er
BEMIEE T AR

Risk assessment is performed annually to evaluate the
nature and extent of the risks to which the Group is
exposed. Management of the Company had carried
out risk assessment exercise during the year ended
31 March 2025. During the risk assessment process,
the Group has identified principal and significant risks
faced by the Group, covering potential strategic risks,
operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks
of its major business segments. A description of the
Group’s principal risks and uncertainties, some of
which could affect the performance of the Group’s
business and operations, were set out in the section
“Business Review”. Each of the identified risk was
considered and rated with “High”, “Medium” or “Low”
level by the management of the Company. Respective
internal control measures were proposed to mitigate
the consequences of the identified risks to the Group
to an acceptable level.

To support management of the Company in responding
to risks arising from the complex and changing
business environment, regular training is provided to
our management to strengthen their awareness of risk
and capability to manage risks.
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Internal Control Systems

The Group’s systems of internal control were developed
by making reference to the Internal Control Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQO”)
in the United States and the Guide on Internal Control
and Risk Management issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The Company’s internal control framework is
established under the five interrelated components of
the COSO Framework. They are Control Environment,
Risk Assessment, Control Activities, Monitoring as
well as Information & Communication. The key internal
control procedures and measures are implemented
under the five components in supporting the
achievement of its strategic goals and mitigation of its
business risks.

The internal control framework of the Company under
COSO framework was set below. It illustrates how the
five internal control components are implemented in a
correlative and effective manner:

1

CONTROL
ENVIRONMENT

ERES

4 INFORMATION & COMMUNICATION
MEEEE

MONITORING
B

3

CONTROL
ACTIVITIES

EEED
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Internal Control Procedures and Credit Risk
Assessment for Money Lending Business

The Group has provided money lending services
to corporate clients. The source of funding for the
Group’s money lending business is financed by the
internal resources of the Group. The clientele primarily
consists of niche customers including high net-worth
corporations mostly referred by the Company’s senior
management, business partners or clients or clientele
with past business or dealings with the Group.

The management of the Company is primarily
responsible for designing, implementing and
maintaining the credit policies and internal control
procedures of the Group’s money lending business,
and has full authority to handle all credit matter for, and
monitor, the loan portfolio.

The loan applications, ongoing monitoring and
collections of the money lending business of the Group
are led by an executive Director who has approximately
7 years’ management experience in financial services
and money lending business and is supported by
employees of the Group including qualified accountant.

Loan approval

Upon receipt of a loan application from a potential
borrower, due diligence works will be carried out by the
supporting employees for the money lending business
on the creditworthiness of the potential borrower
and to understand the borrower’s repayment ability
including the borrower’s identity, background, financial
conditions and the purpose of the loan through (i)
interview with the borrower; and (i) review the statutory
and financial supporting documents provided by
the borrower and/or obtained from external sources
and relevant public record searches. Throughout the
credit assessment procedures, certain key factors are
being considered to assess the borrower’s repayment
ability, which includes: () the financial strength of the
borrower; (ii) the historical credit and repayment record
of the borrower; (i) any guarantee offered by, and the
financial strength of, the guarantor; (iv) any collateral
offered and the quality and liquidity of such collateral;
and (v) the purpose of the loan and the corresponding
repayment plan.
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The loan terms are normally arrived at by arms-
length negotiations with the borrowers on case-by-
case basis, after considering the due diligence and
credit assessment result as mentioned above and a
combination of other factors including prevalent market
interest rates and the quality of collateral offered. Final
decision on any loan application is subject to review
and approval by the executive director leading the
money lending business. Significant loan which may
constitute a disclosable transaction under the Listing
Rules is subject to further review and approval by the
Board.

Ongoing monitoring of loan recoverability and
loan collection

The management of the Company is primarily
responsible for the ongoing monitoring of the
credit quality of the loan portfolio. The supporting
employees for the money lending business check
for any irregularities of the borrowers, guarantors
and collaterals (including litigation and bankruptcy or
winding up searches, news or events that may have
negative bearings on the loans or the repayment ability
of the borrowers) regularly (generally on a half-yearly
basis, or more frequently if the credit risk is found to be
increased) and report to the director for any material
financial events in relation to the loans.

The supporting employees for the money lending
business will remind the borrowers of the repayment
schedules via phone calls, email or text messages
when the loans are due. For overdue or default
loans, follow-up actions including issuing demand
letters, seizing collateral, demanding repayment from
guarantors and initiating legal proceedings will be
taken on a case-by-case basis by the decision of the
management of the Company.

In case the borrower requests for extension or
modification of the repayment schedule, a new
approval has to be obtained by going through the loan
approval procedure again.
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INTERNAL AUDIT

Internal Audit Function of the Company (the “IA
Function”) is maintained internally and plays an
important role in the internal governance of the Group.
The IA Function reports directly to the Audit Committee
on risk management and internal control-related
matters. The IA Function is primarily responsible for
conducting analysis and independent appraisal on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s systems
of risk management and internal control on an annual
basis.

The IA Function is independent from operational
management and is fully empowered to access to data
required in performing internal audit review. Moreover,
the function comprises well qualified and capable staff
and is provided with adequate resources to perform its
duties.

Every year, the IA Function formulates an internal
audit plan based on the result of abovementioned risk
assessment on an annual basis. The internal audit
plan is determined using a risk-based approach and
is re-assessed for update annually. Annual internal
control review determined on the internal audit plan
are executed upon approval from the Audit Committee
to carry out independent appraisals to evaluate
the effectiveness of the Group’s systems of risk
management and internal control.

During the process of the annual internal control
review, key controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls, are evaluated. Any significant
internal control findings are defined and discussed
with respective process owners in order to formulate
remedial action plans to address the control gaps
identified. The IA Function conducts follow-up reviews
periodically to monitor the status of the remedial
actions. Results of the annual internal control review
and follow-up reviews are reported by the IA Function
to the Audit Committee for review and approval.
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The Company has engaged an independent and
professional consultant (the “Consultant”) during
the year ended 31 March 2025 to assist the Audit
Committee in meeting the requirements of risk
management and internal control under the Corporate
Governance Code. The Consultant provided
assistance to the Audit Committee in assessing and
evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the
Group. The Consultant also assisted in assessing if the
Company has established and maintained appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control
framework with recommendations for enhancement
and improvement.

Annual Confirmation

Every year, the Board has, through the Audit
Committee, reviewed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, and their training programmes and budget,
and was satisfied with the results of the review.

The Board had assessed the scope and quality of the
Group’s ongoing monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. Based on the results of
the internal audit works as described under the section
“Internal Audit” above, the Board considered the
risk management and internal control systems were
effective and adequate for the year ended 31 March
2025. The Board was not aware of any significant
areas of concerns that may affect the Group to achieve
its strategic goals.

Procedures and Controls for the Handling
and Dissemination of Inside Information

Proper measures had been taken by the Group to
comply with the requirements under “Part XIVA —
Disclosure of Inside Information” of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance to ensure that inside information
remains confidential until the disclosure of such
information has been properly approved, and
disseminate in an effective and consistent manner.
Such measures included establishment of the inside
information identification, reporting, and disclosure
protocol and procedures.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) were re-appointed as the Company’s
external auditor at the 2024 AGM until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting.

The Audit Committee in its meeting on 25 June 2025
recommended the re-appointment of Crowe (HK) as
the Company’s external auditor at 2025 AGM and
the Board adopted the same view as that of the Audit
Committee.

In order to maintain independence, Crowe (HK) is
primarily responsible for providing audit services in
connection with the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, and only provides non-audit services that
do not impair their independence or objectivity and are
approved by the Audit Committee.
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AR

REMUNERATION PAID OR PAYABLE TO CROWE (HK) FOR AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES
ENRENTFEESE(FBNRARFELEBRBENS

1/4/2024 1/4/2023

to 31/3/2025 to 31/3/2024

2024 F 20234

4A1H=ZE 4H1BE®

2025 2024 F

3H31H 3H31H

HK$’000 HK$’000

Services Rendered B H R & FET F&ETT

Audit services % PR 7 1,060 1,730

Non-audit services FEZ AR 75

Review of interim condensed 25 3 9 HA RS AF

consolidated financial statements AWK 600 600

Taxation advisory 75 5 7 58 49

Special engagements BFE LB 90 90

Total RG] 1,808 2,469
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Constitutional Documents

The Company’s memorandum of association and Bye-
laws (in both English and Chinese) are available on the
websites of the Company (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk)
and the Stock Exchange.

No amendments were made to the Bye-laws during
the Reporting Period.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Throughout the Reporting Period and up to the date
of the directors’ report, the Board had reviewed the
corporate governance practices of the Company and
continued to apply the principles of, and complied
with, the applicable code provisions in Part 2 of
the Corporate Governance Code except for certain
deviations as specified with considered reasons set
below.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

REEBRE

HBERXH

KRR ZHEBERE XA N R A4
B (A &SR AN ) B3R AR )4k
(www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) & B 22 Ft
Hguk o

RmEPRAR > XRRBWREFEF QA
ABRI -

REERSHANBEESTR®RSE
B EFREFMARAZERE
AER THBEREALET(EEE
STRIDE — 80 2 RAIK&EM T8
Mo EET INXAEEHARAZ
BEEIEERSN o

—

3 S% oF M O

EmMEZERAERLDT 2025 F 7R

73



74

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERERRE

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of
chairman and CE should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. Following the
resignation of the Former Managing Director (which is
equivalent to the CE) with effect from 1 July 2023, Mr
Kwong was appointed as the Managing Director and
has been performing the roles of the Chairman and
Managing Director with effect from 1 July 2023. Mr
Kwong assumes both roles of the Chairman and the
Managing Director and is responsible for overseeing
the management and operations of the Group. The
senior management of the Group continues to be
responsible for the management and administrative
functions and day-to-day operations of the Group
under the supervision of the Managing Director, who is
concurrently the Chairman. Despite the deviation from
the Code Provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code, Mr Kwong continues to provide solid and
continuous leadership to the Group with his extensive
experience and knowledge in management and
maintain continuity and efficiency in the management
and operation of business of the Group. Moreover,
under the supervision of other existing members of
the Board, including the independent non-executive
Directors, the Board is appropriately structured with
a balance of power comprising experienced and high
caliber individuals with not less than half of the number
thereof being independent non-executive Directors to
provide sufficient oversight to protect the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This environmental, social and governance (the “ESG”)
report (the “Report”) of Blue River Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting
Period”) covers environmental (Subject Area A)
and social (Subject Area B) topics as set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (the “Guide”) in Appendix C2 to the Rules (the
“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Corporate governance is addressed
separately in the Corporate Governance Report (the
“Corporate Governance Report”) set out in pages 35 to
74 of this annual report (the “Annual Report”).

SCOPE OF THIS REPORT

The ESG information in this Report covered material
issues (the assessment process of which was detailed
in the section “Materiality Assessment and Stakeholders
Engagement” below) of all of our business segments
discussed in the section “Business Review” of the
Annual Report, except for those businesses in (i) which
the Company does not have a controlling interest; and (i)
whose ESG implications are considered insignificant to
the Group.

The scope of this Report covered four business
segments for the Reporting Period: () the gas
distribution and logistics and energy-related businesses
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (the “Gas
Distribution and Logistics”); (i) the property investment
business in Hong Kong (the “Property Business”); (i)
the securities trading and investment business in Hong
Kong (the “Securities Business”); and (iv) the provision
of loan financing, financial related services and cash
management services in Hong Kong (the “Financial
Services Business”). The business segments in Hong
Kong are collectively referred to as the “Property,
Securities and Financial Services Businesses”. The
reporting boundaries were consistent with the same
report for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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THE COMPANY’S APPROACH TO ESG
RISKS, IMPACTS, OPPORTUNITIES AND
REVIEW OF ESG PERFORMANCE

We considered ourselves duty-bound to assess and
manage all foreseeable risk factors as effectively as
possible. We believed that effective management of
the ESG risks, impacts and opportunities can improve
sustainability and financial performance of the Group in
long term.

We recognise the need to assess ESG risks in our
investments and the operational process of our
subsidiaries and their impact on financial performance
and the communities where both we and our
subsidiaries operated.

Our vision and strategy for ESG was set out clearly
in our ESG policy (the “ESG Policy”). The guiding
principles for each ESG area (as detailed in the
section “Business Review” of the Annual Report)
had been developed in line with our approach to
ESG management strategy. Through dialogue with
the management of our business units and other
stakeholders, we developed strategic approaches
to address ESG challenges and integrated these
into our business practices. We also monitored ESG
performance through regular reviews and enhanced
ESG awareness through training. Relevant findings
and recommendations are reported to the Board of
Directors of the Company (the “Board”) on an ongoing
basis.

We required all business units to implement the
necessary level of risk management and internal
controls to ensure compliance with our ESG Poalicy,
considering their specific business needs and
circumstances. We ensured that all employees receive
the relevant information, training and supervision to
mitigate and manage the associated ESG risks. A
strong emphasis was placed on preventing accidents
and incidents, but in the event that they occur, we
had appropriate emergency plans that were routinely
rehearsed.
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Business units were required to perform risk
management and internal control review annually
to assess the effectiveness of their internal control
systems. The risk assessment was conducted using
a questionnaire which included the ESG matters. The
methodology for reviewing the effectiveness of these
risk management and internal control systems was
detailed in section “Risk Management Framework”
in the Corporate Governance Report of the Annual
Report.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS
AND TARGETS

The Company recognised the need to integrate the
ESG risks, impacts and opportunities into its business
strategy. The integration aimed to deliver not only
robust financial performance but also sustainable
development of the Group over the long term.
The Board determined the ESG goals and targets,
ensuring alignment with the current performance and
its strategic future development of the Group. The
Group was dedicated to addressing carbon emissions
and wastes in its daily operation. The Board and the
management were responsible for reviewing these
goals and targets, with the objective of achieving
continual improvement in the ESG performance of the
Group.
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ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE RE HERERITHNERESE

Board of Directors
EER

Has overall responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategy and reporting
SEVNLE R YT Fe e bl
Sets the Company’s performance targets for the ESG management

BIERARAIERE HERERBETHNRRER

Delegates the day-to-day responsibility for the ESG-related matters to senior management and the corporate governance and
compliance committee of the Ci)mpan (tbeEE“Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee”) N R . o .
HERE HEhEAEEEENREREZTR AR ERERCEET AR ERZES((EXEARNEREZES))
&p?ro¥e§ the ESG Policy and ESG Report o

EMRE HEREARERER g RkEHME

Audit Committee Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee
EREES TCEERRERESS
Reviews the effectiveness of risk Reviews ESG policies and practices developed by senior management and makes
e oo™ RN RBREREAH DR R EARRRER  LAE SRR
e R R N R R R R o ooete
B Reviews and monitors the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements

related to the ESG matters and meets with the management to assess related compliance
policies, programs and procedures N . N L
BYREEANAEBTES HEREAABEANEEREERESENE
Mo TEHEBERTEE  UNEHBOAREBE HTERER

Investigates or causes to be investigated any significant instances of non-compliance
or potential compliance violations that are reported to the Corporate Governance and
Compliance Committee, . X
AERLZHAESRCEERRERZEGRRNEMERERNEEEREN
Reviews ESG Report developed and pregared bl senior management
HHHEREEEMNEARRIRER HeakEARS

Senior Management
BREERE

Develops the Company’s ESG policies and practices

BIEARBINIERR HERELHRERTER

Designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal control systems related to the ESG matters
Rt EBmMEREARE HeRELFHEMEBENRREBENADEZERR

Develops the actions in achieving the ESG performance targets

HEREFRE HEREBRREEMBENTH

Ensures compliance with legal and regulatory requirements related to the ESG matters

BRETHRE HEREAFEMABNEEREERT

Prepares the ESG Report with the assistance of external consultant

MM B THREERE L REAMSE

ESG Working Group
BRIE - #HBRERIEA

Assists senior management and the Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee in developing the ESG policies and practices
and preparing the ESG Report

M EREREERCXEARERZEGHERE HEREARERPAMNGRER e kEHWmE

Assists senior management and the Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee in developing actions for achieving the ESG
performance targets

B ERERERCEEARERZEGHERAEIRE HERELARAKREMENTD

Assists senior management in coordinating and implementing the ESG policies and practices

BOERERERERERIRE HEREABRERER

Departments and Business Units

MRAREKEEEN

Complies with ESG policies and practices developed by senior management and Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee
BEAEREEBERCEEARERZEGHENERIR L REABRERTR

Implements good operation practices and ensures the ESG compliance in daily operations
EMRITEERTUERBRIEPBRARR HRELNEGRYE

Implements the actions required to achieve the ESG performance targets

RERAESRERE HEREARRESEAENTH
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT AND
STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

In deciding what ESG information to be included in
this Report, we had taken into account the materiality
of the relevant information, particularly its significance
and relevance to the Company’s businesses and
operations.

The results of our materiality assessment for the
Reporting Period were shown in the materiality matrix
below:

Crucial

EE

p» Water consumption
K&
> Energy use eff|C|ency
BEIR EFH #H
» Water sourcing
KR

P Packaging material used
ERzEEMB

External assessment (Impact on stakeholders)
SIBFE(HBFHENTE)

B HERERHE

EEZEUFHNEOESHE

-z

W

EREWMLIRE @ LkERERA
MAXRBER  HMEERBEHD
EEMN LEREHARBERE LK
SERERMAM -

ATHEREEERRTRMAE®RS
HANE RS

P> Emissions
HEB

P> Total hazardous waste produced
BEREYRESR

P> Total non-hazardous waste produced
BEBRRYLEER

P> Measures to mitigate emissions
W B i

P Wastes management
BEYER

P> Direct and indirect energy consumption
BEEREEERER

P> Significant impact on environmental and natural resources
HRENMERERNEALE

P> Significant impact of climate change and mitigation action
RIRBENERFEREBRTH

P> Work-related fatalities and injury
BIEBRANETCNES

P> Occupational health and safety measures
BXRRERZZEE

P Labour standards
2T A

> Suppliers’ engagement practices
HEBERER

P> Products sold or shipped subject to recall for safety and
health reasons
HRAZ2AREREAEAHERHENER

P> Complaints over products and service
B @ A RS 1R 5

P> Quality assurance process and recall procedures
RERBRABMEERF

P> Consumer data protection and privacy policies
HEEERMREMEBARE

P> Anti-corruption
RES

P Commitment to community
[l #5 tt &

> Employee turnover
BIRK
> Workforce by gender, employment type, age group and
geographical region
BMER - REER  FREARNNGEREESNELE N
» Employees training
B I
P Suppliers by geographical region
ZiEE D HER
P> Intellectual property rights
AR

Not relevant Internal assessment (Impact on business)

Crucial

i8R AT H(HEBNTE) =
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Based on the annual materiality assessment, the
following principal ESG issues were identified as our
key aspects:

e (Climate change: Climate change presented a
global challenge and more stringent laws and
regulations regarding disclosure requirements
were in force;

e Energy management: Effective energy management
could reduce energy consumption and improve
operational performance and productivity of our
Group;

e  (Care for employees: We valued our employees
as fundamental to our sustainable business
development and ongoing success. We were
committed to safeguarding their labour rights,
health and safety, and actively strive to improve
their working conditions in order to retain our
employees;

e  Product/Service responsibility: High-quality
products and services were vital for enhancing
brand image, customer retention and maintaining
customer loyalty; and

e  Effective corporate governance: It was essential
for ongoing development and success of the
Company’s businesses, ensuring regulatory
compliance, enhancing competitiveness and
building long-term enterprise value.

The matrix was based on both internal and external
materiality assessments conducted for the Reporting
Period. By engaging our key stakeholders, the
assessment results provided an important reference
for our ESG management and information disclosure.
The internal materiality assessment involved
senior management and other key employees of
the Company. The external assessment involved
stakeholders such as relevant government and
regulatory bodies, customers, suppliers and the
communities where our businesses operated. These
stakeholders were identified by consulting various
departments within our business units such as sales
and marketing, procurement, legal and finance.
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Key stakeholders of the Company were engaged
through ongoing and comprehensive communication
channels to understand their concerns and

expectations.

Our key stakeholders, their primary concerns and our
channels of ongoing engagement were set out in the

table below:

Key stakeholders

E-35 8]
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Key concerns

BEEEH

BB -HERERHS

AFAFENTENEBREB
FihEEBER  UEMBAEETMN

&0 M
e H S
°>¢ﬁﬂ|_|

TRENERMPWEEZERTHE HE T
=R M&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ#m% m
W

Engagement channels

BERE

Shareholders and
investors

BRERMEEE

Lenders
BERA

Regulatory bodies
EERE

Financial performance and
position

B 5 R IR MGk R
Corporate governance
TEENR

Sustainable development
AR R

Financial performance and
position

B IS 2R 3R AR
Corporate governance
TEER

Compliance

a iR

Corporate governance
1w % (=N A

Laws, regulations and

practices
EECERNER

Annual and interim reports

FHwAMF RS

Announcements and circulars
General meetings

REXRE

Meetings and interviews

EEEG

Information disclosed on the websites
of the Company and the Stock
Exchange

RARE LB REr@AME TR EE

Business visits

EEE=Ti]

Information disclosed on the websites
of the Company and the Stock
Exchange

RARE LB REr@EE R ER
Liaison through email and telephone
BBEFHMHREFEBS

Compliance reporting

& 1R E R

Consultation

B

Meetings

&

Seminars and workshops

et e kTS
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Key stakeholders = Key concerns Engagement channels
FTERFHE BEER BERK
Customers Quality of products and Daily operations
BP services BEeE
EmMiREE & Business visits
Corporate reputation % F
hEEE Meetings
Data privacy 3%
BRFLE Customer satisfaction survey
Business integrity and EFmEERE
conduct Complaint handling mechanism
EBHENITR 5 5 e T 1 5
Brochures and leaflets
M F K B ok
Suppliers Corporate reputation Procurement and tendering process
HEn TERES KRB EKZRIEZ
Fair and ethical business Business visits
practice % FED
RNFEBEEEF X Seminars and workshops
Long-term relationship e ®E T EY
RH& EB R
Employees Health and safety Training workshops and seminars
(== fERR B = 2 Bl TES M s g
Remuneration and benefits Regular performance reviews
e An4E A R IR T
Training and development Meetings and discussions
1% 5l B 2 R R
Equal opportunities Company activities
TEKe NAENEH
Corporate culture Company notices
REXIE NAAE
Enquiry and complaint handling
mechanism
= 8 KA O R IR M
Community Social contribution Charitable donation
Zan e 5B BEBRE

Environmental responsibilities

RIBEEME
Community participation
ey
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Volunteer activities
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

In the preparation of this Report, we applied four
reporting principles set below:

Materiality: This Report set out the identities of our
key stakeholders and their concerns. It also explained
the methodology for determining material issues and
used the materiality matrix to demonstrate the priority
of each issue. Please refer to the section “Materiality
Assessment and Stakeholders Engagement” for further
details.

Quantitative: This Report disclosed Key Performance
Indicators (the “KPIs”) in a quantitative manner
with measurable criteria, and reported emission
and employment data according to the standards,
methodologies, assumptions or calculation tools
used, and source of conversion factors used, where
appropriate, for the reporting of KPls. Please refer
to the sections “Key Performance Indicators —
Environmental” and “Key Performance Indicators —
Social” for further details.

Balance: Our achievements and challenges in all
aspects of sustainable development, aiming to
provide an unbiased picture of our performance to the
stakeholders were discussed in this Report.

Consistency: This Report adopted the same
methodologies as in previous years wherever possible
and elaborated any changes to the methods used
where appropriate, which ensured a consistent
method was used to provide the ESG data that was
comparable with the historical ones.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

We strived to comply with all relevant environmental
laws and regulations applicable to our various
business operations. Our legal team had been working
closely with our business units to assess the impact
of promulgated environmental protection laws and
regulations such as:

e the Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Cap. 311,
Laws of Hong Kong;

e the Waste Disposal Ordinance, Cap. 354, Laws of
Hong Kong;

e the Water Pollution Control Ordinance, Cap. 358,
Laws of Hong Kong;

e the Noise Control Ordinance, Cap. 400, Laws of
Hong Kong;

e the Motor Vehicle Idling (Fixed Penalty) Ordinance,
Cap. 611, Laws of Hong Kong;

e the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC;

e the Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the
PRC;

e the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Atmospheric Pollution;

e the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Water Pollution;

e the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Noise Pollution;

e the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste
Pollution; and

e the National Environmental Emergency Response
Plan.

Policies to minimise the environmental impacts from
operations were established and are promptly updated
in accordance with the aforesaid laws and regulations.
Moreover, a reporting system was developed and
all our business operating units were required to
promptly report any significant non-compliance issues,
including those related to the environment, to senior
management.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material
non-compliance with laws and regulations related to
environment that could have had a significant impact
on the Group.
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AIR EMISSIONS

The emission sources mainly came from the operations
of the Gas Distribution and Logistics. For example,
sulphur oxides (the “SOx”) and nitrogen oxides (the
“NOx”) were produced from fuel consumption of
compressed natural gas (the “CNG”) filling trucks,
patrol vehicles and office vehicles. Particulate matter
(the “PM”) was generated from the dust that arose
from fuel consumption by vehicles and trucks. The
combustion of fuels from these mobile sources also led
to greenhouse gas (the “GHG”) emissions. Our direct
GHG emissions (Scope 1) came from the use of petrol,
while our indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) came
from the consumption of purchased electricity. Dust,
exhausted gases and other airborne particles were
produced from the operations at CNG fueling stations.

Since the Property, Securities and Financial Services
Businesses were primarily conducted in office, the
main sources of the GHG emissions were vehicle
fuel and indirect emissions from office electricity use.
Hence, their air emission amount was not significant.

Various preventive and corrective measures had been
implemented to address the air emission issues arising
from our operations.

Controlling vehicles’ speed at the CNG fueling
stations as well as performing regular cleaning and
maintenance of paved access roads had been
performed to minimise the impact of SOx, NOx and
fugitive emissions. CNG leakage detectors had been
frequently used to monitor and ensure that no incidents
of vast leakage occur during the CNG filling services.
Furthermore, to minimise GHG emissions, petrol
that comply with national standards were used in all
vehicles and regular maintenance were carried out.
We prioritised the use of equipment that had energy
efficiency labels or that used renewable energy and we
monitored exhaust emissions on a regular basis.
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Being a responsible enterprise, we were dedicated
to minimising negative impacts of air emissions and
energy consumption on the environment. By managing
emissions and consumption, we endeavoured to
increase resource efficiency through sustainable
operations. We had implemented the aforementioned
environmentally friendly and sustainable measures to
reduce carbon emissions and wastes, and to enhance
energy efficiency.

SEWAGE

Domestic sewage generated by staff at the CNG
fueling stations was treated by a septic tank. The
effluent discharged from septic tanks was either used
by local villagers for vegetable farming or discharged
into the municipal sewage network. Sewage was
treated to remove contaminants before being reused
or being duly discharged in compliance with the Law
of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Water
Pollution.

WASTE MANAGEMENT

The availability of suitable land for landfill was
decreasing, while concerns about environmental and
health impacts of landfill sites and waste treatment (both
hazardous and non-hazardous ones) were increasing.
We endeavoured to reduce the amount of waste being
transported to landfills or processed in other ways by
implementing source reduction and we encouraged
reusing and recycling as much as possible.

Hazardous waste such as used engines and lubrication
oil from machinery maintenance at fueling stations,
fluorescent lights, used printer cartridges and vehicle
batteries, must be first stored in a designated storage
areas and then collected by licenced contractors or
taken to designated recycling stations. We strictly
prohibited dumping, discarding or stacking hazardous
waste to avoid any land or water pollution.
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Non-hazardous waste generated by the Group
mainly consisted of domestic and office waste such
as wastepaper. To achieve waste reduction, we
advocated for green office environment by encouraging
employees to minimise paper consumption through
the use of digital documents instead of printing and
by adopting double-sided printing. We minimised
the consumption of disposable items by replacing
them with reusable ones. For example, we replaced
disposable paper cups and utensils with glass cups
and metal cutlery in our office.

In compliance with the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution
by Solid Waste Pollution, our domestic waste
management system was established, encompassing
classification, collection, transportation and treatment
processes. Non-hazardous waste such as employees’
domestic and office waste was classified into recyclable
or non-recyclable waste. Non-recyclables waste was
collected periodically by eligible sanitation companies
in accordance with the revised laws and regulations.

USE OF RESOURCES

Energy consumption has a direct effect on our
environment, operational costs and exposure to
fluctuations in energy supply and prices as most of
the energy consumption comes from fossil fuels.
The extraction, transportation and processing of
fossil fuels may cause land degradation, water
and atmospheric pollution and the usage of these
fossil fuels will generate GHGs which are the major
cause of climate change. On the other hand, water
is becoming a precious resource especially under
increasing pressure from factors such as drought,
population increase and rising demand for industrial
uses. To reduce its environmental impact and enhance
resources efficiency, we had adopted policies on the
effective use of resources in accordance with the
relevant requirements of the Energy Conservation Law
of the PRC, the Water Law of the PRC and the Mineral
Resources Law of the PRC.
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Various measures had been implemented to encourage
energy saving. The results of the implementation
of energy-saving plans were linked with the
management’s annual performance appraisal. At our
CNG fueling stations, regular maintenance of motor
vehicles and trucks had been conducted and LED
lights were used to enhance energy efficiency.

In offices, efficient use of electrical appliances was
promoted to staff such as turning off lighting during
breaks and shutting down all appliances after office
hours. Some of our offices had installed temperature
guides for switching on air-conditioners only when the
temperature reached a pre-set level.

For water usage, measures such as efficient use
of water were promoted and communicated to
staff. Water-efficient fixtures and fittings such as
showerheads, taps and hoses were installed at some
operation sites. Given the nature of our business,
sourcing water was not considered as a key issue for
the Group.

The Company was committed to managing all business
operations with sensitivity to environmental protection.
We will review our environmental protection practices
from time to time and will continue to apply eco-friendly
measures and practices in our operations.
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CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change has emerged as one of the hottest
issues across the globe in recent years. In view of this,
we had raised awareness of the risks and opportunities
facing the Group due to climate change. We had
integrated climate-related considerations into our risk
management system to identify the climate-related
risks that may impact the Group’s operations and
development. The identified climate-related risks and
corresponding actions taken to manage them were as
follows:

To achieve sustainable development, governments
around the world have successively formulated
climate-related regulations to support the global
decarbonisation vision. The governments will formulate
stricter policies and regulations to achieve carbon
neutrality. For example, the PRC and Hong Kong
governments have pledged to achieve carbon neutral
by 2060 and 2050 respectively. The transition to a
low-carbon society might lead to a significant impact
on the business operations of the Group. As the
relevant governmental policies become more stringent,
the compliance and operational costs are expected
to increase. To mitigate the impact, we regularly
monitored existing and emerging trends of government
policies related to climate change, strengthened
communication with regulatory authorities, adjusted our
risk management measures in a timely manner, and
improved the compliance and quality of our emissions
and climate change disclosures.
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Furthermore, the increasing frequency and intensity of
extreme weather events such as typhoons and heavy
rainfall, may cause damage to the Group’s properties
and disrupt the supply chain network. Extreme heat
and humidity may also affect the productivity of the
employees. The Gas Distribution and Logistics, in
particular, has a greater chance of being exposed
to these events. For example, extreme weather may
disrupt the logistics, leading to delays in the supply
of gas and potentially damaging the fueling stations’
facilities, thus posing a threat to the operation of the
gas distribution business. To address these risks, we
had implemented various mitigation and adaption
measures. We had formulated operational procedures
such as safety management plans and environmental
management plans for different extreme weather
scenarios. We also closely monitored the latest
weather updates and followed recommendations
from local governments to develop emergency
plans, strengthened warning forecasts and improved
emergency response. In addition, we maintained
property and employee insurance to protect the
interests of our Group and reduce potential financial
loss.

ESG investment is becoming an increasingly
popular investment approach as it involves greater
consideration of climate change and ESG-related
issues within the investment strategies of the
Company. Hence, investment decisions of the
Company may be affected and may have an adverse
influence on the financial performance of the Company.
As a responsible investor, particularly in the Securities
Business, we aim to incorporate ESG aspects into
our analysis and investment decisions, and continue
to monitor the ESG performance of our investments.
We were committed to building a sustainable future by
investing in businesses with low pollution or if possible,
even in ESG-focused firms.

We had integrated climate-related considerations into
our decision-making processes and would actively
study and review the response measures to address
the potential risks and opportunities of climate change
to ensure our business remains resilient against
relevant climate risks in the future.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS — BAEANIEE — BEhee
ENVIRONMENTAL "oe° 7 a6
GAS DISTRIBUTION PROPERTY, SECURITIES
AND FINANCIAL SERVICES | kp Ref
ENVIRONMENTAL KPIs UNIT %"gﬁoggtﬁ M. BmER BREN
B Wi = A ) =
BERRERER B o SRRK KEsE
2025 2024 2025 2024
Emission
23587
Nitrogen oxides Tonnes 0.05 0.09 0.0038 0.0034 <A1.1>
pk=Rldt) I
Sulphur oxides Tonnes 0.00006 0.00014 0.00007 0.00007
k=Rl I
Particulate matter Tonnes 0.01 0.01 0.00028 0.00025
SRRy WA
Greenhouse gas emissions — Scope 1 Tonnes 12.15 37.13 12.64 12.59 <A1.2>
BERBHN — SE1 WA
Greenhouse gas emissions — Scope 2 Tonnes 252.96 376.96 18.09 19.96
BERBHMR — HE2 WA
Total greenhouse gas emissions Tonnes 265.11 414.09 30.73 32.55
RERBHMES 18
Sales volume 10,000 Tonnes 0.65 0.84 N/A N/A
HE 10,0008 TEH TER
Office area Square Feet N/A N/A 3,672 3,672
MAEHERE TAR TER TEA
Total greenhouse gas emissions Tonnes/10,000 Tonnes 407.86 492.96 N/A N/A
by sales volume %8 /10,0008 TiE A T
RERBHNEESE (RES)
Total greenhouse gas emissions Tonnes/Square Feet N/A N/A 0.0084 0.0089
by office area W,/ HR TEA TERA
BERBHRLE
(BRP|RAEER)
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GAS DISTRIBUTION PROPERTY, SECURITIES
AND FINANCIAL SERVICES | Kp| Ref
ENVIRONMENTAL KPIs UNIT é\k"gﬁoggﬁ M. mEp BREN
F‘ =] B N P = "
BEBRENIEE Bf h SREH Es
2025 2024 2025 2024
Wastes
BEN
Hazardous waste "*****"*° Tonnes 0.36 1.93 N/A NA | <A13>
BEBEN " 4 TEA TEf | &AL
Non-hazardous waste **** Tonnes 1218 21.25 N/A N/A
mEmEan " A TEA TER
Total wastes "* Tonnes 12.54 23.18 N/A N/A
EESIEE B ER il
Sales volume 10,000 Tonnes 0.65 0.84 N/A N/A
HE 10,0008 TER TER
Office area Square Feet N/A N/A 3,672 3,672
WMAEEE TAR TEH TiEA
Total wastes by sales volume Tonnes/10,000 Tonnes 19.29 27.60 N/A N/A
BENBE (RHE) /10,0005 TEA il
Total wastes by office area"™** Tonnes/Square Feet N/A N/A N/A N/A
BENAE(RRAZER)"Y B/ HR FER | TEE| THEAE ik
Energy Consumption
BEROH R
Petrol KWh 38,920 85,931 46,059 45,876 <A2.1>
bl TEE
Diesel "/ KWh 0 1,534 0 0
sy 1 T RB
LPG "¢ 7 KWh 0 43,384 0 0
BB E R TRE
Electricity KWh 579,645 660,986 30,148 30,240
) TRE
Total energy consumption kWh 618,565 791,835 76,207 76,116
EREREEE T RE
Sales volume 10,000 Tonnes 0.65 0.84 N/A N/A
HE 10,0008 TEA TER
Office area Square Feet N/A N/A 3,672 3,672
BAEEE TAR TER TEA
Total energy consumption kWh/10,000 Tonnes 951,638 942,661 N/A N/A
by sales volume T FLB,/10,000 1 TER TER
RREREEE (RIHE)
Total energy consumption by office area KWh/Square Feet N/A N/A 21 21
REREE(RFAZEEH) TRE/EHR TER @A
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B HERERHE

GAS DISTRIBUTION PROPERTY, SECURITIES
AND FINANCIAL SERVICES | Kp| Ref
ENVIRONMENTAL KPIs UNIT AND LOGISTICS M BER £
RABRENEE By RARER MK B M
RADRR SREH KES%
2025 2024 2025 2024
Water Consumption
FKE
Municipal water supplies " Cubic Meter 1,973 5,043 N/A NA | <A22>
B K ST K AER TEA
Sales volume 10,000 Tonnes 0.65 0.84 N/A N/A
HE 10,0008 TER TEA
Office area Square Feet N/A N/A 3,672 3,672
WAEHEE TAR TEH TEA
Total water consumption by sales volume Cubic Meter/ 3,035 6,004 N/A N/A
FKBEE(RHEE) 10,000 Tonnes T A TR
77 K,/10,0000
Total water consumption by Cubic Meter/ N/A N/A N/A N/A
office area ***° Square Feet TER @R TER TEm
RKEE(RBAZEE) YRR/ ERR
Notes: B e -
1. Environmental KPls in this data table reflected the data for the reporting 1. REE R AW IRE 8B BUEE D R R 2025

periods from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 under the 2025 column and
from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 under the 2024 column respectively.

2. The Group considered the hazardous or non-hazardous waste generated 2.
from the operation of the Property, Securities and Financial Services
Businesses to be immaterial and therefore no disclosure was made for
these KPIs and was marked as not applicable (“N/A”) in the table.

3. The decrease in hazardous waste for the Gas Distribution and Logistics 3.
was mainly due to a reduction in the scale of machinery maintenance at
fueling stations.

4. The Gas Distribution and Logistics had transitioned its vehicle fleet for 4.
business operations from diesel and LPG-powered vehicles to petrol-
powered vehicles. As a result, the energy consumption of diesel and LPG
was zero during the Reporting Period.

5. The water supply and discharge for the office premises of the Property, 5.
Securities and Financial Services Businesses were managed by the
building’s property management. As a result, this data was not available
to the Group. The Group considered the water consumption for the office
premises to be immaterial and therefore no disclosure was made and was
marked as N/A in the table.

6. The Company’s business activities had no environmental impact regarding 6.
packaging material for finished products and therefore no relevant KPI
was disclosed in the table.

B T2024%F4A18 £202543 A31 8 K& R2024
B T2023F4 18 £2024F3A31 B #H & HH
ik -

FEERRME BHFREBRBRBEBEEDE
ENEETRNESTEENEITERN AL %SRS
ERERRERBICR ERBRATER(A
wmAl) -
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Uh RS M TR AR AR PR
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KEMAEMEEERAFAE - AUt - AEEEZE
REHBEE - AEERRZSEH RS MNFEK
BYTER AUREREIERERERAT
BA e

ARAREBEDHLEERBKXBBEMBTEDN
REPYE QW ERAREREABBARERER-

EmMEZERAERLDT 2025 F 7R

93



94

ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

HERERRSE

B IE -

SOCIAL

Credibility and reputation are invaluable assets for the
Company which operates in diverse economic, social
and cultural contexts. Therefore, we have developed
common principles, values and responsibilities that
guide our relations with the market, the communities in
which we operated, the people who work with us and
all those who have a legitimate interest in our activities.

In social context, the Company will maintain the
following core values:

Genuine

We are sincere, trustworthy and reliable.
Operating with integrity, being ethical and respecting
others is at the heart of the Company’s culture.

Involved

We are inclusive, open and actively engaged with our
customers, partners, employees and the communities
we serve.

People are our greatest asset.

Exceptional
We are committed to creating exceptional experiences

that delight our employees and customers.

These core values reflect the importance that
the Company attaches to the integrity, respect,
responsibility, competence and safety in carrying out
our business.
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EMPLOYMENT

We believed that focusing on talent management and
emphasising staff engagement would in turn drive the
growth of our business. Meanwhile, we had established
policies to regulate compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination
and other benefits and welfare in accordance with laws
and regulations such as:

the Employment Ordinance, Cap. 57, Laws of
Hong Kong;

the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, Cap.
282, Laws of Hong Kong;

the Minimum Wage Ordinance, Cap. 608, Laws of
Hong Kong;

the Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Cap. 480, Laws
of Hong Kong;

the Disability Discrimination Ordinance, Cap. 487,
Laws of Hong Kong;

the Family Status Discrimination Ordinance, Cap.
527, Laws of Hong Kong;

the Race Discrimination Ordinance, Cap. 602,
Laws of Hong Kong;

the Labour Law of the PRC;

the Labour Contract Law of the PRC;

the Social Insurance Law of the PRC;

the Provisions on Minimum Wages;

the Law of the PRC on the Protection of Disabled
Persons; and

the Law of the PRC on the Protection of Rights
and Interests of Women.
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In practice, a performance-based remuneration and
appraisal system had been adopted to ensure fair
pay for our employees and to attract and retain talent.
Our Group offered a competitive salary, which was
assessed regularly to reflect the market trends from
time to time. Other than salary, regular staff welfare and
benefits such as social insurance, statutory holidays,
maternity and breastfeeding leaves, high temperature
subsidies, meal allowance, and communication
allowance, had also been provided. The salaries and
fringe benefits of employees were confidential and
disclosure of salary package was strictly protected. In
addition, we strived to create a harmonious working
environment for employees through the organisation of
various activities such as festive and social functions,
volunteer work and team sports events for employees
and their families.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material
non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations
relating to employment that could have a significant
impact on the Group.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

We recognised the importance of occupational health
and safety, and endeavoured to provide a safe working
environment for our staff by encouraging safety
practices and enhancing their awareness through
regular training and safety drills.

Occupational health and safety policies were
established in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations such as:

e the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance,
Cap. 509, Laws of Hong Kong;

e the Law of the PRC on Work Safety;

e the Law of the PRC on Prevention and Treatment
of Occupational Diseases;

e the Fire Control Law of the PRC; and

e the Technical Specification for Dust and Poison
Prevention in Urban Gas Industry.
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In respect of the Gas Distribution and Logistics, various
measures had also been employed to ensure health
and safety of our employees. Our ports and logistics
operations had set up their safety committees or
supervision departments to conduct comprehensive
supervision and management of work safety with a
view to complying with the relevant national laws,
regulations and mandatory standards. Regular
training and drills on safety and fire were organised,
particularly the training and drills in CNG distribution
and logistics business. At the CNG fueling stations,
safety inspections were carried out on a regular basis
to prevent safety accidents. Moreover, all employees
were required to be licenced for engaging in specialty
works (such as those at our CNG fueling stations).
Annual health examinations and sport activities had
also been arranged to promote good health and well-
being.

In addition to providing a healthy and safe working
environment, the Group also paid close attention to
the mental health of its employees. By actively listening
to employees’ concerns and sharing developmental
outcomes, the Group fostered a supportive
atmosphere. This approach not only strengthened
colleague bonds but also encouraged employees to
seek help for work-related stress or mental health
issues, thereby positively influencing the working
culture of the Group over time.

Furthermore, although the impact of the pandemic was
gradually diminishing, preventive measures against
infectious diseases had been established as standard
operating procedures of the Group. We performed
office cleaning and disinfection regularly, educated
employees on proper hygiene practices, raised our
employees’ awareness of personal hygiene in the office
by encouraging frequent handwashing and maintaining
cleanliness at desks and workspaces. Employees
were also advised to report any symptoms and sought
medical advice promptly if they felt unwell.

BB -HERERHS

HMREZXERME > ZFATFER
MEREMRREEINRERRZ 2 -
BMPMEARYREHEMA D 2
VEEREBEEeRLE2EBHMM HEH
TEAEETEEAMNEEMERE U
& B RKBREIEE AR KRS EE
Ko XBEMNMTENEEABLEM
B EREI R ESIRR S LHE2
ERBBERARDHERYREBHE
Al N e =Om AR o 3 AP IR E B EE HE K
ARMRUEETRZERA AP IER
EEWHELMIN TAERERKRIE
B T (R EMERXARIE I TIER
EL)FHEHEEAREND - EHEM
ERBFERREBRLAREZERS
BEIRIESE TREKYF -

T REIRFEEBELZ 20 TFIXR
B AEBENSEERETINHLRE
BE -BEEERREEIRELDZ
HRARR AEEEREERTRS
MSE - TMEB BN FE = Z H B
E RSTRASEE TEYH TIEH
BEOXOERERES KB (K
MET BAEER TIEX(EHRKIER

e
o BERBMEEEESER A

TEERFNERES K AR EERE
EXREF BMAERETHLRES R
KBS HEETILHAELEIE 5B
REAFALRFRAEZMIEZBH
BE ARSEIERAENEAR
ERE e —BRZ BMATEREIR
¥R SR SR B o

EmMEZERAERLDT 2025 F 7R



98

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERRS

In accordance with the Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance, Cap. 282, Laws of Hong Kong, the Group
had maintained relevant insurance(s) to safeguard
the interests of its staff. During the Reporting Period,
there was no material non-compliance with applicable
laws and regulations relating to occupational health
and safety that could have a significant impact on the
Group.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

We believed that continuous staff training and
development were essential for enabling our employees
to discharge their duties and responsibilities effectively
and efficiently. Our training and development
programmes included without limitation on-the-job
training, seminars conducted by internal and external
professionals, etc. Employees, particularly those at
middle and senior levels, were encouraged to undertake
external training and professional examinations.

We valued the importance in career planning and
development for employees at all levels. We promoted
the on-the-job training which addressed the specific
needs of the duties and qualification requirements of
our employees, including topics such as occupational
health and safety, quality control, technical skills,
environmental protection and anti-corruption. We also
offered regular training and drills for employees at the
CNG fueling stations to keep them up-to-date with the
most recent safety practices in the Gas Distribution
and Logistics business.

In addition to internal training programmes, the Group
ensured the directors stay updated on the latest
regulatory requirements and corporate governance
practices. Additionally, employees were encouraged
to participate in continuous learning activities such
as seminars, workshops and conferences organised
by both governmental and professional bodies. A
more detailed discussion on the training to directors
and senior management, as well as certain training
programmes that were part of our risk management
and internal control systems, were set out on pages 47
and 48 of the Annual Report.
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LABOUR STANDARDS

We had established policies that strictly prohibited the
employment of child and forced labour. Employee’s
rights to working hours and leave entitlement complied
with relevant laws and regulations and had been
promoted and communicated to all staff, especially to
new hires. The relevant laws and regulations included
but are not limited to:

e the Employment of Children Regulations, Cap.
57B, Laws of Hong Kong;

e the Labour Law of the PRC;

e the Labour Contract Law of the PRC; and

e the Law of the PRC on the Protection of Minors.

In practice, the inspection of personal identity
documents of job applicants was conducted at the
recruitment stage. Employment contracts that set out
the rights and responsibilities of both parties were
made with each employee. These contracts were
designed to prohibit all forms of child and forced labour
and to protect the rights of employees. The heads
of the business units were required to communicate
actual work arrangements with management to
ensure employees had sufficient rest time and to
reduce overtime work in business operations. Under
no circumstances would we tolerate child and forced
labour. If any cases related to child and forced labour
were discovered, we would immediately terminate the
employment, coordinate an investigation into any non-
compliance identified, and take corrective actions and
appropriate penalties to prevent such incidents from
occurring again.

During the Reporting Period, there were no instances
of material non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations related to labour standards affecting the
Group. Furthermore, no cases of child and forced
labour were noted during the Reporting Period.
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

We had established long-term and stable partnerships
with suppliers who are recognised for their excellence,
fostering a sustainable supply chain. We believed that
high-quality and efficient services and products were
best provided through close cooperative relationships
with our suppliers. In respect of the Gas Distribution
and Logistics, our main suppliers were upstream
gas suppliers. In respect of the Property, Securities
and Financial Services Businesses, service providers
including securities brokers, legal and advisory
professionals, and office equipment and hardware
maintenance providers were engaged on an as-needed
basis.

We recognised that proper management of our supply
chain could have a positive impact on our natural
and social environment. Therefore, we strived to
promote our environmental and social practices and
communicate them with our partners along the supply
chain. Policies and procedures had been established
in our procurement process to select capable and
responsible suppliers, managing environmental and
social risks within the supply chain.

Product quality and price were typical risks in the
supply chain that we monitored closely during our
assessment of environmental and social risk. In line
with our established policies and procedures, we
strictly controlled the quality and price of materials
from suppliers during the goods acceptance process.
A list of qualified suppliers was maintained to ensure a
reliable source of raw materials. For example, our Gas
Distribution and Logistics upheld quality standards
for incoming CNG by obtaining quality inspection
certificates from the suppliers on a regular basis.

During the Reporting Period, there were no significant
incidents and irregularities related to business ethics,
environmental protection, and employment practices
among our main suppliers.
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We were conscious of the social and environmental
risks in our supply chain, particularly their implications
on the environment and communities where we
operated, and health and safety of our employees.
Hence, our supplier selection was considered not only
on general supplier aspects such as product quality,
price competitiveness, and production and delivery
capabilities, but also on environmental and social
aspects. A comprehensive evaluation on the new
suppliers were undertaken by the Group to ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations and
our policies and standards. We conducted annual
assessments on all our current suppliers to assess their
performance and to ensure consistent adherence to
our standards, particularly on environmental protection
and the Code of Conduct (the “Code of Conduct”).

Besides, we had long prioritised sustainable sourcing
on product purchased with minimal environmental
impacts. This included selecting electrical equipment
with higher energy efficiency labels, grades 1 and 2,
and using clean and sustainable energy.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

We were committed to offering products and services
that meet high standards of safety, quality and reliability
as well as these protecting our customers’ personal
data to uphold their trust in us.

Policies had been established in accordance with
relevant laws and regulations such as:

e the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Cap. 486,
Laws of Hong Kong;

e the Civil Code of the PRC;

e the Product Quality Law of the PRGC;

e the Law of the PRC on the Protection of
Consumer Rights and Interests; and

e the Regulation on the Administration of Urban
Gas.
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In respect of the Gas Distribution and Logistics,
quality management teams were established within
our operations to conduct regular inspections, quality
analyses and sample checks on the products and
services provided.

The ultimate goal for the Securities Business was
to deliver strong investment returns to shareholders
over the medium to long term. We had built a highly
qualified investment team dedicated to seeking
profitable investment opportunities. When a potential
investment opportunity arose, the investment team
evaluated it thoroughly and critically to reduce
investment risks and safeguard the best interests of
the shareholders. In making investment decisions,
we adopted a responsible and prudent approach to
balance profitability and risk.

In respect of the Financial Services Business, we
strived to provide reliable and flexible loan solutions
to customers. Comprehensive information regarding
loan services, such as terms and conditions for loans
and collateral as well as consequences of default,
was provided to customers, enabling them to make
well-informed decisions. In addition, adhering to
our customer-oriented principle, we offered prompt
responses and best assistance to our customers. Our
employees were well-trained and possessed adequate,
up-to-date knowledge of credit financing, and we had
engaged a professional legal adviser to review the
terms of loan contracts to ensure that the services
provided complied with all relevant regulations.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material
non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations
relating to product responsibility that could have a
significant impact on the Group.
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We placed a high priority on customer satisfaction
with our products and services and made efforts
to respond to customers’ feedback. We strived to
improve our customers’ experiences by actively
listening to their expectations through a variety of
communication channels. Upon receiving feedback,
the relevant departments would process it promptly
and reported the findings to the management. The
management would then review the feedback and
determine if internal controls and procedures needed
to be enhanced or if any other appropriate actions
were required.

We respected and strived to preserve intellectual
property rights by protecting the confidentiality of our
technology, avoiding disputes and preventing violations
of third-party property. In addition, we placed a high
priority on customer privacy and commercially sensitive
information protection. To protect this information, we
ensured our [T systems were properly safeguarded by
installing licenced and anti-virus software. To protect
the intellectual property of the Group, our trademarks
and domain names were registered in the relevant
jurisdiction(s). The Group also ensured that customers’
personal data was securely stored, and processed
only for the intended purpose. Access rights were
granted only to designated and authorised employees
on a need-to-know basis. Instructions regarding
confidentiality were clearly stated in the letters of
employment of our employees.

We complied with relevant data protection laws and
regulations such as the Copyright Ordinance, Cap.
528, Laws of Hong Kong, the Data Security Law of the
PRC and Personal Information Protection Law of the
PRC. Personal, confidential and commercially sensitive
information collected from stakeholders, including
employees, customers, suppliers or other business
partners, was protected against unlawful collection,
retention, dissemination and use in accordance with
the requirements of the relevant acts.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Company believed that honesty, integrity and
fair play were important assets in the Company’s
businesses. We were committed to ensuring that
the Company’s reputation was not tarnished by
dishonesty, disloyalty or corruption. Our Code of
Conduct, which included, among other things, the
anti-corruption policy, and our whistleblowing policy
helped to maintain the highest ethical standards of
transparency, fairness and accountability in accordance
with relevant laws and regulations such as:

e the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, Cap. 201,
Laws of Hong Kong;

e the Competition Ordinance, Cap. 619, Laws of

Hong Kong;

the Anti-money Laundering Law of the PRC;

the Company Law of the PRC;

the Criminal Law of the PRC;

the Anti-unfair Competition Law of the PRC; and

the Interim Provisions on the Prohibition of Commercial

Bribery.

All of the Company’s business dealings were on arm’s-
length terms without any favourable treatment resulting
from the personal interest of the staff. As outlined
in our Code of Conduct, it was our policy that no
employee should solicit and accept advantages from
suppliers, customers, competitors or any person in
connection with our business. Meanwhile, no employee
in the Group should offer any advantage without lawful
authority or reasonable excuse to any person as an
inducement or reward in connection with that person’s
work. Senior management and certain employees
were required to sign an undertaking to commit to
maintaining their integrity and self-discipline on their
duties pursuant to the relevant laws, regulations and
the Listing Rules. If any case of suspected corruption
or other criminal offence was discovered, it would
be reported to the Independent Commission Against
Corruption or other relevant authorities.
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In particular, as a financial services provider, our
employees handled money transactions in day-to-
day business operations. Potential risks of improper
or dishonest monetary transactions by customers
or employees could not be neglected. As part of
the loan approval process, we conducted customer
due diligence procedures using a risk assessment
approach to identify money laundering and terrorist
financing risks. Besides, measures to monitor and
report of suspicious cases were also implemented and
maintained throughout the operations of the Group.
Any suspicious transactions were reported to the
management immediately.

To maintain high standards of business ethics and
integrity, directors and employees were encouraged
to participate and attend the anti-corruption training.
During the Reporting Period, we encouraged
directors to attend briefings and seminars organised
by professional bodies to stay updated on anti-
money laundering regulations and practices, thereby
enhancing their understanding of anti-corruption.
Policy/code covered issues such as prevention of
bribery, solicitation and acceptance of advantages, and
conflicts of interest was provided to new employees to
raise their awareness of anti-corruption.

All employees were trained and encouraged to assist
in tackling fraud, corruption and other malpractice,
and to report any suspicions of bribery through the
enquiry and complaint procedures of the Group. We
had established specific channels for employees and
third parties to make confidential report on irregularities
that come to their attention. We also had measures
in place to ensure that no employee would suffer
workplace disadvantages for reporting irregularities.
The effectiveness of these procedures was reviewed
and monitored by the audit committee of the Company
and approved by the Board.

During the Reporting Period, there was no significant
non-compliance with anti-corruption laws and
regulations that could impact the Group. Additionally,
there were no legal cases of corruption brought against
the Company and its employees.
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RiR #HERERHE

COMMITMENT TO COMMUNITY

We placed high value on community services, actively
contributing to and participating in communities
where we operated through charitable and community
activities. We were awarded the title of “Caring
Company” by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service
for over a decade in recognition of our corporate
citizenship and our ongoing efforts in caring for the
community.

In order to spread more positive energy within the
community, we encouraged our employees to
participate in social activities and engage in volunteer
work organised by local charities including visiting the
elderly. Supporting underprivileged groups, such as the
elderly, low-income families and the homeless people,
was one of the focal points of our community work.
During the Reporting Period, we participated in and
made donations to “Dress Casual Day 2024” and “Skip
Lunch Day 2025” organised by the Community Chest.

We will continue to explore opportunities to contribute

to the community through charitable donations or
community activities in future.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS —

BEENIEE — ghs R

SOCIALNotes 1and 4
PROPERTY,
GAS DISTRIBUTION SECURITIES AND
SOCIAL KPIs UNIT AND LOGISTICS | FINANCIAL SERVICES | KPLRef
remRmNEE B | AREERSR ng- mpn | DREX
sHEy | RR
2025 | 2024 2025 | 2024
Employment
ER®
Total number of employees person 47 82 17 16| <B1.1>
BETAY AR
By gender Male % 44.68 58.54 64.71 50.00
B 5 E D Sk
Female % 55.32 41.46 35.29 50.00
g4
By employment type Monthly Paid % 85.11 87.80 100.00 100.00
BRERELED Permanent Staff
AHRHET
Monthly Paid Contract Staff % 14.89 10.98 0 0
RHEHET
Daily Paid Staff % 0 1.22 0 0
BHET
By age group Under 30 years old % 0 0 0 0
RERARZS 0FEAT
30-50 years old % 57.45 73.17 47.06 37.50
30E50%
Over 50 years old % 42.55 26.83 52.94 62.50
5050 L
By geographical region | Mainland China % 100.00 100.00 0 0
BiEE» B3t
Hong Kong % 0 0 100.00 100.00
B
Total turnover rate of employees "*°* % 25.53 10.98 41.18 56.25 | <B1.2>
Bk
By gender Male % 28.57 8.33 45.45 62.50
RIERIE S Sk
Female % 23.08 14.71 33.33 50.00
g4
By age group Under 30 years old % N/A N/A N/A N/A
RERENED 0FAT TERA ~EA TEA | TEA
30-50 years old % 7.41 10.00 25.00 83.33
30E507%
Over 50 years old % 50.00 13.64 55.56 40.00
50BM £
By geographical region | Mainland China % 25.53 10.98 N/A N/A
BEE S FE R rER | TER
Hong Kong % N/A N/A 41.18 56.25
BB ~ER TER
ENZERARAR 2025 Fik
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PROPERTY,
GAS DISTRIBUTION SECURITIES AND
SOCIAL KPIs UNIT ANDLOGISTICS | FINANCIAL SERVICES | e i
HEBRENEE B | #REXRWR ng BER | DRAS
sREy | FROF
2025 | 2024 2025 | 2024
Health and Safety
RERZZ
Number of work-related fatalities " person 0 0 0 0| <B2.1>
BRI AR AR
Rate of work-related fatalities **” % 0 0 0 0
TR "
Number of lost days due to work injury day 0 0 0 0| <B2z2>
RIGEANTIERY XE
Average lost days per case due to work injuries day 0 0 0 0
FRIGEHNHTHREXXRE N |
Development and Training
BEREN
Percentage of employees trained % 100.00 100.00 17.65 N/A | <B3.1>
XIEIBAL TEHA
By gender Male % 45.83 58.54 66.67 N/A
B HIE D C )i TER
Female % 54.17 41.46 83188 N/A
g kd TER
By employee level Executive management % 6.25 6.10 100.00 N/A
REERHED TREEAE TER
Middle management % 10.42 18.29 0 N/A
TREBAE TEA
General staff % 83.33 75.61 0 N/A
—RET TEHA
Average training hours per employee hour 0.19 0.83 2.53 N/A | <B3.2>
FREENTHRIEGH B &1 T A
By gender Male hour 0.19 1.00 2.45 N/A
B 5 E D )i 53 TER
Female hour 0.18 0.60 2.67 N/A
it B &4 TER
By employee level Executive management hour 0.30 2.36 10.75 N/A
& B & HIE 5 THERAE 23 TER
Middle management hour 0.07 1.89 0 N/A
TREBAE 53 TER
General staff hour 0.21 0.45 0 N/A
—RET 534 TER
Supply Chain Management
HEEEE
By geographical region | Mainland China "*** supplier 12 28 N/A N/A | <B5.1>
12308 85 R E At R TEA | TEA
Hong Kong "*** supplier 0 0 N/A N/A
R HpER TEA | TEA
Product Responsibility
EmEf
I\iumbe[ of complaints received case 0 1 0 0| <Bb62>
ERERFTRY R
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Social KPIs in this data table reflected the data for the reporting periods
from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 under the 2025 column and from
1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 under the 2024 column respectively.

The increase in the employee turnover rate for the Gas Distribution and
Logistics was attributed to the closure of a CNG fueling station, resulting
in the departure of its associated employees.

The Group had no work-related fatalities in the past three years.

The service providers of the Property, Securities and Financial Services
Businesses were not considered as part of our supply chain and therefore
no specific number of suppliers was identified. Therefore, this KPI was
marked as N/A in the table.

The Gas Distribution and Logistics had no product subject to recall
for safety and health reasons. As a service company for the Property,
Securities and Financial Services Businesses, we did not sell products
subject to recall for safety and health reasons. Therefore, no relevant KPI
was disclosed in the table.
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The directors had pleasure in presenting their
annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of Blue River Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries and associates
as at 31 March 2025 were set out in Note 46 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review was set out on pages 8 to 28 of
this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group and appropriations of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2025 were
set out in the consolidated income statement on
pages 139 and 140 of this annual report and in the
accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
Statements.

No interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025
was declared during the year (2024: Nil).

The directors had resolved not to recommend for

shareholders’ approval the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report

E = R #A 1% £ Blue River Holdings Limited
EAERERARUTARRR] KEH
BAR(GIMIAEE]) B E2025%F3 A
SIHEFEZFRELCEZISLE WTH
K o

AR B —HEEZERAT

KRR EENB AR REEE QRN
2025F3HB1H 2 X% H I Néx & Bt
HmF M 5E46 -

EKER
¥BEGREI RN AFRESE28H o

EXERNED
HE2025F3A3IHIEFEARAER 2

¥EREARABZHMER @E%WIJ%Z!XEE
WEION140B 2l m Rk M ER
BB BRERMGE -

RER - AAR W ESRE E2025F3
A31HIEFE ZHHK B (2024 : £) -

EEERATEZRELERNTEE
2025 3 A31 8 IFF E 2 1F i R H ix
B (2024 : #) o



MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, revenue from
the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 65% of the Group’s revenue and
revenue from the largest customer included therein
amounted to approximately 64%. Purchases from
the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 98% of the Group’s total purchases and
purchases from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to approximately 79%.

As far as the directors were aware, none of the
directors and their close associates within the meaning
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”), or those shareholders who to the knowledge of
the directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital, had an interest in any of the five largest
customers and/or five largest suppliers of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2025.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group currently maintained a variety of credit
facilities to meet its working capital requirements.
As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s total borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$91,051,000 repayable
on demand or within one year. Cash, bank balances
and deposits as at 31 March 2025 amounted to
approximately HK$21,581,000. The Group’s current
ratio (calculated as total current assets divided by total
current liabilities) was 0.75 and the gearing ratio (calculated
as total borrowings divided by equity attributable to
owners of the Company) was 0.11 as at 31 March
2025.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the issued share capital of the
Company during the year were set out in Note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
had adopted a dividend policy with no pre-determined
dividend distribution ratio. In considering payment
of dividends, there shall be a balance between
maintaining sufficient capital reserves for future growth
of the business of the Group and allowing shareholders
to participate in the Company’s profits.

The Board shall also take into account, among other
things, the following factors when considering the
declaration and payment of dividends:

(@) the actual and expected financial performance of
the Group;

(b) retained profits and distributable reserves of the
Group;

(¢) the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio,
return on equity and the applicable financial
covenants that may be imposed by the Group’s
lenders;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may
be imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(e) the Group’s expected working capital
requirements and future expansion plans;

()  general economic conditions, cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that
may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

(90 any other factors that the Board deems
appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the
Company is also subject to compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations including the laws of
Bermuda and the Company’s bye-laws.

The Board will continually review the dividend policy.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

Share Award Scheme

(1)

)

3

Purpose

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by
the shareholders of the Company at its special
general meeting held on 3 May 2021 (the “Adoption
Date”), the Company adopted a share award
scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”). The specific
objectives of the Share Award Scheme are (i) to
recognise the contributions by certain eligible
participants and to provide them with incentives
in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group, particularly in
respect of the principal business of the Group
from time to time; and (ii) to enhance the Group’s
competitiveness in attracting and/or retaining
suitable personnel or professionals who are
capable of making contributions to the continual
operation, growth and development of the Group,
particularly in respect of the principal business of
the Group from time to time.

Participants

Eligible participants under the Share Award
Scheme are any employee (whether full time or
part time), executive or officers, directors (including
any executive director, non-executive director and
independent non-executive director) and senior
management, of any member of the Group, who,
in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed
or may contribute to the continual operation,
growth and development of the Group, particularly
in respect of the principal business of the Group
from time to time.

Total number of shares available for issue
The maximum number of awarded shares that
may be issued pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme would be 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company at the Adoption Date
(the “Share Award Scheme Mandate Limit"),
being 110,391,611 shares. The Board may from
time to time at its absolute discretion to grant
the awarded share(s) to the eligible participant(s)
without affecting the operation of the Share Award
Scheme in general and in such number and
subject to such terms and conditions as the Board
may in its absolute discretion determine.
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(4)

Subject always to the Share Award Scheme
Mandate Limit, a limit equal to 3% of the
Company’s issued share capital as at the date
on which the specific mandate is approved by
the shareholders of the Company at the general
meeting as the maximum number of awarded
shares which can be issued (the “Annual Limit”)
from the date of such general meeting of the
Company to the earliest of (a) the conclusion of
the next annual general meeting of the Company;
(b) the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company is
required by its bye-laws or any applicable law to
be held; and (c) the revocation or variation of the
approval by members of the Company in general
meeting.

The Board was authorised by the shareholders of
the Company at the annual general meeting held
on 3 September 2021 (the “2021 AGM”) for the
Annual Limit of 33,117,483 shares, being equal to
3% of the Company’s issued share capital as at
the date of the 2021 AGM.

No share had been granted or allocated under
the Share Award Scheme since the Adoption
Date. The Annual Limit had not been refreshed
by the Company at the annual general meeting
held on 28 August 2024, thus the Company is
not entitled to grant any shares under the Share
Award Scheme as at the date of this report.
The Company may not grant share until the
refreshment of the Annual Limit is approved by
the shareholders of the Company at a general
meeting. No service provider sublimit was set
under the Share Award Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum aggregate number of shares which
can be granted to an eligible participant selected
by the Board to participate in the Share Award
Scheme (the “Selected Grantee”) shall not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time.
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(%)

(6)

(7)

(@)

Vesting period and condition(s), if any

The Board is entitled to impose any condition(s)
as it deems appropriate in its absolute discretion
with respect to the vesting of the awarded shares
on the Selected Grantee (including without
limitation the vesting period within which the
shares awarded may be exercised by the Selected
Grantee under the Share Award Scheme, the
vesting period of the shares granted under the
Share Award Scheme).

Payment and period for acceptance

Selected Grantees are not required to make any
payment to accept an award and the relevant
subscription price will be paid by the Company.

Basis for determining the purchase price of
shares awarded, if any

As no payment is required to be made by the
Selected Grantees, the basis of determining the
purchase price of share awarded in the Share
Award Scheme is not applicable herein.

Remaining life

The Share Award Scheme would be valid and
effective for ten years commencing on the
Adoption Date. The Share Award Scheme shall
terminate on the earlier of the 10" anniversary
date of the Adoption Date or such date of
early termination as determined by the Board
provided that such termination shall not affect any
subsisting rights of the Selected Grantees.

The Board resolved, on 30 September 2024,
that the Share Award Scheme were terminated
pursuant to the rules relating to Share Award
Scheme (the “Share Award Scheme Rules”)
adopted on 3 May 2021. Such early termination
did not affect any subsisting rights of the Selected
Grantees as no share had been granted or allotted
under the Share Award Scheme since its Adoption
Date.

Upon early termination of the Share Award
Scheme on 30 September 2024 and as at 31
March 2025 respectively, the Company or any of
its principal subsidiaries did not have any scheme
involving issue of new shares under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules.

)

(6)

(7)

)
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Share Option Scheme

On 10 September 2012, the Company adopted
a share option scheme (the “2012 Share Option
Scheme”) which expired on 9 September 2022. There
were no outstanding share options granted under the
2012 Share Option Scheme as at 31 March 2025.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group did not enter into any transactions which
constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions that were subject to reporting
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions were set out
in Note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.
Those related party transactions did not constitute
connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of
any business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2025.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share
Incentive Schemes”, no equity-linked agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
were entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share incentive schemes disclosed
above, at no time during the year or at the end of
the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

The Company’s reserve available for distribution
to shareholders as at 31 March 2025 amounted to
approximately HK$212,094,000 (2024: HK$322,913,000).

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up
to the date of this report were:

Executive directors

Kwong Kai Sing, Benny (“Mr Kwong”)
(chairman and managing director)
Au Wai June (“Mr Au”)

Independent non-executive directors

Yu Chung Leung (“Mr Yu”)

Lam John Cheung-wah (“Mr Lam”)

William Nicholas Giles (“Mr Giles”)

(resigned with effect from 17 January 2025)

Liu Jianyi (“Ms Liu”)

(appointed with effect from 27 December 2024)
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In accordance with bye-laws 84(1) and 84(2) of the
Company’s bye-laws, Mr Kwong and Mr Au will retire
from office by rotation and, being eligible, will stand for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

As recommended by the nomination committee and
the remuneration committee of the Company and
approved by the Board, Ms Liu was appointed by as
an independent non-executive director of the Company
with effect from 27 December 2024. In accordance
with bye-laws 83(2) of the Company’s bye-laws, Ms Liu
will hold office until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election.

The biographical details of the retiring directors will
be set out in a circular, which shall be despatched to
shareholders of the Company around 29 July 2025 to
assist shareholders in making an informed decision on
their re-elections.

Directors (including independent non-executive
directors) are subject to retirement by rotation
requirements under the Company’s bye-laws, and they
were appointed for a specific term of approximately
three years, particulars of which are set out on page
46 of the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting had a service contract with the
Group which was not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions
of each of the directors and the chief executive of the
Company in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company, as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the Securities and Futures
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EERBESE
EERERTHRAERKRA - H
ERORESF2EERKXR

R2025F3H31H AARIBTESEF K
K TBABRARA 2D &IEB
B FBERESERBEGE S MNPER
BIYCEH R EBEEH)]) £3521& A
TUEGFZ2EEMAKBE(ETR

Ordinance (the “SFO”) or as otherwise notified to the  BI) M &XC3H E M BT A E EHTHE
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 3% 2 SR ESFR([ZREFR]]) A
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model THE AR 7 &E é‘% ./:.\ 5& K]
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed BE AR 2R KB FH
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 wmr
to the Listing Rules, are set out below:
Number of shares/underlying shares held
BERG HEARGEE
(Note 1 &t 1)

Approximate
Name of director/ Personal Family Corporate Other % of issued
chief executive Capacity interests  interests  interests interests Total share capital

HE BT

B2 B8 gl
THABHS g4 BAEZ Fk#Ez QREZ HttEz By HHBEIt

(Note iy i 2)
Mr Kwong Beneficial owner 93,003,200 — — — 93,003,200 8.93%
B A EREAA (Note [t it 3)
Notes: st -
1. All the above interests in the shares and underlying shares of the 1. FRARBBROREBEROZEZHABTE - R

Company were long positions. None of the directors and the chief
executive of the Company held any short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as at 31 March 2025.

2. As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s total number of issued shares was
1,040,946,114.

3. Such interests held by Mr Kwong comprised 93,003,200 shares.

2025F3A31H ARAEERGERITHABEE
RARB D RABBERG R EEAKE -

2. N2025%3A31H AARZEBRTRNHDABHR
1,040,946,114 % °

3. ZERB AR B 2 & 5 1593,003,200% i 7 ©
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none
of the directors or the chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at 31 March 2025, none of the directors of the
Company was interested in any business (apart from
the Group’s businesses) which competed or was likely
to compete, either directly and indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as those disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF =
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER RE

PERSONS

As at 31 March 2025, so far as is known to the
directors and the chief executive of the Company,
the interests and short positions of the substantial
shareholders/other persons in the shares and

hY

RN

S
Y
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BRE Htt AT ZEER

R2025F3A31H * AR AEE MKx
SITHRABA EBRE Efh AL
RARRAIIRD M AEBRR 5D 5 A 8k
MR EB(E SR MBI E KB E 336K E T

underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the #F 2 EBRMARZEZEABWT
register required to be kept under section 336 of the
SFO are as follows:

Number Approximate
of shares/ % of
underlying the issued

Name of shareholder Capacity shares held share capital
BERG HEBRITRE
BRREE A8 87 HMEARGOBE 2BHNBEIHL
(Note ff it 1) (Note fff 7% 2)
Mr Kitchell Osman Bin (“Mr Kitchell”) Beneficial owner 255,000,000 24.50%
Kitchell Osman Bin 5t 4 ([ Kitchell 5t & ]) EXHEE A (Note i #£3)
Ms Lo Ki Yan Karen (“Ms Lo”) Beneficial owner 100,260,000 9.63%
BEExt(®ELL]) B %A A (Note fffit4)
Interest of controlled corporation
X 1R % B (Note 1 i3 4)
Planetree International Development Limited Interest of controlled corporation 100,260,000 9.63%
(“PIDL")
BRERERER AR ((ERERER]) X1 EE R (Note M5t 4)
Planetree International Limited (“PIL”) Interest of controlled corporation 100,260,000 9.63%
Planetree International Limited ([PIL]) X VE % E R’ % (Note 1 i 4)
Mr Kwong Beneficial owner 93,003,200 8.93%
B & E#m %A A (Note i 518)
Oshidori International Holdings Limited (“Oshidori”) Interest of controlled corporation 58,560,000 5.63%
BEEERERAR (THEE] XL E 5 (Note M 5t6)
Enerchina Investments Limited (“Enerchina”) Interest of controlled corporation 58,560,000 5.63%
Enerchina Investments Limited ([ Enerchina ) XA B # % (Note [1:56)
Uptown WW Capital Group Limited Interest of controlled corporation 58,560,000 5.63%

(“UWW Capital Cayman”)
Uptown WW Capital Group Limited
(TUWW Capital Cayman )

TYEKE RS (Note 1 it 6)
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Number Approximate

of shares/
underlying the issued
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held share capital
BER®B HEBRTRE
RREE A8 27 HEARGOHE Z2BHABIH
(Note ff i# 1)  (Note M1 &+ 2)
Uptown WW Capital Group Limited Interest of controlled corporation 58,560,000
(“UWW Capital BVI”)
Uptown WW Capital Group Limited X VE % E R % (Note 171 6)
(TUWW Capital BVIJ)
Uptown WW Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 58,560,000
(“UWW Holdings”)
Uptown WW Holdings Limited %1 LB # % (Note H1:16)
(TUWW Holdings )
Kenson Investment Limited (“Kenson”) Beneficial owner 58,560,000

Kenson Investment Limited ([ Kenson )

Notes:

EXHEE A (Note I #£6)

1.

All the above interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company were long positions.

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s total number of issued shares was
1,040,946,114.

Such interests held by Mr Kitchell comprised 255,000,000 shares.

100,260,000 shares of the Company comprised (a) 50,260,000 shares
held by a company which was 47.84% owned by PIL; and (b) 50,000,000
shares held by certain wholly owned subsidiaries of PIDL. PIL was wholly
owned by PIDL which was in turn 67% owned by Ms Lo.

Such interests held by Mr Kwong comprised 93,003,200 shares.

Kenson owned 58,560,000 shares in the Company. Kenson is wholly
owned by UWW Holdings which is wholly owned by UWW Capital BVI.
UWW Capital BVI is wholly owned by UWW Capital Cayman which is
wholly owned by Enerchina and Enerchina is wholly owned by Oshidori.
Accordingly, UWW Holdings, UWW Capital BVI, UWW Capital Cayman,
Enerchina and Oshidori were deemed to be interested in the said
58,560,000 shares held by Kenson.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the
Company had not been notified of any interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register of the Company
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received, from each of the
independent non-executive directors, an annual
confirmation of his independence. The Company
considered all of the independent non-executive
directors are independent in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed a total of
68 (2024: 100) full-time employees, inclusive of the
directors of the Company. Remuneration packages
consisted of salary as well as performance-based
bonus.

Under the Group’s existing remuneration policy, pay
rate of employees were maintained at competitive
level with reference to the merits, qualification and
competence of the employees while promotion
and increments were based on performance of the
respective employees.

The remuneration of the directors of the Company
was decided by the remuneration committee of the
Company, having regard to various factors including
without limitation the prevailing market conditions,
salary paid by comparable companies, duties and
responsibilities of a director, employment conditions
elsewhere and the time committed by the director
concerned.
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Further, the Company had implemented share-related
incentive scheme previously to provide alternative
means to motivate employees and promote their
loyalty in line with the Group’s strategy. Such schemes
benefited the Group’s staff in both Hong Kong and the
People’s Republic of China. Particulars of the Share-
related incentive scheme(s) was set out in the section “Share
Incentive Schemes” of this report.

Details of the remuneration policy of the Company
are set out on pages 52 and 53 of the Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Information on the Group’s retirement benefit schemes
was set out in Note 39 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There were no provisions for pre-emptive rights under
the Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders although
there were no restrictions against such rights under the
laws of Bermuda.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles

and practices were set out on pages 35 to 74 of the
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company’s performance in various environmental
and social aspects during the year was set out on
pages 75 to 109 of the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available to
the Company and within the knowledge of the directors
of the Company, at least 25% (that is, the prescribed
public float applicable to the Company under the
Listing Rules) of the issued shares in the Company
were held by the public as at the date of this report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

During the period from April to June 2024, the
Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
disposed of a total of 3,288,000 shares of Bradaverse
Education (Int’l) Investments Group Limited (stock
code: 1082.HK) (the “BEIG Share(s)”), whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
in the open market for an aggregate consideration of
HK$4,775,000 (exclusive of transaction costs) (the
“Previous BEIG Disposal”).

On 29 August 2024, the Company, through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, disposed of a total of
1,064,000 BEIG Shares on the open market for an
aggregate consideration of HK$1,744,960 (exclusive
of transaction costs) (equivalent to an average price
of HK$1.640 per BEIG Share) (the “BEIG Disposal”).
The Previous BEIG Disposal and the BEIG Disposal,
which took place within a 12-month period, were
aggregated as a single series of transactions pursuant
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and constituted
a discloseable transaction of the Company, details
of which were set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 29 August 2024.
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On 17 October 2024, the Company, through its wholly-
owned subsidiary, disposed of a total of 159,000,000
shares of Oshidori International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 622) (the “Oshidori Shares”), whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, on
the open market for an aggregate consideration of
HK$27,030,000 (exclusive of transaction costs) (equivalent
to an average price of HK$0.17 per Oshidori Shares) (the
“Oshidori Disposal”). The Oshidori Disposal constituted
a discloseable transaction of the Company, the details
of which were set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 17 October 2024. Subsequent to the
Oshidori Disposal, the Group is holding an aggregate
of 306,000,000 Oshidori Shares, representing
approximately 4.9% of the total issued share capital of
Oshidori at the date of this report.

Golden Lake Property Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a provisional
conditional sale and purchase agreement dated
15 November 2024 (the “Provisional SPA”) and the
subsequent formal agreement, as supplemented by
a supplemental agreement, both dated 29 November
2024 (collectively, the “Formal Agreement”) with Mrs.
Lui Ip, King Yee Elsa and the property agent, A Land
Property Limited, both of which are an independent
third party in respect of the disposal of the whole floor
of the 9th floor, E-Trade Plaza and three carparks (no.
222,223,224) on the 2nd floor of E-Trade Plaza, 24
Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong (the “E-Trade
Property”) at a consideration of HK$50 million (the “E-Trade
Disposal”) pursuant to the terms of the Formal
Agreement. Upon passing of the relevant resolution by
the shareholders of the Company at the special general
meeting on 16 January 2025 (the “SGM”) approving,
inter alia, the E-Trade Disposal and the transactions
contemplated thereunder, the completion of the E-Trade
Disposal took place on 31 March 2025. Details of the
E-Trade Disposal were set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 15 November 2024 and 2
April 2025 and the circular of the Company dated 27
December 2024 respectively.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report

O

MR2024F10H17H » &K R &) & ;
2EWBRARARRAAMBHES
159,000,000 % B FEZE R A R A A (
ORI ER LM BHRR:
622) W (R EZEKRD])  BRE A
27,030,000/8 T (T B IER S A) (48
ERFHESREEZERMA7TET)
([BEEHEEER]) HEEHESEE
BRARFAMNEBETHEERS  FHH
MR RQ T BE A2024F10 A17H B A
EoRAREAY EREEELES
15 1%+ A & E & %5 B 306,000,000 f%
BEERD BEREEZE2HE
TR AN #74.9% ©

OHF Ot

553
&=

=
N

\|

<

EHMEERARI(ARAIZE2EWNE
N HEEEREZLTIRYERERSE
MEBRRAI(MEHYARBLE=TF)
31 HEIA2024F 11 B15B 2 e A
BKHEEwE(BREESERS]) MHE
BERN R (KRBT HEMET MH
sk B Hi9 B20245 11 29 H ) (4 78
BIEXHE]D  FPERBEBEEXHE
R FARAES,0008 B T i & &8 4
FREURRERESHIERE RUN2
BH=@EEAM(fRIR222 - 223 &% 224)
(REMED((RELEEE] A
N AR E R2025F1 416 8 £ 17 2 &
REFIARE((REFIARAE]) EBB
R AZRLE(ERER) RELE
EELNEETHRET RSB RE
HEFEIEN2025F3A31BTEK - 5@
RELNEETBEZHFBIAINSER AR A
HEHI A2024F11 A15H k202594 A2
Hz AERARQGE BB A2024F12 8
2TH 2K °



On 18 March 2025, the Company, through its wholly-
owned subsidiary, disposed of a total of 8,000,000
shares of Hao Tian International Construction
Investment Group Limited (2 KBIRERKEEEH
£ R A 7\]), a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability, the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 1341) (the “Ho Tian Shares”) in the open market
for an aggregate consideration of HK$6,400,000 (exclusive
of transaction costs) (equivalent to an average price of
HK$0.8 per Ho Tian Shares) (the “Ho Tian Disposal”).
The Ho Tian Disposal constituted a discloseable
transaction of the Company, the details of which were
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 18
March 2025.

On 31 March 2025, the Company, through its wholly
owned subsidiary, disposed of a total of 199,962,000
shares of Central Wealth Group Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability,
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 139) (the “Central
Wealth Shares”) in the open market for an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$7,000,000 (exclusive
of transaction costs) (equivalent to an average price
of HK$0.035 per Central Wealth Shares) (the “Central
Wealth Disposal”). The Central Wealth Disposal
constituted a discloseable transaction of the Company,
the details of which were set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 31 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other
material acquisition(s) and disposal(s) during the Period
and up to the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESRBREE

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’
INFORMATION PURSUANT TO RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the
changes in directors’ information subsequent to the
date of the Company’s last interim report and up to the
date to this annual report were set out below:

(1)

Mr Yu had been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Esprit Holdings Limited,
a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability, whose shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock
code: 330) with effect from 24 January 2025;

Ms Liu was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect
from 27 December 2024 and was subsequently
appointed as chairmen of corporate governance
and compliance committee of the Company and
the share repurchase committee of the Company,
a member of the audit committee of the Company,
the remuneration Committee of the Company and
the nomination committee of the Company with
effect from 17 January 2025; and

Mr Giles resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the Company as well
as chairmen of corporate governance and
compliance committee of the Company and the
share repurchase committee of the Company, a
member of the audit committee of the Company,
the remuneration Committee of the Company and
the nomination committee of the Company with
effect from 17 January 2025.
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DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULES
13.20 AND 13.22 OF THE LISTING RULES

(1) Advances to entities

As at 31 March 2025, advances to entities did not
individually exceed 8% under the assets ratio as
defined under Rule 14.07(1) of the Listing Rules.

(2) Financial assistance and guarantees
given to affiliated companies

As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of
the financial assistance provided by the Group to
its affiliated companies (as defined under Chapter
13 of the Listing Rules) did not exceed 8% under
the assets ratio as defined under Rule 14.07(1)
of the Listing Rules. As at 31 March 2025, there
was no guarantee given by the Group for facilities
granted to its affiliated companies.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s bye-laws provides that the directors
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which may incur or sustain by or by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty,
in their offices, provided that this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any negligence,
default, fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any
directors. Directors’ liability insurance had been in
place to protect the directors against potential costs
and liabilities arising from claims brought against the
directors.

DONATIONS

No charitable donation was made by the Group during
the year (2024: Nil).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESRBREE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no major subsequent events occurred
since the end of the reporting period and up to the
date of this report.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025 were audited by Crowe (HK)
CPA Limited who shall retire in the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer itself for re-
appointment.

A resolution to re-appoint Crowe (HK) CPA Limited as
auditor of the Company and to authorise the directors
of the Company to fix its remuneration will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Kwong Kai Sing, Benny
Chairman and Managing Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Crowe

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

BLUE RIVER HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Blue River Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 139 to 303, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZEEKRES

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Impairment assessment on interests in associates
We identified the impairment assessment on interests
in associates as a key audit matter due to the
significance of these investments to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and significant
judgement is required to estimate the recoverable
amounts of interests in associates. As at 31 March
2025, the carrying amount of interests in associates
amounted to HK$590,616,000 as stated in Note
21 to the consolidated financial statements, which
representing approximately 63% of the total assets of
the Group.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report

ERNER

BZPEREBEFLSSHABASHEMNE
BEAENTEBEAENDETE
T HBEBLERT  BAMETEER
BENZBEREZEE M B RER
EE—fhHEL - REFESAMA
g (EEXSFER TR (BRI
Al ®RMBIR E5E YD ERE
SRAIETEMERET - HAIEE - R
MAEGSHERRIERT EMNEEH
REMNEZERREHEER -

FREXRER

RBEHRMNBRHAE BARREZSFE
SREMERARESMBRRTHRE
ZNEH -BMEERBERBEAMK
HRMBRU KBRS REE I F S
H-MAERESEIEHEBERER -

REBEN G2z 2 EF
BB RE L RA) 2w 2 BEFH
SR RAREZSESEIIERNZERE
i ESESRAUBEBRERONEE N
BB E s cEm 2 RE &
R IE & KA E o 20253 A 31
B 4R & BF & 3R & M 5E21 By sl 70 Bt 2
N A Z w2 B8R {E 4590,616,000 7
T EER ESEREEXGI% -



As disclosed in Note 3(g) to the consolidated financial
statements, interests in associates are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associates, less impairment in the values of individual
investments. As such, the Group is required to assess
at the end of each reporting period whether there is
any indication that the carrying amount of interests
in associates may be impaired. For those associates
in which such indication exists, the Group assessed
the recoverable amounts for impairment, with the
assistance of an independent external valuer appointed
by the management.

The accounting policies and disclosure in relation to
the interests in associates are set out in Notes 3(g), 4,
and 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment on interests in associates included the
following:

e  obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design and implementation of key internal controls
relating to the identifications of impairment
indicators and the assessment of the recoverable
amount of the interests in associates;

e where indicators of impairment have been
identified, assessing the reasonableness of the
recoverable amount of each of the associates and
obtaining an understanding from the management
of their financial position and future prospects;

e evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the external valuer appointed by the
management; and

e understanding the management process for
determining and assessing the reasonableness of
key inputs and assumptions used by management
in their estimation of recoverable amounts of
those interests in associates with impairment
indicators. We also involved our internal valuation
expert to assess the appropriateness of valuation
methodologies, key inputs and assumptions used.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZEEKRES

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHBMAHES

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, HMBIEEEETERETEZNT
we exercise professional judgment and maintain  fEZ — REF R E X EEEEZ
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: BEPRFERERREE - &HME
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e |dentify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
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e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant THRERZBBEMNNIIES - AR
to the audit in order to design audit procedures TR ENEZER BINIFEEY
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not ESEMNAIESNE R EERX
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 2R

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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From the matters communicated with those charged
with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 26 June 2025

Lam Cheung Shing
Practising Certificate Number P03552
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

ma sk
For the year ended 31 March 2025
B ZE20255F3 431 AILFE
2025 2024
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Kt aF FET FHET
Revenue WA
Sales and services income e MR U A 6 37,044 51,468
Interest income B WA 6 919 8,702
Rental income el A 6 1,050 1,800
39,013 61,970
Cost of sales and services rendered  $5& & 12 £ AR 75 &9 5 &K (28,902) (38,186)
Gross profit = F 10,111 03,784
Other income H 4 A 8 4,504 149
Other gains and losses H s M E B 9 (36,696) (3,308)
Administrative expenses TREHR (45,128) (107,703
Distribution and selling expenses NEREEE R (8,456) (15,300)
Impairment loss (recognised) reversed 4 &t & & 2 i & &5 18
on financial assets, net () B =¥ 58 10 (3,696) 31,071
Finance costs B & AR 11 (1,567) (6,627)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWE R ZWEH 36 - 59,323
Fair value changes of investment KEMEZ A FEER
properties g=y) (3,500) (9,800)
Share of results of associates BB RREE (93,088) (230,608)
Share of results of a joint venture BO—RHeEREXE 123 (4,642)
Loss before taxation bR B A B 18 13 (177,393) (263,661)
Taxation 18 14 8 351
Loss for the year FEEE (177,385) (263,310)
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

mEWER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A31BIEFE

2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss for the year attributable to: IWTATEEFESE:
— Owners of the Company - WNEIE Z=DN (177,376) (265,263)
— Non-controlling interests — R E R ) 1,953
(177,385)  (263,310)
Notes HK cents HK cents
K &t A Al
Loss per share % &5 18 16
Basic and diluted EARKEE (17.0) (25.5)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

financial statements.

o8
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
A € g

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3 A3 HIEFE

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TAT

Loss for the year FEEE (177,385) (263,310)

Other comprehensive income (expense) £t 2 T W % (B8 %)
Items that will not be reclassified to T EEN S EEBEBRZ
profit or loss 5 H
Change in fair value of financial assets A FEEGAEM 2T
measured at fair value through other W (MR A FEEZE

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), Hiwz2Ekz=E]) 22 raﬂ
net of tax BEZANFEERZ
(FBRT 2 1&) 102,184 (115,627)
Share of other comprehensive expense #{HEt 2 AN Al 2 Ef 2@
of associates < (32,915) (2,510)
ltems that may be subsequently AIRARBREN D EBEBRZ
reclassified to profit or loss HH
Exchange differences arising from HMmEEINEBEMEELZ
translation of foreign operations M =R (41) (3,079
Reclassification adjustment on disposal 1 & W BRARIZEHHE
of subsidiaries Bk - (32,739

Other comprehensive income (expense) FE E b 2w W= (FAx)

for the year 69,228 (153,955)
Total comprehensive expense FETHRAZERE
for the year (108,157) (417,265)

Total comprehensive (expense) income  JA T~ A 1 &5 & V 2 MH

for the year attributable to: (AX)Wzm4ad
— Owners of the Company o YNEGIE? %] A (108,148) (419,218)
— Non-controlling interests —FEE R 9) 1,953

(108,157)  (417,265)

TZMESZEMBEREK ZAKE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBRRR

As at 31 March 2025
720253 A31H

2025 2024
Notes ~ HK$’000 HK$’000
ff it TR TAT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment E R X 17 9,314 18,491
Right-of-use assets TRAEEE 18 6,524 6,841
Investment properties KEYHE 19 - 53,500
Intangible assets BmEEE 20 1,009 1,058
Interests in associates b2 N B RE 21 590,616 677,586
Interest in a joint venture —HEeErEER 20 123 11,500
Financial assets measured at FVOCI 2 A F B E A E A
TEKRzEMEE 23 241,522 164,067
849,108 933,043
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories of finished goods HmFEE 40 87
Loan receivables JE W& K 24 5,066 3,193
Amounts due from former subsidiaries F& Y5 #& b Al I B 2 7]
in liquidation P E] 25 - 1,303
Receivable held in custody NEERBEZEKKIE 26 44,450 -
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H b R 3K 27 19,155 18,315
Short-term bank deposits FHHRITIE N 28 8,565 8,621
Bank balances and cash RITEFLERE 28 13,016 11,500
90,292 43,019
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables g5 MEMERIERR 29 17,376 15,059
Contract liabilities EXON=N 30 2 13
Lease liabilities ME&ARE 31 2,485 5,231
Amount due to a non-controlling JEN — B IR
shareholder IR 32 8,891 8,891
Amount due to a joint venture B —HEaEENRE 44() — 180
Other borrowings H A & 5K 33 91,051 15,133
119,805 44 507
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES TSR (29,513) (1,488)
TOTAL ASSETSLESS CURRENT #EERBARBER
LIABILITIES 819,595 931,555
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mE KRR K
As at 31 March 2025
R202543H31H

2025 2024
Notes ~ HK$’000 HK$’000
ff it TR TAT

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Other borrowings H th & 3 33 — 844
Lease liabilities HE&AE 31 1,251 4,198
Deferred tax liabilities EXERIBAE 34 201 213
1,452 5,255
NET ASSETS EERE 818,143 926,300
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERR#E
Share capital & 7 35 104,095 104,095
Reserves G 721,086 829,234
Equity attributable to owners of RNARIEB AN Z BN
the Company B 825,181 933,329
Non-controlling interests FEFE R A = (7,038) (7,029)
TOTAL EQUITY RS 818,143 926,300

The consolidated financial statements on pages 139
to 303 were approved and authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 26 June 2025 and are signed on
its behalf by:

Kwong Kai Sing, Benny
195924
Chairman and Managing Director

FEFBH

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
financial statements.

HNF19ESBE LR BFHRED
R2025F6 H26H EE = B2 & M &
EHEZE - THTWNESERRESTESR
%:

Au Wai June
i E%

Executive Director

HITEF

WIMEARSHBREZ @RS
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o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEZSHR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3 A3 HIEFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

KRABEAZEGES

Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed  revaluation ~ Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve profits  Sub-total interests equity
(note i) (note ii) (note i) (note iv)
BA FEER
BRA ROEE EA4R% EHAFEE ELRE RDEN INE Bn BEREE
(Fiati) (Waki)  (Bati)  (Biativ)
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TETL TER FTiET FET TET TFERT TER TETL TER
At 1 April 2023 A2023F4A1H 104,095 495,714 441,566 (688,544) 42,388 957,328 1,352,547 (8,982) 1,343,565
Exchange differences A% B8 5N £ H M
arising from translation &4 2 FE X 2%
of foreign operations - - - - (3,079 - (3,079 - (3,079
Reclassification HEMRBA
adjustment B¥HE uﬂ %
on disposal of (H7£36)
subsidiaries (Note 36) - - - — (32,739 - (32,739 - (32,739
Change in fair value BATEER
of financial assets HwzEka
measured at FVOCI,  Z&RIEEZ
net of tax NTEEEZD
(MBH2%) — - — (115,627) — —  (115,627) — (115,627
Share of other BiEmERAc
comprehensive 2EAY
expense of the
associates — - — (2,510) - — (2,510) — (2,510)
Loss for the year FEBE - - - — —  (265,263) (265,263) 1,953 (263,310
Total comprehensive ~ FEZAER T EE
expense for the year - - — (118137) (35818 (265263 (419218) 1953  (417,265)
Disposal of financial HERAFER
assets measured BAEMEE
at FVOCl bz emEE - - - 5,911 - (5,91) - - -
Share of equity BiE—HEEEAR
movementarisingon  EITIRAR 5 AT
equity ransactions of ~ E4 ZEZEH)
an associate - - - 73 - (79) - - -
Disposal of financial FERHEMBEDA
assets measured HERLNTEE
at FVOCI through BAEMEPE
disposal of hErzemEE
subsidiaries — - - 337,000 —  (337,000) - — -
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3A31H 104,095 495,714 441,566 (463,697) 6,570 349,081 933,329 (7,029) 926,300
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mERERBEHX
For the year ended 31 March 2025
B ZE2025F3A31AIEFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

AARFEEAZEEESE
Investment Non-
Share Share Contributed revaluation Translation Retained controlling Total
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests equity
(note i) (note i) (note i) (note iv)
RE FER

BE ROEE HABRR EHREE ELRFFE KREER et BE RZAE
(Ki&ti) (Watii)  (Bfatii) — (Bfiv)

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TExn TER TR TEx THx TEx TET TEx

At 1 April 2024 20244 R 18

Exchange differences MEBNEBT
arising from translation &4 2 FE X 2%

104,095 495,714 441,566  (463,697) 6,570 349,081 933,329 (7,029) 926,300

of foreign operations - - - - (41) - (1) = (41)
Change in fair value BRATEBFA

of financial assets Enwz2Eka

measured at FVOCI, 22 REAEZ

net of tax NEEEE

(kK &%) - - - 102,184 - — 102,184 — 102,184

Share of other BEmENR ZH M

comprehensive 2EAY

expense of

the associates = = = (32,915) = - (32,915 - (32919
Loss for the year FEBAE - - - - - (177,376) (177,376) @) (177,389)
Total comprehensive ~ FEZ2HEMAT BT

expense for the year - - - 69,269 (41) (177,376) (108,148) (9 (108,157)
Disposal of financial HERATEE

assets measured WAEMEE

at FVOC! W%z BEE - - - 275% - (27,520) - - -
Share of equity BH—HBERA

movement arisingon  E{TRAR 5 A

equity ransactions of  E4 Z i &

an associate - - - 32,105 - (32,105) - - -

At 31 March 2025 F202563A31H

104,005 495714 441566  (334,797) 6,529 112,074 825,181 (7,038) 818,143

EMZERAERAT 20254% 145



146

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERZEDX

For th

e year ended 31 March 2025

HZE2025F3A31AILFE

Notes:

(iv)

The application of the share premium account is governed by Section 40
of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

The contributed surplus represents the balance arising from the reduction
of share capital of the Company which took place in prior years.

The investment revaluation reserve represents the changes (and the share
of the associate’s changes) in carrying amount of investments in equity
instruments designated as FVOCI, net of tax, since its initial recognition.

The translation reserve comprised all foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3 A3 HIEFE

2025 2024
Notes ~ HK$’000 HK$’000
S TR TATT

OPERATING ACTIVITIES KT E
Loss before taxation B 5 Bl 5 48 (177,393) (263,661)
Adjustments for: B RPIIEE ETHE
Finance costs B & B AN 1,567 6,627
Loss on disposal of property, BEME W&
plant and equipment B2 EE 1,770 1,260
Loss on disposal of investment REREMEZ
properties &5 18 977 —
Gain on termination of leases BRIEHE 2 W s (3,645) —
Gain on forfeiture of deposit and B M E®
earnest money received Frig 2 W - (8,200)
Share of results of associates BEHE N NREE 93,088 230,608
Share of results of a joint venture BE—HeELE
ey (123) 4,642
Amortisation of intangible assets mpEEME 44 45
Depreciation of property, plant and IER XS A
equipment nE 3,425 6,294
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEZITE 2,078 13,685
Net unrealised exchange (gain) loss REIRIE H (Mas)
B 18T R (15) 962
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBA AR 2 Wam 36 - (59,323)
Loss on changes in ownership in an —[EB L R A TR
associate L EEEE 29,650 —
Fair value changes of investment REMENTEE
properties & B 3,500 9,800
Bank and other interest income R1T R E AT B U A (202) (149)
Impairment loss on property, plant and %) 3 ~ # W K R & 2
equipment B & 18 4,972 —
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets 1 F#E & & 2 (&
&8 4,314 8,877
Impairment loss recognised (reversed) & /& & M & #)
on financial assets and contract BEZRBEREE
assets, net ER (B OE) F5E 3,696 (31,071)
Operating cash flows before movements & 5t & i& & & & &) 51
in working capital IRBEXBHERE (32,297) (79,604)
Decrease (increase) in inventories of T 'R (3 )
finished goods ) 46 (25)
Increase in loan receivables fE I B FRIE N (4,500) —
(Increase) decrease in trade and B 5 & E th & U BR X
other receivables (38 hn) Rk (925) 3,840
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 M E M EN R
=y} 1,698 3,204
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilites & #1 & & O 4>) 1& i (11) 450
Net cash used in operations KEPTHIR R (35,989) (72,135)
Income tax paid EEH (3) (986)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING RETHMARSE
ACTIVITIES HE (35,992) (73,121)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FmERERER
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A31BIEFE

2025 2024
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
K aF FHExT FHETT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Payment for acquisition of property, I B ) % M KRR
plant and equipment ANEN (1,538) (3,578)
Contribution to a joint venture ¥ — F' é EEEE (180) (1,150)
Contribution to associates HEEE N RIIEE (73,683) (142,800)
Net cash inflow from disposal of & & Mﬂ% NAZRE
subsidiaries mA R 36 - 4,882
Bank and other interest income received & Ut IR 17 & E it | B
WA 202 149
Advance to a former subsidiary EEIEEINGE-E (1,071) —
Distribution from a joint venture MeaEtEZDIK 11,500 —
Proceeds from partial disposal of Ei F'a'ﬂﬂ /N
an associate DERFTE /’( 5 5,000 —
Proceeds from disposal of investment ﬁ E & EMERE
properties KIA 4,573 —
Proceeds from disposal of property, BREEE - M% W K2 7% 1
plant and equipment ﬁﬁ’E' KT 505 345
Distributions from former subsidiaries in /ﬁ L |3ﬁ BRalz
liquidation 7k 1,303 50,673
Proceeds from disposal of financial lJuj SRR T EE
assets measured at FVOCI ﬁ ft 2 W = Z T &b
B E M5 IE 48,583 7,757
Purchases of financial assets measured & B 1% A F (& TE
at FVOCI H 2 W ziﬁﬂ
BE (23,854) (148,854)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETBHFARSE
ACTIVITIES T4 (28,660)  (232,576)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES b & B
Repayment of bank and other ERRIT R HME K
borrowings (1,124) (588,525)
Interest paid 21 AE (540) (4,133)
Payment of lease liabilities TNEEAaE (8,526) (12,632)
New other borrowings raised g H b B K 76,326 157,814
NET CASH GENERATED FROM MEEFE RS (FTA)
(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES B4 %58 66,136  (447,476)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REBRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
B ZE2025F3A31AIEFE

2025 2024
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
s FET FET
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) INCASH RE& R EHER £ EE
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HEEMCED) BEE 1,484 (753,173)
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE IMERRBEE
RATE CHANGES (24) (942)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HReREBRESEE
BROUGHT FORWARD 18 B & Ay 20,121 774,236
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HeREBEESEE
CARRIED FORWARD HE&£E 21,581 20,121
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF HeREBESEEE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B&&o
Short-term bank deposits with maturity Z|HFH DR =@ A 2
of less than three months RHISRITE R 8,565 8,621
Bank balances and cash RITHEGFE MRS 13,016 11,500
21,581 20,121

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

financial statements.
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GENERAL

Blue River Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
an exempted company incorporated in Bermuda
with limited liability. Its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered
office and the principal place of business of
the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as
the functional currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company.
The Company and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) is principally engaged in, inter alia, gas
distribution and logistics operation in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), as well as property
investment, securities trading and investment,
and provision of financing related services. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries and associates are set out in Note 46.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with  HKFRS Accounting Standards requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimates is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3 A3 HIEFE

—REHR

ErmkAERARITARRAF]E
BREAMALAIBRBERA
A EROERSBHAEXZMAR
NE ([BERP]) T o RAT 2
MEmEmit ARHE T2 E X
HORNANERIARER] —EE
3R

el BmRABLTIET] 2
5 BT ARRIHNINGEEH o

ARRR—RAREERRAR - AR
AkEWMB AR (GBI AEHE])
TEREF(EHPEBRIRPEAR
HAE (T B ) E TR E X K&
MREE ULKEHERE &EF
RPMEE - WIEHEE MR
e RNRAZEEWNEB AR MEZE
NAZEBRFEINNHGE46

BENTAB LM B REER S
ZHRENTBEREELKEEE
tEH FIE - B REBR M&FH
B At R RREFERRERA L
BE AE BAREMZHREH
BB MAERRIIREBER
BREZEBEEERBATIES
EHEMEARMEL - EAERKS
ABEMAIREL T TEMS ENE
EEBEREAENER BRE
AJREB ENZF e o

et R RRRFEEEET
WE e HEFATETEIR &
(ERTERZEZHRE - AER

AT AR AER BB

[ N R 2 B ] e R0



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL (CONTINUED)

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRS Accounting Standards that
have significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed on Note 4.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(@ The Group has applied the following
amendments to Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in
the current year:

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities
HKAS 1 as Current or Non-
current and related
amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5
Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants
Amendments to  Supplier Finance
HKAS 7 and Arrangements
HKFRS 7

The application of the amendments to
HKFRSs and HKAS in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group has not applied any new or
amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards that is not yet effective for the
current year.

e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MWK

For the year ended 31 March 2025

HZE2025F3A31AILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(b) The Group has not early applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs and
HKAS that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
and HKAS in issue but not yet

effective

Amendments to
HKAS 21

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Annual
Improvements
to HKFRS
Accounting
Standards
— Volume 11

HKFRS 18

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and

Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of
Financial Instruments®

Amendments to
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10
and HKAS 7°

Presentation and
Disclosure in
Financial Statements®

Sale or Contribution
of Assets between

HKAS 28 an Investor and its
Associate or Joint
4
Venture
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2027.

4 To be determined by the HKICPA.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(Continued)

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements, introducing new
requirements that will help to achieve
comparability of the financial performance
of similar entities and provide more relevant
information and transparency to users.
Even though HKFRS 18 will not impact the
recognition or measurement of items in the
consolidated financial statements, its impacts
on presentation and disclosure are expected
to be pervasive, in particular those related
to the consolidated income statement and
providing management-defined performance
measures within the consolidated financial
statements.

Management is currently assessing the
detailed implications of applying the new
standard on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements. The Group expects to
apply the new standard from 1 April 2027.
Retrospective application is required, and so
the comparative information for the financial
year ending 31 March 2027 will be restated
in accordance with HKFRS 18.

Except for the abovementioned changes
in presentation and disclosure, these
pronouncements are not expected to have a
material impacts on the results or the financial
position of the Group.

e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards, which includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”),
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). In addition,
the consolidated financial statements comply with
the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Govemning the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The Group incurred a loss of HK$177,385,000
for the year ended 31 March 2025 and, as of that
date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by HK$29,513,000. For the purpose
of assessing the appropriateness of the use of
the going concern basis for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, the management
has prepared a cash flow forecast for a period
of not less than 12 months from 31 March 2025
(the “Forecast”). When preparing the Forecast,
management has given careful consideration
to the future liquidity and performance of the
Group and its available sources of financing in
assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern.
After review of the Forecast, the directors of the
Company have a reasonable expectation that the
Group has sufficient working capital, including the
credit facilities available, to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made
to write down the carrying values of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise, and
to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A31BIEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except
for certain financial instruments and investment
properties which are measured at fair values at
the end of each reporting period, as explained in
the accounting policies set out below. Historical
cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair
value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
16 “Leases”, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or
value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described
as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The material accounting policies are set out below.

(a)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;
e s exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the

investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect
its returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

(a) HEEE @

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or
not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements
of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated
income statement from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
are presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in the relative interests on the subsidiaries.

Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted,
and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

(a) ZmEEEm

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary
and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (i)
the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate or a joint venture.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities
and assets which includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability
to continue producing outputs, including
an organised workforce with the necessary
skills, knowledge, or experience to perform
the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing
outputs and are considered unique or scarce
or cannot be replaced without significant
cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue
producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are
recognised at their fair values, with certain
exemptions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

(b) 2% & 6@

(b) Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the
sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree
(if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment,
the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets or at fair value.

When a business combination is achieved in
stages, the Group’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control), and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized
in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been
recognized in other comprehensive income
and measured under HKFRS 9 would be
accounted for on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had disposed directly of
the previously held equity interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business
combination is incomplete by the end of the
reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted retrospectively during
the measurement period (which cannot
exceed one year from the acquisition
date), and additional assets or liabilities
are recognized, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amounts recognized
at that date.

Goodwiill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a
business is carried at cost as established at
the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination,
which represents the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than
an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

(c) Goodwill (Continued) (c) BmEuw

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually
or more frequently when there is indication
that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating
units). Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating
unit or any of the cash-generating unit within
the group of cash generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes
of an operation within the cash-generating
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group
of cash-generating units), the amount of
goodwill disposed of is measured on the
basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the cash generating unit) disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the
group of cash generating units) retained.

CESE®ME ZAIEEMNL
BIREBEMNERNEEFETR
BAS INEBEBRBTRZE
A A RE K IR BER - (FE 58
BZBAERIH o LR HIFE]
ETWEBREEZEBEMS
EEDREE 2AIREMK
BIREMENEN RS BT
AERTETTRVEDRI S » fid AT U =
cR(AEREERAFEE
BMEEXRAzERSEH) DRE
fRmEE BIREBBEAERLT
PA7> B+ PAHIRAE o] 7 2 2 Bk
HE ERUAZELKEIRE
fANAZEEZKREMER
EERUPIDEDNEMEE
ZIREE - BB R ES
BIEEREBERTHER -BLE
BHAZHREBENERB
AT R e

Wi EHEAIREMNMSKAIR
B (7 #H Bl A (A7) B3R BB B
ARGz ESRENEER
AAABELEZREER B
AEBEERIREMFHNE
% (% 835 B A2 48 Rl A £ 1A 8l
BEM)E MO ERETH
WA E R (REREM) &
Prix BRI B (S AIR B
Mpl) Mo 2 HEBEE -

EmMEZERAERLDT 2025 F 7R

163



164

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d) Acquisition of a subsidiary not

(e)

constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of
assets and liabilities that do not constitute a
business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase
price first to financial assets/financial liabilities
at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then
allocated to the other identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relative
fair values at the date of purchase. Such a
transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including
buildings held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than
construction in progress as described below)
are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

(e) W2 - WK =R1E @

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for
ownership interests of properties which
include both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair
values at initial recognition. To the extent
the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land
is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position
except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under
the fair value model. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-
lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant
and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write
off the cost of items of property, plant
and equipment (other than construction in
progress) less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress includes property,
plant and equipment in the course of
construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes. Construction
in progress is carried at cost less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include
any costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Construction in progress is classified
to the appropriate categories of property,
plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment
is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.
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3. EEETTHEwW

(e) W2 - WK =R1E @
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties include land held for
undetermined future use, which is regarded
as held for capital appreciation purpose, and
land under development for future use as
investment property.

Investment properties are initially measured
at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair
values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or
accrued operating lease income. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment property are included in profit
or loss for the period in which they arise.

If a property becomes an investment property
because its use has changed as evidenced
by end of owner-occupation, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair
value of that item at the date of transfer is
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement
of the property, the relevant revaluation
reserve will be transferred directly to retained
profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f)

(9)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property
is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period
in which the property is derecognised.

An investment property carried at fair value
is transferred to properties for sales when
there is a change in use evidenced by
commencement of development with a view
to sale of the relevant properties. The fair
value of the property at the date of transfer
is the deemed cost of the property for its
subsequent accounting in accordance with
HKAS 2.

Investments in associates and joint
ventures

An associate is an entity over which the
Group has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets
of the joint arrangement. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEVMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

(9) FH?M"H&%%’&%Z

(g) Investments in associates and joint

ventures (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities
of associates and joint ventures are
incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of
accounting, except when the investment,
or a portion thereof, is classified as held for
sale, in which case it is or the portion so
classified is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations. Any retained
portion of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture that has not been classified as
held for sale continues to be accounted for
using the equity method. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate or
a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associate
or joint venture. Changes in net assets of the
associate or joint venture other than profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted
in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group’s share of losses
of an associate or a joint venture exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate
or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Investments in associates and joint

ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint
venture is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate
or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an
objective evidence that the interest in an
associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets” as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use
and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is
not allocated to any asset, including goodwill,
that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 “Impairment of Assets” to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Investments in associates and joint

ventures (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate or joint control
over a joint venture, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate
or joint venture and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS
9, the Group measures the retained interest
at fair value at that date and the fair value is
regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate or joint venture and the
fair value of any retained interest and any
proceeds from disposing of the relevant
interest in the associate or joint venture is
included in the determination of the gain
or loss on disposal of the associate or joint
venture. In addition, the Group accounts for
all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that
associate or joint venture on the same basis
as would be required if that associate or joint
venture had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate or joint venture
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from
equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal or partial disposal
of the relevant associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(g) Investments in associates and joint

ventures (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity
method when an investment in an associate
becomes an investment in a joint venture or
an investment in a joint venture becomes
an investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership
interest in an associate or a joint venture
but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or
loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or
loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an
associate or a joint venture of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint
venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

(h BFEE&EE

(h) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are recognised separately from
goodwill and are initially recognised at their
fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible
assets acquired in a business combination
with finite useful lives are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised over their estimated useful lives.
Alternatively, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment
losses on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
below).
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for
on a prospective basis. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less any
subsequently accumulated impairment
losses (see the accounting policy in respect
of impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets below).

An intangible asset is derecognised on
disposal, or when no future economic
benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gain or loss arising from derecognition
of an intangible asset is measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss in the period when
the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

)

Provisions

Provisions are recognhised when the Group
has a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event, it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts
with Customers”. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”)) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVPL
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form
an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived
from the Group’s ordinary course of business
are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on
a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is to
collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
FVOCI:

e the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is
achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling the financial
assets; and

e the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVPL, except that at initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets (Continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

()

it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a
portfolio of identified financial instruments
that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial
assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments
subsequently measured at FVOCI.
Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Equity instruments designated as at
FVOCI

Investments in equity instruments at
FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair
value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve;
and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on
disposal of the equity investments, and
will be transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in
equity instruments are recognised in
profit or loss when the Group’s right
to receive the dividends is established,
unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the
other income in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets that do not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI or designated as FVOCI
are measured at FVPL.

Financial assets at FVPL are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned
on the financial asset held for trading.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets
that are denominated in a foreign currency
is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the end of each
reporting period. Specifically:

For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not part of
a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised
in profit or loss in the “Other gains
and losses” line item as part of the net
exchange gain/(loss);

For financial assets measured at FVPL
that are not part of a designhated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the “Other
gains and losses” line item as part of the
net gain/(loss) from changes in fair value
of financial assets measured at FVPL;

For equity instruments measured at
FVOCI, exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income in the investment revaluation
reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

() €@ A

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (the “ECL”) model
on financial assets (including amounts due
from former subsidiaries in liquidation, trade
and other receivables, loan receivables,
short-term bank deposits and bank balances)
and financial guarantee contracts which are
subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events over
the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (the “12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for
trade receivables. The ECL on these assets
are assessed individually for debtors with
significant and credit-impaired balances and/
or collectively with appropriate groupings by
common risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
For all other instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12m
ECL, unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

e gignificant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk;

e existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’'s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

e MR E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that
the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

For financial guarantee contracts,
the date that the Group becomes a
party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing
the impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in
the credit risk since initial recognition of
financial guarantee contracts, the Group
considers the changes in the risk that
the specified debtor will default on the
contract.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure
that the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of default
occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following
events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

HZE2025F3A31AILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

(Continued)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating
that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

() €@ A
T EEE(E)
LREERE @

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function
of the probability of default, loss given
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss
if there is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and
forward-looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition. For a lease receivable,
the cash flows used for determining the
ECL is consistent with the cash flows
used in measuring the lease receivable
in accordance with HKFRS 16.

For a financial guarantee contract, the
Group is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the ECL is the present value
of the expected payments to reimburse
the holder for a credit loss that it incurs
less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the holder, the
debtor or any other party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

(Continued)

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts
for which the effective interest rate
cannot be determined, the Group will
apply a discount rate that reflects the
current market assessment of the time
value of money and the risks that are
specific to the cash flows but only if, and
to the extent that, the risks are taken into
account by adjusting the discount rate
instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls
being discounted.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables
are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group

takes into consideration the following
characteristics when formulating the

grouping :
e Nature of financial instruments;
e  Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors;
and

e External credit ratings where
available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

() €@ A

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued) T EEE(E)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) cMEERME®

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL ) FAEEEEEZITER
(Continued) EER (48)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents
of each group continue to share similar
credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based
on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the
loss allowances are recognised at
the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9 and the amount initially
recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised
over the guarantee period.

The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amounts, with the exception
of trade and other receivables, contract
assets, amounts due from former
subsidiaries in liquidation and loan
receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset
only when the contractual rights to the
cash flows from the asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset
measured at amortised cost, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity
instrument which the Group has elected
on initial recognition to measure at FVOCI,
the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but
is transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEVMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

shareholder, amount due to a joint venture,
and bank and other borrowings) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated
in a foreign currency and are measured at
amortised cost at the end of each reporting
period, the foreign exchange gains and losses
are determined based on the amortised cost
of the instruments. These foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in the “Other
gains and losses” line item in profit or loss as
part of net exchange gain/(loss) for financial
liabilities that are not part of a designated
hedging relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEEHHERmW

(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued) () @I &A@
Financial liabilities and equity tTHEEREZ
Classification as debt or equity PTEAEESESR
Debt and equity instruments are classified T,a BhitEm TEREIZG KB
as either financial liabilities or as equity ZHEBEALkcHBELER
in accordance with the substance of the TEZERBERERMAE
contractual arrangements and the definitions SR o
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments EXTHE
An equity instrument is any contract that B T A BTt Z«( K e e
evidences a residual interest in the assets of FEABrEERRSER Y
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. é)XEF BRIk ZA/?’J BN
Equity instruments issued by the Company AR RS TARD IR
are recognised at the proceeds received, net HX SRR IE (MK B BT
of direct issue costs. B Z5) BESR o
Financial liabilities 5
Financial liabilities (including trade and other 2%2&( BIEE 5 R E
payables, amount due to a non-controlling fBE 2% '}E ﬁ %#T Hxﬂx%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

@)

(k)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Offsetting a financial asset and a
financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are
offset and the net amount presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Group currently
has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognized amounts; and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 “lLeases” at inception.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

(k) Leases (Continued) (k) HE @

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to
components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease
component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components, including
contract for acquisition of ownership interests
of a property which includes both leasehold
land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made
reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from
lease component and are accounted for by
applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases of assets that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Lease payments on short-
term leases are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(k) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

Except for short-term leases, the Group
recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the
date the underlying asset is available for
use). Except for those that are classified as
investment properties and measured under
fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the
Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by
the Group in dismantling and removing
the underlying assets, restoring the
site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of
the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

(k) Leases (Continued) (k) HE @

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)
Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of
the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the
useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that
do not meet the definition of investment
property as a separate line item in the
consolidated statement of financial
position. The right-of-use assets that meet
the definition of investment property are
presented within investment properties.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are
accounted for under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(k) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the
Group recognises and measures the lease
liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date if the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option
if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise the option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the
lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities
are adjusted by interest accretion and lease
payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

(k) Leases (Continued) (k) HE @

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification
as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of
the lease by adding the right to use one
or more underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases
by an amount commensurate with the
stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not
accounted for as a separate lease, the Group
remeasures the lease liability, less any lease
incentives receivable based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement
of lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains a
lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components. The
Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of
leases

Leases are classified as finance leases
whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset. Other
than investment properties measured under
fair value model, such cost are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Allocation of consideration to
components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and
non-lease components, the Group applies
HKFRS 15 to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are
accounted for under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments from lessees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Leases (Continued)

)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a modification to
an operating lease as a new lease from the
effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

Revenue from contracts with
customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a goods
or service (or a bundle of goods or services)
that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue
is recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

e MR E
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

() Revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

e the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not
create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point
in time when the customer obtains control of
the distinct goods or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right
to consideration in exchange for goods or
services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with
HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability
relating to the same contract are accounted
for and presented on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

REEFEHZWA @

() Revenue from contracts with [{)]

customers (Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one
performance obligation, the Group allocates
the transaction price to each performance
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the
distinct goods or service underlying each
performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price
at which the Group would sell a promised
goods or service separately to a customer.
If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using
appropriate techniques such that the
transaction price ultimately allocated to any
performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised goods or services to the customer.

Over time revenue recognition:
measurement of progress toward
complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method (for income from port
related services)

The progress towards complete satisfaction
of a performance obligation is measured
based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct
measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining goods or services
promised under the contract, that best depict
the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

() Revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable
consideration in relation to the variation
works and claims for prolongation, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to
which it will be entitled using either (a) the
expected value method or (b) the most likely
amount, depending on which method better
predicts the amount of consideration to
which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable
consideration is included in the transaction
price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not
result in a significant revenue reversal in the
future when the uncertainty associated with
the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group updates the estimated transaction
price (including updating its assessment of
whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of
the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. EEETTHEwW

) REFEFEHZHWA @

JERE

MESRHEET IRLETRE
ERREZAEREBEZAD
mE > NEBEERATEHR—
BHEGAAEEK AR
BMZRETHE: @BHEEZX
Hb)RBAIEZ 2B (R T M
B FERAARNEERA
RUBMZHKEZRBEME)

AEREBZHFEBAAR
28 EERRESEEBRAD
AAge A Ea] EREMRRE
THEAZERERRMNS
HERWARER -

REBREHER  AEEHE
MR ZEB(BEEHNER
AERERTREZRMFED
ZAHfE) MEERBRR®RE
HrEERFEZBRARR
BEHRZBERES -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

() Revenue from contracts with ) REFEFEHZHWA @
customers (Continued)
Existence of significant financing FEEABEK S

component

In determining the transaction price, the
Group adjusts the promised amount of
consideration for the effects of the time value
of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer
or the Group with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing
component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether
the promise of financing is explicitly stated in
the contract or implied by the payment terms
agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between
payment and transfer of the associated
goods or services is less than one year, the
Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the transaction price for any
significant financing component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

() Revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts
with customers

Income from port related services
Income from port related services is
recognised over time in which the benefits
of the services are received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer as the Group
performs. Revenue is recoghised based on
the price specified in the contract, net of the
estimated volume discounts. Accumulated
experience is used to estimate and provide
for the discounts using the expected value
approach, and revenue is only recognised
to the extent that it is highly probable that a
significant reversal will not occur. A contract
liability is recognised for advance from
customers with contracts while a refund
liability is recognised for volume discount, if
any.

Sale of CNG products

Revenue from distribution of CNG products
is recognised when the goods are delivered
and titles have passed. A contract liability is
recognised for advance from customers with
contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Borrowing costs

(n)

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such
time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Any specific
borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or
sale is included in the general borrowing pool
for calculation of capitalised rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

Impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Impairment losses on property, plant

and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether
there is indication that corporate assets
may be impaired. If such indication exists,
corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
are tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or cash-generating unit) for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEVMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

(n) M%E- #EEERE  £EH

(n) Impairment losses on property, plant

and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying
amounts of the corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets allocated to that group of
cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated
to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash
generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n)

(o)

()

Impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss immediately.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit schemes including Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes and state-managed
retirement benefit schemes are recognised
as an expense or capitalised in contracts
in progress, where appropriate, when
employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term
employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised
at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost
of an asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p)

(q)

Short-term and other long-term
employee benefits (Continued)

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing
to employees (such as wages and salaries,
annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-
term employee benefits are measured at the
present value of the estimated future cash
outflows expected to be made by the Group
in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from
service cost, interest and remeasurements
are recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that another HKFRS requires or
permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Taxation

Income tax for the year comprises current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities. Income tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case it is recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on
the taxable income for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(q) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding
tax used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are generally recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and do not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences
(provided they are not part of a business
combination). Deferred tax is not recognised
for those related to income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
to implement the Pillar Two Model Rules
published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

(q) BE @

(q) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, and interests in
associates and joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities separately in
relation to its lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets.

Where investment properties are carried at
their fair value, the amount of deferred tax
recognised is measured using the tax rates
that would apply on sale of those assets at
their carrying value at the end of the reporting
period unless the properties are depreciable
and are held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the properties
over time, rather than through sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(q) Taxation (Continued)

r)

In all other cases, the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset
is reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and is reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related
tax benefits to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of
each individual group entity, transactions
in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEETTHEwW

(CONTINUED)

(r & @

(r) Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e.
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset),
all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(r) Foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal
of a subsidiary that does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposal of associates or joint
arrangements that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit
or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on
identifiable assets acquired arising on
an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and translated at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, which are described in Note 3, the
directors of the Company are required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRERHE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(Continued)

(a) Impairment assessment of interests in

associates

The Group assesses whether there are
any indicators of impairment for interests
in associates at the end of each reporting
period. An impairment exists when the
carrying value of the interest in associates
exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of recoverable amount requires significant
judgements by management on key internal
inputs and external market conditions. |If
future events do not correspond to the
assumptions, the recoverable amount will
need to be revised, and this may have impact
on the Group’s operating performance or
financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

4, FESFHE R TEEMLE
ZEERIF @)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty FREEMFTZEERR @

(Continued)

(b) Fair value measurements and valuation (b) XA FEEFEREEEF
processes

Some of the Group’s assets are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes.
In estimating the fair value of an asset, the
Group uses market-observable data to the
extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs
are not available, the Group engages an
independent qualified professional valuer to
perform the valuation. Management of the
Company works closely with the valuer to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that
include inputs which are not based on
observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments
and investment properties. Notes 19, 23
and 37(c) provide detailed information about
the valuation techniques, inputs and key
assumptions used in the determination of the
fair value of various assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRERHE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(c) Impairment assessment of property,

plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets

Determining whether property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets are impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash
generating units (or group of cash-generating
units) to which property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets have
been allocated. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating units (or group of cash-generating
units) and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or
change in facts and circumstances of which
results in downward revision of future cash
flows or upward revision of discount rate, a
material impairment loss may arise. Details
of the property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets and the
impairment assessment are disclosed in
Notes 17, 18 and 20.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

4, FESFHE R TEEMLE
ZEERIF @)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty FREEMFTZEERR @

(Continued)

(d) BEBHEKXSEZEHEE

(d) Provision of ECL for financial assets

measured at amortised costs

The assessment of ECL is based on historical
observed default rates and adjusted by
forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered. The
provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL
on the Group’s financial assets is disclosed
in Note 37(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group estimates ECL for financial assets
which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9. Except for financial assets with
significant outstanding balances or credit-
impaired which are individually assessed for
ECL, the Group collectively assesses the ECL
of financial assets, including trade receivables
which consist of debtors with common risk
characteristics.

ZHAEEEEEE

EHEEBEERDIREREL S
REFBZENRETIMG I
REAERAUEFBEHAMNEST
WEB 7R AR B BRE
ZATEHEERIEHAE K&
WEBH AEESEHTMGE
E b BRI 15 ZL%T NS
ERIEEER ZEE - FEHE
%%E%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ ffffff FB) R RK ©
ﬁ%$%liﬂ§FZﬁ%
EEBBZEBNIESIK
WMERM FFEI7TO)HE -

AEERBEEBETBHRE
A FFRAELREZ S/
BEMGMTEREEERE -BEA
BARENEHRIBREE
BEZMEESETESR
FFHEEBBEFMHIN KXEE
ERERE E( 11? f’f%ﬁ’%%
FER(REAAEH % 1 15
Zf%%m»Zﬁ%ﬁfﬁE
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it
will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of
the borrowings disclosed in Note 33, net of cash
and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has cash,
bank balances and deposits of approximately
HK$21,581,000 (2024: HK$20,121,000) and other
borrowings of approximately HK$91,051,000
(2024: HK$15,977,000). As at 31 March 2025,
the Group has net debt of HK$69,470,000. The
Group did not have net debt as at 31 March
2024. The increase in net debt was mainly due
to the drawdown of a loan of HK$70,000,000,
which was utilized to finance the investment in
associates during the current year.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure periodically. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and their
associated risks thereto. The Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue
of new debt or the redemption of existing debits.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

REVENUE 6. WA
Revenue is analysed as follows: WAZDITWT :
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Sales and services income: HE NMRBUA -
Sale of compressed natural gas (‘CNG”) 55 B 45 X A &/,
products (BRI R]) Em 37,044 48,843
Income from port related services 75 H A8 78 AR 7% A — 2,625
37,044 51,468
Interest income: FE WA -
Interest income from loan receivables & I & 2 2 ) & W A 919 8,702
Rental income: Hae WA :
Rental income from investment KEMEZ2EBE WA
properties 1,050 1,800
39,013 61,970

Revenue from contracts with customers represents ())
revenue from sale of CNG products that are
recognised at a point in time; and (ii) income from
port related services that are recognised over
time.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The operating segments of the Group are
determined based on information reported to
executive directors, the Group’s chief operating
decision makers, for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment. The
information focuses more specifically on the
strategic operation and development of each
business unit and its performance is evaluated
through organizing business units with similar
economic characteristics into an operating
segment.

KEEPAHZWAENNE K
A ERCHEBRBRXAREM
WA R (i) BE B D i °2 2 78 M AR A
AR5 2 WA

7 &R E

AEBZEEDE  BRIEZ WA
TEFKREETELERRE)
ZER  RTERDENMKRERGE
METE ZEHEABEINEE
BEUZRBEERER MHE
KBRTEBEKEBRBEEBERSR
ZEBEMEKREE DA 2T R
Al e
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

In assessing the performance of the operating
segments, certain non-operating items which were
not directly related to the segment’s operating
performance would not be taken into account.
Accordingly, (i) corporate and other expenses
which are not directly related to the performance
of the operating segments; (ii) net exchange gain/
loss which are mainly arising from intra-company
loans; (i) gain on forfeiture of deposit and earnest
money received arising from corporate exercise;
(iv) distributions from liquidated subsidiaries and
impairment allowance reversed on amounts due
from the former subsidiaries in liquidation; and
(v) finance costs driven by the Group’s financing
decisions were adjusted out from the loss before
tax in arriving at the segment results.

The operating and reportable segments are as
follows:

Ports and — Ports development, operation
logistics of ports, CNG distribution
and logistics businesses

Property — Investment and leasing of
real estate properties

Securities — Investment and trading of
securities

Financial — Provision of loan financing,

services financial related services

and cash management

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results by operating and reportable segment:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

REMBRKRME
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

7. D EER @

2R AR F A&

ATNBAEEREERAIRED
MBI D ZWAREEDH

BZE20253A31HILEEE

Segment

Ports and Financial total and

logistics  Property Securities  services consolidated

B0 AT

RAR ES &5 SERE kizg

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$000 HK$°000

TER TER TER TER TER

Revenue WA 37,044 1,050 - 919 39,013

Segment results nEELE (12,433) (12,617 (120 (111,210) (136,272)
Corporate and other PEREMAST

EXpenses (39,569)

Net exchange gain P 5 Uk & 0 58 15

Finance costs B & YA (1,567)

Loss before taxation PR AT ES 1B (177,393)

Taxation I8 8

Loss for the year FEBE (177,389)

EmMEZERAERLDT 2025 F 7R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results by operating and reportable segment:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

7. D EER @

7 EBUR A R EE @)

AR AREEREZ

Ko Al #E D

MBI D ZWAREEDH

BZE2024F3A31HLEEE

Segment
Ports and Financial total and
logistics ~ Property ~ Securites ~ services  consolidated
w0 NEE T
58 7hi mE #Hr eBRE o)
HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FEx  FTET TERL TAET
Revenue WA 51,468 1,800 — 8,702 61,970
Segment results® nEREE 30,715 (31,636) (12)  (204,481) (205,414)
Corporate and other rEREMAX
expenses (89,560)
Net exchange loss 5 BB R (1,371)
Gain on forfeiture of deposit 2 UIZ 4 kil =
and earnest money =R
received 8,200
Impairment loss reversed on & U3 4 e i fft
amounts due from former ~ BRABHIEZ
subsidiaries in liquidation 3 {B &5 18 & @1 31,111
Finance costs BEKAK (6,627)
Loss before taxation BR 1 B 5 18 (263,661)
Taxation A 351
Loss for the year FEBE (263,310)

For the year ended 31 March 2024, gain on disposal of subsidiaries
of approximately HK$59,323,000 had been recognised in the ports

and logistics segment.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEVMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
assets and liabilities by operating and reportable

segment:

As at 31 March 2025

7. 7EER @
PTHEERAERE

ATNBAEEREERAIRED

MEI D 2 BERBED T

M2025F3A31H

Segment
Ports and Financial total and
logistics  Property Securities  services consolidated
B0 ABEE
)&/ b mE #F SERE R&E
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’'000
THER THER THER THER THER
ASSETS EE
Segment assets NHEE 33,040 62,019 201,139 629,091 925,289
Unallocated assets* AOBREE" 14,111
Consolidated total assets R ABEE 939,400
LIABILITIES g
Segment liabilities NEERE 6,707 8,994 2,011 70,143 87,855
Unallocated liabilities* AARBE 33,402
Consolidated total liabiities 4 & # & (& 121,257
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M WmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. D EER @

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) THEEREE @
As at 31 March 2024 202453 A31H
Segment
Ports and Financial total and
logistics ~ Property ~ Securites ~ services  consolidated
%0 nHEas

ROR mx w5 TRRS ke
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TRAL  TAL  TEL  TAR TR

ASSETS iE

Segment assets NHEE 47,843 73981 131,285 692,847 945,956

Unallocated assets* AOBEE" 30,106

Consolidated total assets A B ERE 976,062

LIABILITIES a8

Segment liabilities DHAE 6,557 10,146 - 34 16,737

Unallocated liabilities™ RAoEAE" 33,025

Consolidated total liablliies 44 £ & (& 49,762
Unallocated assets include cash and bank balances of approximately * AOBEERFEERS RRITETL 4,678,000
HK$4,678,000 (2024: HK$6,959,000) and amounts due from 78 7T (2024 © 6,959,000 7T ) K I 4 fE W5 48
former subsidiaries in liquidation of nil (2024: HK$1,303,000), while BB B B A &) 7k 8 (2024 : 1,303,000 7T)
the unallocated liabilities include other borrowings of approximately 7 2 Bt & (& A 8 75 H fth & 5k 4919,040,000
HK$19,040,000 (2024: HK$15,977,000). 77T (2024 : 15,977,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities comprise assets
and liabilities of the operating subsidiaries, as well
as certain interests in associates and investments
in equity instruments that are engaged in relevant
segmental businesses. Accordingly, segment
assets exclude corporate assets which are mainly
certain bank balances and cash, interest in an
associate, interest in a joint venture, right-of-
use assets and other receivables, and segment
liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which are
mainly certain other borrowings, other payables
and lease liabilities.

For the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance, deferred tax
liabilities are allocated to segment liabilities but the
related deferred tax credit/charge are not reported
to the executive directors of the Company as part
of segment results.

7.

e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

7 EER @

THEEREE®@®

DTHMEENAREBEBRBRESEHEEDY
MEBz2RENBRAIZEER
BE G URBERAAL#EaTA
BEZE TR WL DHEE
TERIBRETRITEFRA

& —HMELARE —HAR
O S - AEEE R

R EREE  MOoRRERN
BRIZAETEMEN Hib/E
NEALHERBZEEXRAE -

REBERDE kD ERBEFGE
ZAR G EERBERBERIEED
MEF BHEZEEHBEEAS
SRR D B EAE 2 KRR
DRARRBMITEREZR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A31BIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. DEEFR @
Other information HaEgw

AN/ AEEREZR
MEI D 2 M ER AT

The following is an analysis of the Group’s other K A] & »

information by operating and reportable segment:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B E2025F3A31ALFE

228

Segment
Ports and Financial total and
logistics  Property Securities  services Unallocated consolidated
B0 ABEE
5&/bi mE #% SBRE RAE k&&E
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TEr TErxr TEx T#E=n TET TR
Amounts included in the measure it A 2 £ &5
of segment results or segment 2 BEE,/
assets/liabilities: BEEZRE
Additions to non-current assets B IFRHEE
other than financial instruments (£ & T &R 5N 836 - - 69,372 11,130 81,338
Amortisation of intangible assets % 7/ & & # 4 (44) - - - - (44)
Depreciation of property, mE - Hm
plant and equipment REERE (2,497) - - - (928) (3,425)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ AEBENE (955) - - - (1,129) (2,078)
Impairment loss recognised ERERRE
on loan receivables EERR (2,691) - - (1,005) - (3,696)
Recovery of bad debts written off Y [2] £ F i 85 2
in previous year 25K - - - - 1,327 1,327
(Loss) gain on disposal of property, & E W% - i &
plant and equipment SE(BB)
Wiz (1,790) - - - 20 (1,770)
Loss on disposal of investment REREMFL
properties BB - 977) - - - (977)
Gain on termination of right-of-use & IHEREEE 2
assets Wiz - - - - 3,645 3,645
Impairment loss on right-of-use B iE4 &
assets ZREEBE - - - - (4,314) (4,314)
Impairment loss on property, plant 1% ~ ##, [2 :%
and equipment ZHEBE (3,894) - - - (1,078) (4,972)
Losses on changes in ownership in - — & é—f RAIFE
an associate BZEHER - - - (29,650) - (29,650)
Fair value changes of investment &M% 2
properties AFEEEY - (3,500) - - - (3,500)
Bank and other interestincome R 1T R E 4t
ESY N 195 5 - - 2 202
Share of results of associates BUBMELTER - (9,092) - (81,140 (2,856) (93,088)
Share of results of ajoint venture B fE—HA S %
E3 - - - - 123 123
Interests in associates BENR RS - 11,055 - 578,106 1,455 590,616
Interest in a joint venture —REELERR - - - - 123 123

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. D EE R @)
Other information (Continued) Hi & # @)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE£2024F3A31BLFE

Segment
Ports and Financial total and
logistics ~ Property ~ Securities  services  Unallocated  consolidated
&0 pEiEh
R mE 5 cER% L &%ﬁ/\
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FTEx  TExX FER FHL THT
Amounts included in the measure it A 2 £ &
of segment results or segment 2 HEE,/
assets/liabilities: BEHEZRE:
Additions to non-current assets B HEHEE
other than financial instruments (£ & T AR 5N 5,160 - — 142,800 3,642 151,602
Amortisation of intangible assets £ 1/ & & $ (45) - - - — (45)
Depreciation of property, ER 101
plant and equipment REERE (5,087) - - - (1,207) (6,294)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ B E I & (3,224) - - - (10,461) (13,685)
Impairment loss recognised ERERRE
on loan receivables BB (40) - - - - (40)
Impairment loss reversed on fE HSZ ERP AN E
amounts due from former REFELZRE
subsidiaries in liquidation BN — - — - 31,111 31,111
Loss on disposal of property, REME BRK
plant and equipment REZBE (510) - - - (750) (1,260)
Impairment loss on right-of-use £ FAEEE
assets ZREER - - - - (8,877) (8,877)
Fair value changes of investment 1% ﬁ mEZ
properties ATYEEED - (9,800) - - - (9,800)
Bank and other interest income SR 17 X E ft
M EMA 144 - - - 5 149
Share of results of associates BUEMENTER - (23,160) —  (207,448) - (230,608)
Share of results of ajoint venture B —HAZ %
25 - — — — (4,642) (4,642)
Interests in associates BE N AR — 20,147 — 657,439 - 677,586
Interest in a joint venture —AeEbFE#ER - - - - 11,500 11,500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A31BIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in
Hong Kong (place of domicile), Macau and the
PRC (excluding Hong Kong and Macau).

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
by geographical market based on geographical
location where construction works or other goods/
services are provided:

7 EER @

i & & #

AEBEZEZBTBURNEE(RE
) BEFAMRFE(TEREB M
RFT) e

AR B AN S Bl i R 5 (R P
REBRETRIHEMER/TRED
Holm) &0 2 WA DT

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Hong Kong BB 1,969 10,502
The PRC H 37,044 51,468
39,013 61,970

The following is an analysis of the carrying
amount of non-current assets excluding financial

ATNRREEMEMES H 2 IF
RBEE(TMEREMIA)RE

instruments, based on the geographical location B -
of assets:
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$’000
TET FETT
Hong Kong BB 592,386 744,668
The PRC F 15,200 24,308
607,586 768,976
Information about major customers FEEFFZER

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the

H E2025F3A31HIEFE &K

largest customer, which is under the ports and
logistics segment, contributed to the revenue of
approximately HK$25,064,000 (2024: HK$26,318,000)
which individually contributed more than 10% of
total revenue of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

8. OTHER INCOME 8. Hfttlg A
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Bank and other interest income R1T R E MR B UL A 202 149
Consultancy service income B E AR TS A 4,070 —
Sundry income FMIEWA 232 —
4,504 149
9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 9. HW & KE#E
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Net exchange gain (loss) bEE 5 Wz (B518) /5 58 15 (1,371)
Gain on termination of lease contracts #& |FFH 49 2 W 25 3,645 —
Gain on forfeiture of deposit and BWIE e M E 1R
earnest money received 2 W a - 8,200
Recovery of bad debts written offin ~ U& [a] & & #ifi 8 2 £ BR
previous years 1,327 —
Impairment loss on property, M - R R RE
plant and equipment (Note 17) BB (HaF17) (4,972) —
Impairment loss on right-of-use EREEEZRERBRE
assets (Note 18) (KfzE18) (4,314) (8,877)
Loss on disposal of property, plant B & ¥ 3% - HW K& & B
and equipment Z 518 (1,770) (1,260)
Loss on disposal of investment BEREYE ZEE
properties (977) —
Losses on changes in ownershipin ~ — B2 ARl FTAE 2
an associate (note) SE)EE (L) (29,650) —

(36,696) (3,308)

EMZERAERAT 2025 F% 231



232

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRERHE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES (CONTINUED)

note:

The losses on changes in ownership in an associate mainly
represented:

i)

On 22 August 2024, Hope Capital Limited (“Hope Capital”),
an associate of the Group, entered into a share repurchase
agreement with its respective shareholders. Upon the
completion of share repurchase, the Group’s equity interest
in Hope Capital increased to 34.72%, resulting in a loss of
HK$18,051,000.

On 24 March 2025, Hope Capital entered into a share
swap agreement with a counter party (the “Party”) pursuant
to which Hope Capital agreed to issue and transfer the new
shares representing a 9.09% equity interest in Hope Capital
to the Party in exchange for a 8.06% equity interest in the
Party. Upon completion of the share swap on 24 March
2025, the Group’s equity interest in Hope Capital decreased
to 31.54%, resulting in a loss of HK$11,296,000.

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSS (RECOGNISED)

9. Hitlkz= K Ei8 um)

Bt - — R

fPERBIMERZEYERTIER:

R2024F8A22H0 - A &£ B 2 B
% A\ & Hope Capital Limited ([Hope
Capital]) £2 H A5 B8 I R 7] 32 & 1) B8
Bl - RHOBETKE  AREER
Hope Capital ) % 7 18 2= 34.72% » & 4%
JE51818,051,00078 JT °

202543 A 24 B * Hope Capital 81 —
HBRGEF(ZTH5 ) T LB
# 0 #E 1tk Hope Capital | & 317 # 1%
1% (}8% M Hope Capital #)9.09% % #)
WSRO EETZTAT - LBRE
2R %) 75 198.06% A% 1 o 12 j% 722025
F3H24H T K & & & E M Hope
Capital Z BB E 31.54% @ E4XEEB
11,296,000/% 7T °

10. T RLEE 2 BERFE (BR)

REVERSED ON FINANCIAL ASSETS, o FRE
NET
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FAT
Impairment loss recognised on loan  fE U E X FER 2 R E E 1B
receivables (3,696) (40)
Impairment loss reversed on amounts & Y5 £ & A i B A 7]
due from former subsidiaries in RIE 2 B E B B R A
liquidation - 31,111
(3,696) 31,071

Details of the impairment assessment are set out
in Note 37(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRKRME
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

11. FINANCE COSTS 11. @& A
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest on bank borrowings RITE R Z T B — 66
Interest on other borrowings EmERzFE 1,193 5,646
Imputed interest on lease liabilities HEaGEZHERNE 374 915
1,567 6,627
12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12.EEREEME
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments () EEM <
The emoluments paid or payable to each of B ERNH (2024 £4)

the six (2024: seven) directors are as follows:

None of the directors has waived any

EEBAZEEWT

FRAMELMEFHELM
B4 (2024 : &) ©

emoluments during the year (2024: Nil).

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other Discretionary scheme
Name of director EEns Fees  benefits bonus  contribution Total
MR BB
e HaB\A MEEA  FEER &5t
HK$000  HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$000  HK$’000
TET TET TER TET TET
2025 2025
Executive directors BITES
Kwong Kai Sing, Benny (note ) BYRRAX (M7 a%i) - 2,200 = = 2,200
Au Wai June mE& - 588 - 18 606
- 2,788 - 18 2,806
Independent non-executive directors Bk HITEE
Yu Chung Leung AR 250 - - - 250
Lam John Cheung-wah ERE 250 - - - 250
Liu Jianyi (note iv) 2518 (W tiv) 32 - - - 32
William Nicholas Giles (note v) William Nicholas
Giles (Kt &t v) 191 - - - 191
723 - - - 723
723 2,788 - 18 3,529
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MWK

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

12.EEREEMEmw

(a) EEM 2w

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other  Discretionary scheme
Name of director BEMA Fees benefits bonus  contribution Total
& RRTER
we HEdH BETEAL AHEMER B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT FHT
2024 2024
Executive directors BITES
Kwong Kai Sing, Benny (note ) BYRRAX (M %) - 3,000 - 9 3,009
Au Wai June RIE & - 725 - 18 743
Marc Andreas Tschimer (note i) Marc Andreas
Tschirner
(K atii) - 375 - 5 380
Sam Nickolas David Hing Cheong TR (B i)
(note i) - 375 - 5 380
— 4,475 - 37 4,512
Independent non-executive directors Bk HITEE
Yu Chung Leung KRR 250 - - - 250
Lam John Cheung-wah ERE 250 - - - 250
William Nicholas Giles (note v) William Nicholas
Giles (#f7tv) 240 - - - 240
740 - - - 740
740 4,475 - 37 5,252
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12.EEREEMEmw
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (@) EEME W

The executive directors’ emoluments were for WITESHE IR EEERE

their services in connection with management RKARIRAEESBIREERD

of the affairs of the Company and the Group. AR % M fE H o

The independent non-executive directors’ BYFERNTEETMNE oL

emoluments were for their services as ZEBARNREETREHOR

directors of the Company. BmEL -

notes: K it -

(i) Kwong Kai Sing, Benny was appointed as managing i) BB RR AR 2023 F7R1HEZ T AR
director (equivalent to the chief executive of the Company) HEERARREREITRALR) -
on 1 July 2023.

(ii) Marc Andreas Tschirner resigned as executive director and (i) Marc Andreas Tschirmer 720234 7 A1
managing director on 1 July 2023. ABERITES REAH -

(i) Sam Nickolas David Hing Cheong resigned as executive @iy LEFER2023F7AIBETHITE
director and vice chairman on 1 July 2023. EREERE-

(v)  Liu Jianyi was appointed as independent non-executive vy 2B R2024F12A2THEZ T A
director on 27 December 2024. BUIEHITES -

(v) William Nicholas Giles resigned as independent non- V) Wiliam Nicholas Giles 420251 517
executive director on 17 January 2025. ABAEBUIENTES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12.EEREEME W

EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEME

The five highest paid individuals in the
Group for the year included one (2024: one)
director of the Company, details of whose
emoluments are set out in Note 12(a) above.

The aggregate emoluments of the remaining
four (2024: four) highest paid individuals, who
are employees of the Group, are as follows:

AEBRAFEREZ RS
ABEBFE—%Z (2024 — )R
NAIEE HMeFBIN L
X FtEE12(0) ©

E Y
(2024 - NB)=BFABEZ
M T :

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TATT

Salaries and other benefits e hEAMEF 4,068 10,221
Discretionary bonus ) 15 7€ 4T — —

Retirement benefit scheme RUKEF T 814 3%
contributions 65 69
4,133 10,290

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

BEZBMTABMT

Number of employees
EBEAH
2025 2024

Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ 7T A T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T & 1,500,000 7T, -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 /& T & 2,000,000 7T, 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 7 7T & 5,500,000 78 7T, -

_Ll\)_Ll

During both years, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals and directors as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

13. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 13. BRB AT &5 18

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET THET

Loss before taxation has been arrived % EiRTE B2 % -
at after charging:

Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEME 44 45
Auditor’s remuneration % BB BN &

— Audit services — ZBR 1,060 1,730

— Non-audit services — EZERTE 748 739
Cost of inventories and services BRRBEBRZFELRD

recognised as an expense DN 28,902 38,186
Depreciation of property, plant Y WM EREREZITE

and equipment 3,425 6,294
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FHAEEE 2T E

(note (a)) (K& (@) 2,078 13,685
Staff costs (note (b)) B T A (MfaE b)) 27,497 49,825
Expenses related to short-term leases & 5 B & MK EE

and leases of low-value assets EEHECZER 2,206 4,691
and after crediting: WEFA:
Rental income from investment KREMEZHSWA -

properties, net of direct operating HBREEEEER

expenses (note (c)) (Kf#£(c) 854 1,672
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRERHE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

13. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)

13. BRF AT B 18 ()

notes: Biat -
(@)  Depreciation of right-of-use assets @ [FREEEZNE
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Amount provided for the year in respect of: FERER:
— Leasehold land — et 308 1,306
— Land and buildings — Tt REF 1,770 11,818
— Motor vehicles — A% - 561
2,078 13,685
(o)  Staff costs b)) BIKA
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHEIT
Directors’ emoluments (Note 12(a)) B2 e (FaF12() 3,529 5,252
Other staff costs: Efh8 TR :
Salaries and other benefits (including bonus) T B % E 48 B (B B TEAD) 19,199 42,113
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIRTRFIEH &R 4,769 2,460
27,497 49,825
(©)  Rental income from investment properties, net of direct operating ) KEAVEZHBA HREZLEER
expenses
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Rental income from investment properties WEWMEZHS WA 1,050 1,800
Less: Direct operating expenses from leasing of & : R BV XM EE L 2
investment properties BEERELEEER (196) (128)
854 1,672
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRKRME
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

14. TAXATION 14. H 18
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Taxation comprises tax (credit) HMIEBEATRIE (A
charge below: X
Taxation arising in the PRC KA EE ZTIE
Current year KEE 3 528
Overprovision in prior years RBEFEHEERE — (868)
3 (340)
Deferred taxation arising in the PRC ~ R B E 4 2 ELEFIA
(Note 34) (Bt &£ 34) (11) (11)
(8) (351)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime in
Hong Kong, the first HK$2 million of profits of the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. No
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made as the Group has no estimated assessable
profits for both years. The tax rate for the Group’s
subsidiaries in the PRC is 25% for both years.

BEEEMAHFESHEGE -
EEREBEERMNE200E B T
i A 15 32 Bt R 8.25% i Bt - 1 A 48
200 % 7T B9 ;A 1 12 T % 16.5%
B N E MRS FSHEGE
ERCEBEER 2 M B EEIZ
B — M EAGL% BN IE - R A
EERMEFELEMTERM
i A o B A BB B RIS B ME
e AREENRFRH KB R G MIE
FREZHMER25% o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A31BIEFE

14. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 14. i I @)

REEzHEBEREAHGESKER
FrolBrAH AT E 1B 2 SR 0T

The taxation credit for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before taxation per the consolidated
income statement as follows:

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Loss before taxation B %1 AT B 18 (177,393) (263,661)
Tax calculated at domestic rates ZEBREREERE

applicable in the respective jurisdictions %t R =t & - i 18 (30,876) (44,351)
Tax effect of share of results of BB eEank—HeE

associates and a joint venture EEEIBBEE 15,339 38,816
Tax effect of expenses not deductible & &t 75 77 H A~ 7] #0 6k B 2

for tax purpose LR E 13,063 11,165
Tax effect of income not taxable for & & 7 77 H 5 78 sk B WA

tax purpose IR E (692) (15,488)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 7 1E #& 72 5‘5‘ !

ZMBTE 685 13,632

Tax effect of other deductible IR VE T 58 EL Ath B] F0 Rk B& B

temporary difference not recognised  Z= 58 2 Fi 1% 7 "’i.“ 3,283 412
Tax effect of utilisation of other AL AIARER 2 HAh

deductible temporary difference AR R E 2 S

previously not recognised T (1) (3,669)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses @U }EH 5‘6 A AR TR 2 T 18

previously not recognised EE'E BB E (809) —
Overprovision in prior years BEFEHER 1% - (868)
Tax credit for the year ARFEEZHIBEA (8) (351)

15. DISTRIBUTION

No dividend was recognised as distribution during
both years.

The board of directors of the Company has
resolved not to recommend for shareholders’
approval the payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

16. LOSS PER SHARE 16. BIRE#E
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per KARHBEARBGEEESRER
share attributable to owners of the Company for NHEESEBDIZEUATHENAE
the year is based on the following data: 1JFH -
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Loss for the year attributable to At E G IR E K
owners of the Company for the N B EE518 2 A A 7]
purpose of calculating basic HBEANEBIEFEEEE
and diluted loss per share (177,376) (265,263)
2025 2024
Number of Number of
shares shares
il S QE| BnEg=
Weighted average number of ARG EEIRER
ordinary shares for the purpose N B & E518 2 hitE F 15
of calculating basic and diluted ¥ 78 % 21
loss per share 1,040,946,114 1,040,946,114
Diluted loss per share is equal to the basic loss AN/ B N R R S
per share as the Company does not have any BEIINNEEHESE AR W
dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding for BESEEBEGREXNEERSE -

both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. 1% - W R &R E

Fuelgas  Motor Furniture,
Leasehold logistics and vehicles fixtures
land and  distribution and and office Construction
buildings facilities vessels equipment in progress Total
%A
HELH RRURR HKER RER
REF SHRE WH BAORE EBIE &5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEL FTHErT FER TETL TAR
Cost RA
At 1 April 2023 20234 A1H 45,653 240,371 37,464 5,248 54,675 383,411
Exchange realignment fE X AE (2,549) (13,489)  (1,828) (153) (3,064) (21,083)
Additions NE 941 2,087 253 19 — 3,300
Disposal BRE (1,846) (60) (775) (940) - (3,621)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36) &M B AR (Hf7736)  (32,918)  (216,504) (20,587) (2,176) (51,611) (323,796)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 1202453 A31H
K2024F4H1H 9,281 12,405 14,527 1,998 — 38,211
Exchange realignment AR (48) (58) (38) 3) - (147)
Additions NE - 8 1,425 105 - 1,538
Disposal RE (1,552) (2,940) (4,728) (36) —  (9,256)
At 31 March 2025 R2025F3A31H 7,681 9,415 11,186 2,064 — 30,346
Depreciation and impairment TERRE
At 1 April 2023 20234 A18 39,791 229,398 30,058 2,805 54,675 356,727
Exchange realignment EHAE 2,221) (12,895) (1,517) (109) (3,064) (19,806)
Provided for the year REERR 345 4,231 900 818 - 6294
Eliminated on disposal & 5 85 (1,187) (38 (602 (189) - (2,016)
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries 1 & it & A &1 5 %1 4
(Note 36) (i 5#36) (32,809)  (215,018) (20,332) (1,709) (51,611) (321,479)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 720243 4318
202454 H1H 3,919 5678 8,507 1,616 - 19,720
Exchange realignment fEH AR (36) (51) (14) @) - (104)
Provided for the year AEEFR 284 2,046 799 296 — 3425
Impairment loss for the year AEEREESE 2,029 1,840 1,079 24 — 4972
Eliminated on disposal BERYHE (774) (1,857) (4,321) (29) - (6,981)
At 31 March 2025 20253 A31H 5,422 7,656 6,050 1,904 - 21,032
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 March 2025 20253 A31H 2,259 1,759 5,136 160 - 9314
At 31 March 2024 20243 A31H 5,362 6,727 6,020 382 — 18,491
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

The Group had property, plant and equipment
of HK$9,314,000 as at 31 March 2025, of
which HK$4,180,000 were attributable to ports
and logistics segment. The ports and logistics
segment is a cash-generating unit (the “CGU”)
for the purpose of impairment assessment. In
view of the decline in ports and logistics business
activities and operations, the Group reviewed the
recoverable amount of the property, plant and
equipment based on downwardly revised forecast
for the 5 years ending 31 March 2030. As a resullt,
the recoverable amount of the related property,
plant and equipment which belongs to this CGU
has been reduced.

The Group has performed impairment assessment
by assessing their recoverable amounts based
on the higher of value-in-use and fair value less
costs of disposal. The recoverable amounts of
the CGU are determined based on value-in-
use calculations, which are higher than the fair
value less costs of disposal calculations. Key
assumptions to the value-in-use calculations
include projected revenue growth rate, gross profit
margin and discount rate. The revenue growth
rate, gross profit margin and pre-tax discount rate
used for the forecasted period to determine the
recoverable amounts is —9% to 6%, 22% to 25%
and 11.6%, respectively. The terminal growth rate
used in the forecast is 3%.

If the forecasted revenue had been lowered by
5% for the forecasted period, a further increase
in impairment loss of HK$540,000 would have
been resulted. If the adopted pre-tax discount
rate had been increased/decreased by 1% for the
forecasted period, a further increase/decrease
in impairment loss of HK$640,000/HK$776,000
would have been resulted.

REMBRKRME
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

17. 1% - W R R E @

MR2025F3A831H A&EE 2 ¥
3 - He N R 15 42 9,314,0000%8 7T ¢
H 14,180,000/ TR BB QO &Y
moE - RENEmMS BO R
MR AEReELEEL(R:
EEBAM]) ERNEORYRFES
EEREE TR AEERE
HZEZ2030F3A3IHIERABEFET
FHeTER - HE - EREREED
AUt Bl & BT EF A o Bt
ZECELXBEMNMMBYE R &
REN A RESEE T AR -

AEEEREBEEMEBERERFE
BRLEXNAMEPHRFE - ¥
EZFReELBEUNARO S
HoRUYNEERSEELEMET
BMERGE ReEEAEUNAIRKE
TRIOBRBEREEFEETE
EHRAFEBERLERAFTER
S EEREENTIERRETE
Bt WABERE  EMXRKLEER
o JEOBIHARE AN E E A IO £ FR
F AR & R~ R R N BR A ARG
WEDRR-9%ZE6% * 22% £ 25%
K11.6% - FRBIFTA MR EZ KX
/3% e

fig 72 B R B3 8 A% TR OB WL A T 58
5% ' 1% B R B & 1B E — i
H01540,0007% 7T ° {8 72 T8 Bl HA f B
B 49 1 B F5 AT B 3R X 38 00,08
1% @ B EBUREEBE— I,/
B2V 640,0005% 7T, 776,000 JT °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M WmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

17.

18.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and
equipment, other than construction in progress,
are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the
following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and QOver the period of the

buildings relevant leases or
50 years, whichever is
shorter
Fuel gas logistics and ~ 4%-10%

distribution facilities
Motor vehicles and
vessels
Furniture, fixtures and
office equipment

2.6%-20%

8%-33":%

RIGHT-OF-USE-ASSETS

17. 1% - W R R E @

P RS (ER IR
BN EB LERATE FX
m

HELHWMEFT HEHEHEN

50F (BB &
B7E)
MR R D HE 4%-10%
YR E KA 2.6%-20%

RE - KEBENX 8%—-33":%

N i

18. FHRREE

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE& T FHETT

Leasehold land MEL i 5,550 5,893

Land and buildings TH REF 974 948

6,524 6,841

Total cash outflow for leases HEZRe R AR 10,732 17,068
Impairment loss on EREEE ZRERBE

the right-of-use assets (note) (K3%) 4,314 8,877

Additions to the right-of-use assets AN EF AL E 6,117 4,171

Leasehold land represents up front prepayments
made for the acquisition of land-use rights related
to ports and logistics operations in the PRC.

note: The amount represents the full impairment loss recognised on
certain right-of-use assets related to non-cancellable lease terms
for office premises and motor vehicles, the carrying amounts of
which were assessed as irrecoverable.
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18.

19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIGHT-OF-USE-ASSETS (CONTINUED)

For both years, the Group leases various offices
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for terms of up to five years, but may have
extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period based on
the contractual terms of the contract.

The Group reassesses whether it is reasonably
certain to exercise an extension option upon
the occurrence of either a significant event or
a significant change in circumstances that is

e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

18. FHARKEE @

ARMEFEmNS  AEEHEEZE
MAEHEESE HEARMNHR
RRSTF WEAREAEHE-
HEGRRENELEEHAE S
Z e RHR S MR - N E T A
KFHE AR e A R EE - R
SEERAAGRAMNERLRES R
B & RGRREE R -

WEERBARSBERN EX
EURBABREDE AREE
BT RSN BB
ERRIEE - A N T

within the control of the lessee. There is no such EUL R B o
triggering event during both years.
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REW =
Leasehold
properties
HEWE
HK$'000
FATT
FAIR VALUE NEEE
At 1 April 2023 202344 A10H 63,300
Decrease in fair value recognised RiFalERAERZ
in the consolidated income statement NEEERD (9,800)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 M o02443 5318 k202444 A1H 53,500
Decrease in fair value recognised REREWERAER
in the consolidated income statement N EER D (3,500)
Disposal R E (50,000)

At 31 March 2025

R20259F3 A31H
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the Group’s investment
properties have been arrived at on the basis
of valuations carried out as at those dates by
independent qualified professional valuers not
connected with the Group. The management
works closely with the external qualified
professional valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation and inputs for fair value measurement
and reports to the board of directors from period
to period.

In determining the fair value of leasehold properties
as at 31 March 2024, the highest and best use of
the properties is their current use. The investment
method is adopted for leasehold properties in
Hong Kong by taking into account the current rent
passing and the reversionary income potential
of the tenancy. Key inputs used in valuing the
leasehold properties in Hong Kong include the
monthly market unit rent of HK$27.6 per square
feet, using direct market comparables and taking
into account of similar characteristics, location
and size of property, and reversionary yield of
3.95%. The increase in the monthly market unit
rent per square feet of comparable properties or
the decrease in reversionary yield would result in
an increase in the fair value of the properties, and
vice versa.

There has been no change from the valuation
technique and methodology used in the prior
year. The fair value hierarchy of the measurement
of the investment properties is Level 3 and there
are no transfers into or out of Level 3 during
the year ended 31 March 2024. The fair value
measurement is on a recurring basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

19. BREWE @)

REBZEREDEZRATFEER
HEOHREASEMERE 2B
VRERBEXRGEMETZMHE
AAE-EEEBEISAERERM
BT AE  NELQFEES
ENABEENMBASE  WEH
RAEERME

MR2024F3A31H REFETHED
(X2 AV EER WENERE MK
THRAHERSAR EREEM
EMERNLEL  HEBEIER
MESKFEREENER KD B
N -RBEBHEMEHERAZE
THMAREBEREFHAME LEE
AEERMELZEWENEL
B B R RN AMSEM
e AEFEHR2716BTT ARE
SN KR B3.95% Al BLL &4 ¥
ZEBEFFRgAMBEMEAS £
AR EBREETRE  HEBUIRE
MERNFEBELA RZIHA-

FIEAcmERMEFEE KT
WHEEE - PRE E2024F3 A31H
HFE REWEFEZLAFEE
ERAFE=ZMATEBEAET =R
HEF—REL AFEENEL
EEEE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

20. B EE

Motor
vehicles
registration Land
marks premium Total
RE
BREWRE T B E &gt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FHET FA&TT
(note {1 &+ a) (note M1t b)
Cost X 2N
At 1 April 2023 202344 A1 8 205 1,715 1,920
Exchange realignment [ & 58 & — (96) (96)
At 31 March 2024 and 7202493 H31H &

1 April 2024 2024F 4 A1H 205 1,619 1,824
Exchange realignment [ 7, 8 £ — (10) (10)
At 31 March 2025 720254 3 A 31 H 205 1,609 1,814
Amortisation ey
At 1 April 2023 R 20234 A1 8 - 764 764
Exchange realignment & 3, 8 & — (43) (43)
Provided for the year NEE TR — 45 45
At 31 March 2024 and 720243 H31H &

1 April 2024 2024%F 4 A1 H - 766 766
Exchange realignment [ & 58 & - (5) (5)
Provided for the year REE TR — 44 44
At 31 March 2025 20254 3 A31H — 805 805
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 March 2025 20254 3 A 31 H 205 804 1,009
At 31 March 2024 2024 3 A 31 H 205 853 1,058
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M WmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

notes:

(@) The assets have indefinite useful lives. The directors are of the
opinion that the motor vehicles registration marks are worth at
least their carrying values.

(b) The amount represents the land premium for leasehold land in
Wuhan, the PRC, acquired by the Group through the acquisition
of the relevant business and the amount is to be amortised on the
same basis as the related leasehold land recognised as right-of-
use assets over 36 years (2024: 36 years).

20.

BREEE®
et -

@ ZEEAERETCRAEAFH -BEIRA
EERRBEEELHESNEREE -

ZEBMARRAEECERBEBEBHPATK
BURFEREM2AE T2 +HEE -
DB AERRATEREEEEZHEE LI
HER 2 EERB6HF (2024 : 364 ) M85 o

c

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 21. & QR =S
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cost of unlisted investments in B I LETEEE QA
associates Z B 911,537 872,504
Share of post-acquisition losses and 15 Uz 8% 1% &5 18 &
other comprehensive expense, Hth2EMAX -
net of dividends received kR E W B (320,921) (194,918)
Share of net assets BmhEEFE 590,616 677,586

All of the associates are accounted for using
the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements. Particulars of the Group’s associates
at 31 March 2025 and 2024 are set out in Note
46(b).

(@) Material associates

The unlisted investments include the following
material associates:

(i)  40% equity interest in Golden Thread
Investments Limited (“Golden Thread”),
which is incorporated in the Republic of
Marshall Islands (“Marshall Islands”) and
engaged in financing business.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report

FTEBE R RNEEe BB ®RE
NERAEZEZAERE - REER
2025 N 2024 3 A31H Y Bt &
RN FBEEHRHIFE46(b) ©

() EXBERQT
FLETREBRENATE KN

()  FGolden Thread Investments
Limited ([ Golden Thread])
B Z40%R AR %
RERNERBREE(HA
A S ) A0 B it Ak
Vo RERMEES -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(@) Material associates (Continued)

M

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying
amount of the Group’s interest in Golden
Thread was HK$68,617,000 (2024:
HK$159,235,000), representing the
Group’s 40% (2024 40%) proportionate
ownership interest in the associate’s
net assets of HK$171,541,000
(2024: HK$398,090,000). The net
assets comprised non-current
assets, current assets and current
liabilities of HK$4,458,000 (2024:
HK$4,370,000), HK$181,563,000 (2024:
HK$395,013,000) and HK$14,480,000
(2024: HK$1,293,000) respectively.
For the year ended 31 March 2025,
the associate recorded revenue of
HK$148,000 (2024: HK$11,744,000)
and a loss of HK$226,637,000 (2024:
HK$80,019,000). Taking into account
the other comprehensive income of
HK$88,000 (2024: other comprehensive
expense of HK$2,850,000), the
associate reported a total comprehensive
expense of HK$226,549,000 (2024:
HK$82,869,000). No dividend was
received from Golden Thread for the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Approximately 33.33% equity interest in
Maxlord Enterprises Limited (“Maxlord”),
which is incorporated in Hong Kong and
engaged in money lending business. As
at 31 March 2025, Maxlord is a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of Planetree
International Development Limited (stock
code: 0613.HK).

REMBRKRME
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

21. B & N B FE = |

(@) EXHEE QT @
0 @

R2025F3A31H » AEE
A Golden Thread z # #=
2 BR T (B /468,617,000
7t (2024 : 159,235,000 &
T0) MAEB RN ZEE
NaEZFEE171,541,000
7 T (2024 : 398,090,000
B JT ) (5 40% (2024 :
40%) Lt il = ¥E B R
me FEAEBEIIER
g & E 4,458,000/ T
(2024 : 4,370,000 7T ) *
i B & E 181,563,000%
7t (2024 : 395,013,000 /&
70) Xm B) & 14,480,000
T (2024 1 1,293,000 7
JC ) o B 220253 A31H
WEE ZBERAHRE
Y& A 148,0007% 7T (2024 :
11,744,000/ 7T ) & & 8
226,637,000 JT (2024 :
80,019,000/ 7T ) £ &t
N H b 2 T W %% 88,0008
JC(2024 : Efh 2 M X
2,850,000/ 7T ) 1% + 7% B
LNRERETEHET L
226,549,000 7T (2024 :
82,869,0007% T ) o E &
2025 F K 2024 F3 A 31 H
I F E I & B Golden
Thread Y BX % 2. °

(i) MEALEPEBRAF(H
“ |) % B 2 #33.33% %
KX ZRAAREBH
MR WEREER-
R20259F3 A31H » BH %
BERBEEZERABRAQ A
(B 5 K 8% : 0613.HK) Z
FE2EWBRA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A31BIEFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(@) Material associates (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount
of the Group’s interest in Maxlord was
HK$201,322,000 (2024: HK$209,255,000),
representing the Group’s approximately
33.33% (2024: 33.33%) proportionate
ownership interest in the associate’s
net assets of HK$603,965,000 (2024:
HK$627,764,000). The net assets comprised
current assets of HK$604,458,000 (2024:
HK$628,794,000) and current liabilities of
HK$493,000 (2024: HK$1,030,000). For the
year ended 31 March 2025, the associate
recorded revenue of HK$2,740,000 (2024:
HK$17,356,000) and a loss and total
comprehensive expense of HK$23,798,000
(2024: profit and total comprehensive
income of HK$104,194,000). No dividend
was received from Maxlord for the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Approximately 31.54% equity interest in
Hope Capital Limited (“Hope Capital”),
which is incorporated in the BVI and
engaged in provision of one-stop
integrated financial services, including
carry out regulated activities in Type 1
(dealing in securities), Type 2 (dealing
in futures contracts), Type 4 (advising
on securities), Type 5 (advising on
futures contracts) and Type 9 (asset
management) under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance in Hong Kong through
its direct wholly-owned subsidiary.
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21. B & N B FE = |

(@) EXHEE QT @

(i)

(i)

(#8)

MR2025F 3 A31H K
SERHZE R 2R
M 18 £201,322,0007% 7T
(2024 : 209,255,000 7
TC)  MAE BN ZEE N
Al Z JF & E603,965,000/5
7t (2024 : 627,764,000 &
JC) {5 #933.33% (2024 :
33.33%) Lt 7l 2 B #E #E
meo FEERRBRRBEE
604,458,000 7 7T (2024 :
628,794,000 7t ) & i B
B 1&493,000/% 7t (2024 :
1,030,000/ 7T ) ° & £ 2025
FIASIHILEFE  ZB
2 N Al 815 U A 2,740,000
o (2024 : 17,356,000
BIU)AREEEZ2@RA
X #8 $823,798,000/% IT
(2024 : & # 2 2 Wz
#8%8104,194,00078 7C) ° &
F2025F 20244 3 A 31
B (FFE I £ 8 BF %2 A

MRE e

7 Hope Capital Limited ([ Hope
Capital]) # B 2~ #931.54%
AR ZARIRNEE
BRAEESFMKY  #E
RHE—-—HRXEE 2R
% RiEEREERSEA
MBARIBRERESKEE
GRHEZERNBEBRSE
FIEH(BHERS)  Fof
(HEAHXRS) F48E
(MBEHEHEER) - F5
H(BHEaNREREER)
REBRREHREEETR)
XBREES -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(@) Material associates (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying
amount of the Group’s interest in
Hope Capital was HK$231,921,000
(2024: HK$207,137,000), representing
the Group’s approximately 31.54%
(2024: 23.79%) proportionate
ownership interest in the associate’s
net assets of HK$735,305,000
(2024: HK$870,786,000). The net
assets comprised non-current assets,
current assets and current liabilities of
HK$421,443,000 (2024: HK$310,805,000),
HK$321,965,000 (2024: HK$560,720,000)
and HK$8,103,000 (2024: HK$739,000)
respectively. For the year ended 31 March
2025, the associate recorded revenue of
HK$4,468,000 (2024: HK$546,000) and
a profit of HK$45,091,000 (2024: loss of
HK$468,090,000). Taking into account
the other comprehensive expense of
HK$137,319,000 (2024: HK$5,761,000),
the associate reported total comprehensive
expense of HK$92,228,000 (2024:
HK$473,851,000). No dividend was
received from Hope Capital for the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

21. B & N B FE = |

(@) EXHEE QT @
(i) ()

MR2025F3A31H K &
M Hope Capital Z # 5
Z B8R M 18 £A&231,921,000

7t (2024 : 207,137,000

L) EBEARAEER
ZHMERRIZFEE
735,305,000 7% 7T (2024 :
870,786,0007% st ) 1k
#731.54% (2024 : 23.79%)
b Bl 2 B R
FEERRIERBEE
421,443,0007% 7T (2024 :
310,805,000 7T )
&) & £ 321,965,000 JT
(2024 : 560,720,0007% 7T )
N R &) & 1&58,103,0007%8
7t (2024 : 739,000/ JT) °
H E2025%3A31H It F
B ZBERA8EK
A 4,468,000 7T (2024 :
546,000/% 7T ) & & #
45,091,000 7% 7T (2024 :
/&5 18 468,090,000 JT ) °
Kt hHEME2EAX
137,319,000/% 7T (2024 :
5,761,000/ 7T ) 1% + 7% Bt
ENREmREPER AT
92,228,000 % 7T (2024 :
473,851,000/ 7T ) - & &
20254 K 20243 A31H
1FF E I £8 5 Hope Capital
U B R 8 o

o>
B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(@) Material associates (Continued)

(V)

33% equity interest in HEC Securities
Company Limited (“HEC Securities”),
which is incorporated in the BVI and
engaged in securities brokerage, credit
financing and securities investment
business.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying
amount of the Group’s interest in HEC
Securities was HK$76,246,000 (2024:
HK$81,812,000), representing the
Group’s 33% (2024: 33%) proportionate
ownership interest in the associate’s
net assets of HK$231,050,000 (2024:
HK$247,914,000). The net assets
comprised current assets and current
liabilities of HK$261,645,000 (2024:
HK$288,009,000) and HK$30,595,000
(2024: HK$40,095,000) respectively.
For the year ended 31 March 2025,
the associate recorded revenue of
Nil (2024: HK$870,000) and a loss
and total comprehensive expense of
HK$16,864,000 (2024: HK$88,979,000). No
dividend was received from HEC Securities
for the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024,
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21. B & N B FE = |

(@) EXHEE QT @

(v) FHEC Securities Company
Limited (THEC Securities )
B Z33%/% AN 7%
NANEBRE ST
S EFBHFERL 12
ERMERBEARIREBER-

R2025F3 A31H » K &
B AHEC Securities 7 # 35
2 BR M (B 576,246,000 78
7t (2024 : 81,812,000 7
TL) BASEBE RN ZEE
N A 2% & E 231,050,000
& JT (2024 : 247,914,000
B 7T ) A 15 33% (2024 :

33%) Lt il 2 ¥ B #E &
me FEERERDEE
261,645,0007% 7T (2024 :

288,009,000/ 7T ) & &
g & {&30,595,000% 7T
(2024 : 40,095,000 /&
JC ) o B £20254F 3 A 31
AIEFE @ ZB 2D a8k
15 W A Z (2024 : 870,000
BIL)UALREBERZ2E
F XX 4 %516,864,00078
7t (2024 : 88,979,000 &
JC) o B 22025 F 2024
FIAGIALEFELES
HEC Securities # BX I% &, ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (conTinuep) 21, B & A T fE 25 (@)

(b) Individually immaterial associates (b) BRI EE KEEE QT
The information relating to the individually EBERIFEREE AR
immaterial associates is as follows: BB
2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000
TAT T

The Group’s share of loss RNEEEGE 2 BB (11,948) (23,160)
The Group’s share of other RNEBEE(E 2 HAty

comprehensive expense THERAX - —
The Group’s share of total AEE#EGEZE2E

comprehensive expense G (11,948) (23,160)
Aggregate carrying amount of the REBERBERIEEX

Group’s interest in the individually HERNRIZ R L

immaterial associates AR E (A 12,510 20,147

Dividend received from the individually £ A & Y & Bl 3F & X
immaterial associates during the year B & A &) 2 % & - —

There are no significant restrictions on the ability fE AR AR ETARER
of the associates to transfer funds to the Group BEREAEE R EEARAEEED
in the form of cash dividends, or to repay loans or CERKUBENENTESE E
advances made by the Group. N PRl
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A31BIEFE

22. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 22, —HEELEER

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET TAET

Cost of unlisted investment in ajoint & &R —M3IE LHAEE

venture B2 KR 23,205 34,705
Share of post-acquisition losses and B {5 Ug & 12 2 E548 & H 4ty

other comprehensive expense, net THEMX  HREK

of dividends received &% B (23,082) (23,205)
Share of net assets B(hEEFE 123 11,500
The joint venture is accounted for using the equity ABETERNGEWBREANAKA
method in the consolidated financial statements. AN
Particulars of the joint venture at 31 March 2025 R2025%F K2024F3A31H W) &
and 2024 are as follows: LEFBEHIOT

Issued and fully

Place of paid up capital/ Proportion of
incorporation/ registered ownership interest Principal
Name of joint venture  operation capital held by the Group activities
EELEER EMmREL ERTRHAR FEERFEz IEXH®
& E i B BAE EMELR  HEHEHELLH
2025 2024
% %
Sandalwood Joy Limited BV US$100 50 50 Investment
(“Sandalwood”) holding
Sandalwood Joy Limited EEBRE 7S 1003 7T HEER
(['Sandalwood )
The summarised financial information below AT BF 7 & #t # £ /& Sandalwood
represents the consolidated financial information BEASESHHREGENIITRES
of Sandalwood which is prepared in accordance B E KR -

with accounting policies of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

22. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 22 —EEELEEFT @
(CONTINUED)

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
THAT AT

Financial position: B S AR

Non-current assets EMBE E - 23,000
Current assets mEE E 278 624
Current liabilities VEIR=NE (33) (624)
Net assets of the joint venture BEEPEFEE 245 23,000
Reconciliation of its net assets to FEEEAELEES

the carrying amount of the interestin =~ BRI (B 2 ¥ BR
the joint venture:

Net assets of the joint venture EETEFEE 245 23,000
Proportion of the Group’s ownership A& B fE(5 & & 1> %

interest in the joint venture B R 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s REEREEDREZ

interest in the joint venture EEREE 123 11,500
Results of the joint venture: BEDEXEE
Revenue WA - —
Depreciation e - (5,915)
Profit (loss) for the year from continuing ¥ 48 #&£ & ¥ 75 2 F /€ )i 7

operation (E518) 245 (9,284)
Other comprehensive expense FEEMPERX

for the year - —

Total comprehensive income (expense) £ E 2 W A (FI ) 42 %8

for the year 245 (9,284)
There are no significant restrictions on the ability AETEURERESTAKBES
of the joint venture to transfer funds to the Group EREEAEENEELAEEEL
in the form of cash dividends, or to repay loans or CERIBFME NI EXEE
advances made by the Group. N PRl e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT 8. BAFEERARMEENR
FVOCI BremEE
2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000
TAT T

Listed equity securities, at quoted FTRAEZS  ERE
market price in Hong Kong (note (a)) B2 TS WE (M it@) 194,146 128,729
Unlisted equity securities (note (b)) FELETRARES
(K7 (b))
— Tre 29 Investment (Holdings) Limited — Tre 29 Investment
(Holdings) Limited 27,163 21,710
— Green River Associates Limited — Green River
Associates Limited 9,605 10,475
— Era Bright Limited — Era Bright Limited 10,608 3,153
47,376 35,338
241,522 164,067
notes: Hiat -

(@)  The above listed equity securities represent ordinary shares in @ Ll ETRABHEEELTERBZLYRA
entities listed in Hong Kong. These investments are held for IR ZERETFHEHRITEEBNMIERE
strategic investment purposes and are not held for trading. The BEE AEEEHZEREREETARA
Group has designated these equity investments as financial assets TEEFAEMEZARES/MEE LD
measured at FVOCI, as reflecting short-term fair value fluctuations HRREBEERBATFTEEZEHED BT
in profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy HEALEERBMENFEZSKRERE
of holding these investments for strategic purposes and to realise RAERBKRBEE D KB -

their long-term performance potential.
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

FVOCI (CONTINUED)

notes: (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

APEERALBEER
ﬁZf@ﬁEﬁ)

Wizt - (4)

@@ (&)

The listed equity securities measured at FVOCI comprise the

following investments:

BAVEESAEMEE RS Z EHERA

EHBETIKRE

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Oshidori International Holdings Limited BEEERERA 146,880 88,350
Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd. BRIRITRHE rs& 11,642 7,446
Bradaverse Education (Int’l) Investments Group Limited RFE# & (EEE) % § 58
BRAF - 6,963
Imagi International Holdings Limited ENEBEZERERAF 6,339 6,819
Central Wealth Group Holdings Limited EP EEEERARAQR 977 5175
Sinolink Worldwide Holdings Limited BHEEERERA T 9,500 3,850
Planetree International Development Limited BRBEREREGRA 2,580 3,330
Esprit Holdings Limited BRIRKERERA 5,748 2,298
Touyun Biotech Group Limited BEEYBRIEEES ﬁﬁ 1,700 2,100
EPI (Holdings) Ltd BEBFTER)BERAA - 1,327
Y. T. Realty Group Limited AMAMESEBABRA R 4,567 1,056
CC Land Holdings Limited R E M IR AR A A 4,200 —
Others EHh 13 15
194,146 128,729

In the current year, the Group disposed of certain listed equity
securities in the portfolio at a consideration of HK$48,583,000
(2024: HK$7,757,000), which was also the fair value as at the date
of disposal, as the listed securities no longer meet the investment
objective of the Group. The cumulative loss within the revaluation
reserve of HK$27,526,000 (2024: HK$5,911,000) has been
transferred to retained profits.

The Group engaged independent qualified professional valuers
to estimate the fair value of the unlisted equity securities.
Reasonable fair value estimates were determined using valuation
techniques appropriate to the respective market and industry of
each investment. These techniques included the asset-based
approach which applies the fair market value of total assets less
total liabilities, and the market approach which considers prices
and other relevant information derived from market transactions
involving identical or comparable assets or businesses.

RAFE HREBLTESFTBERFSE
SEZEEBE MASBEHEREAS
ZETFTEMRAES - KRB A48,583,000/%8

7L (2024 : 7,757,000 L) - B AR E IR AL
ERHCATFEE -EEFHEEBERNZ RTEIE
27,526,000 7T (2024 : 5,911,000 7T ) & &
BERBHEF -

b AEBZEBEIAERSEMGEGEE
EHEABRSFNAFEE 2 FEEZAE
B DRBEEREZBET S RITESE
RZEEFEEE RSN EAREAERMR
ERAREAERELARZATHE LT
BEERERESRARAKATELREE
REBZTERZAEEZEMBRBER) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRERHE
For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

) 2
23. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT 2. AT EERSAHMEENR
FVOCI (CONTINUED) mZEMEE®
notes: (Continued) Hiat - (%)
(o) (Continued) o) (&)
Fair value as at
RUTHEHZAREE
Financial assets 31 March 31 March Fair value Valuation Significant Relationship of unobservable
measured at FVOCI 2025 2024 hierarchy techniques unobservable inputs inputs for fair value
BAVEERAHM 2025 2024% DV EE EXFUERE FUBERARERE
ZHUBEZEREE 3A31AH 38318 & 1 B 595 BABE ALEEZBR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Unlisted equity securities 36,768 32,185 Level 3 Asset-based  Adjusted net asset value  The higher the net asset value,
approach the higher the fair value
FEMRAES =k BEZ RBEREERE EEFEds ATEE
S
Unlisted equity securities 10,608 3,153 Level 3 Market 20.4% (2024: 20.5%) The higher the discount factor,
approach discount for lack of the lower the fair value
marketability
FETRAES =/ WHE B2 5B AT R NEESHE ATEE
20.4% (2024 : 20.5%) K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HmEMBRRMET

For the year ended 31 March 2025

HZE2025F3A31HILFE

24. LOAN RECEIVABLES 24. EWE X

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET TET

Loan receivables JEWE 8,783 3,233
Less: Impairment loss B ORBEE B (3,717) (40)
5,066 3,193

2025 2024

Gross Allowance Gross  Allowance

amount for ECL amount for ECL

EHEE EHEEE

wWEE  EERE mEE BERE

Note HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

B i FERT FExT FETT FETT

Borrower 1 fERAT () 4,500 (1,005) — —
Borrower 2 B A2 (i) 4,283 (2,712 3,233 (40)
8,783 (3,717) 3,233 (40)

Notes: B 5E -

The loan receivable is due by an independent third party which is
principally engaged in money lending business in Hong Kong with
a gross amount at approximately HK$4,500,000 (2024: Nil), less
impairment loss allowance of approximately HK$1,005,000 (2024:
Nil). The loan is unsecured, repayable within one year at a fixed
interest rate of 6% (2024: Nil) per annum. The borrower made a
partial settlement of HK$3,353,000 after the end of the reporting
period.

The loan receivable is due by a former subsidiary which is
principally engaged in operations of ports and logistics businesses
with a gross amount of approximately HK$4,283,000 (2024:
HK$3,233,000), less impairment allowance of approximately
HK$2,712,000 (2024: HK$40,000). The loan is unsecured,
repayable within one year at a fixed interest rate of 3.45% (2024: 3.45%)
per annum.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in
Note 37(b).

(i)

BREF SR —ZEERETERSEE
2 BAE = #8549 A4,500,000% T
(2024 : #%) - FOBR B 1B &5 18 8 4 491,005,000
B (2024 ) c BEEERAERA - AR
—FREE RIZE T F R E6% (2024 : )
AE-BARAERBERRELEELDE
X /3,353,000 TC °

FREZFR—BETEXREEORDRE
TSR BT M B A B 48 KA 4 54,283,000 T
(2024 : 3,233,000 7T ) + #0 Bk B 1B B 4
2,712,000 7T (2024 : 40,0008 7T) - B E
BB BN —FREERIZEEFF
R 3.45% (2024 : 3.45%) 51 B, °

L E T A B R M EE37(D)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

25.

26.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM FORMER 25. EYCE B AH A B D B RIE
SUBSIDIARIES IN LIQUIDATION
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHE T
Amounts due from former subsidiaries & U575 £& §1 BB B A &
in liquidation RIE 31,881 33,184
Less: Impairment allowance BB (31,881) (31,881)
— 1,303

The amounts due from former subsidiaries in
liquidation are classified as current assets.

During the year ended 31 March 2025,
the liquidators made cash distributions
of approximately HK$1,303,000 (2024:
HK$50,673,000) to the Group.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in
Note 37(b).

RECEIVABLE HELD IN CUSTODY

The amount represents consideration received
by the custodian on behalf of the Group for the
disposal of investment properties. The balance
was utilized to repay the other borrowings
in accordance with the Group’s instructions
subsequent to the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. ES R HMEWERR

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET THET

Trade receivables E 5 EWERER 5,778 6,241
Less: Impairment allowance B BB E - —
5,778 6,241

Other receivables H 4th i I BR 53X 8,358 4,018
Rental and other deposits MHekEMET2 1,207 1,852
Prepayments TE FRIB 1,219 2,660
Advances to suppliers ) £ FE 7 EA K 2,593 3,544
19,155 18,315

Trade receivables mainly arise from ports and
logistics business. The Group’s credit terms
for customers are generally 60 days, which are
negotiated at terms determined and agreed with
its customers. The Group does not hold any
collateral in respect of these balances.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of
allowance for doubtful debts, presented based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period

E2RRKRERETZREE L RY
mEH - AKEEPZEEH R
REOH - NIRBREEETFPETE &
BEZIGFTERF L - ARE XL E
MRFERTATAERR -

NBEZAHPREE  NEREESB
® BHRWEFINBREHTER
ZERERDAMTIE

is as follows:
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FETT
Within 90 days 90HA 5,778 6,241

Details of impairment assessment are set out in
Note 37(b).

R E T G A B R M EE37(D)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

28.

29.

SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND
BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The short-term bank deposits carry at fixed
interest rates of 1.1% to 1.3% (2024: 1.2% to 1.65%)
per annum. The bank balances carry prevailing
market interest rates ranging from nil to 2.8% (2024
Nil to 0.2%) per annum.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The following is an analysis of trade and other
payables at the end of the reporting period:

28.

29.

FHRTERRBTEER
BE

RBRTEREEEFF ER11E
Z13E (2024 : 12 B 165 ) 5
B oRTEHFRRITMSFMNE
NFEE28E (2024 : EE02F)
A

BEZREMENKRM

B NREMEMEBRNERE T
EEZOMWOT

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHETT

Trade payables ageing analysis based %% = HH2 & 5 fEf+

on invoice date: R ERER DT -

Within 90 days 90H A 2,455 2,908
2,455 2,908
Other creditors B b e BR K 9,983 7,990
Accruals JEET X 4,715 3,937
Other tax payables H b e #5718 223 224
17,376 15,059

The average credit period on trade payables is
30 days. The Group has implemented financial
risk management policies to ensure that trade
payables are settled within the agreed credit
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEVMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 30. ENERE
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER FAT
Ports and logistics BORYR
Advances from customers B E P A 2 13
The transaction price allocated to the remaining R2025%F3A31H "I E&R T /E
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially HWEECRBITHE:BD RET)H
unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2025 amounted to RSB KL /20008 7T (2024 :
approximately HK$2,000 (2024: HK$13,000). 13,0008 7C) - B BB HIFT A &4
Management expects that all the remaining TREAEEHNHE TR
performance obligations will be recognised as E—F (2024 —F)MEHNHA
revenue over the contract terms within one year (2024: RAWA -

one year) from the end of the reporting period.

Movements in contract liabilities EHNBEEBEZET

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET TAET

Balance at 1 April R4 818 2z &8 13 1,535
Decrease in contract liabilities as a FHAERFIEETA

result of recognising revenue BHNBENBAS

during the year that was included HEHNBERD

in the contract liabilities at the

beginning of the year (13) (1,449)
Increase in contract liabilities as TEAEREMERE Y

result of billing in advance BfEEM 2 13
Exchange movement [ 5 2 ) - (86)
Balance at 31 March M3 A318 &% 2 13
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

31. LEASE LIABILITIES 1. HEAE

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET TAET

Lease liabilities payable: FENFRERE:
Within one year —F R 2,485 5,231
In the second year F_F 548 1,413
In the third year to fifth year inclusive S =ZFF A F
(BEEmMSBEEA) 560 2,026
Over five years HmiEmhF 143 759
3,736 9,429
Less: Amounts due within one year & : IR —F R E|HAIL 51| &
shown under current liabilities MBBEZHIA (2,485) (5,231)
Amounts due after one year —F &P H 2 FRIA 1,251 4,198
32. AMOUNT DUE TO A NON- 2. BN —RBIIFERRRERNIE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and ZEFRELREERR 2BENERETE

without fixed repayment terms. B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

33. OTHER BORROWINGS H b 8 5K
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHEx FHET
— Secured (Note a) — ﬁ AR (Ftita) 2,011 —
— Unsecured (Note b) R (MY 3EDb) 89,040 15,977
91,051 15,977
The other borrowings are repayable ~ E (&R EEH W T
as follows:
Within one year or on demand —FARFEK 91,051 15,133
More than one year, but not exceeding 8 48 — 4 - {8 1 8 /M F
two years — 844
91,051 15,977
Less: Amounts due within one year & : —F Ak iz E K
or on demand shown under E|HR N S E R B
current liabilities BEZHIA (91,051) (15,133)
Amounts due after one year —F &3 H 2 I — 844
Notes: BT -
(a) The other borrowings of HK$2,011,000 (2024: Nil) represented a (@) H fth & 72,011,000 7T (2024 © % ) 45 K

margin loan from a stockbroker and were secured by listed equity
securities with a carrying amount of HK$44,584,000 classified as
financial assets measured at FVOCI. The other borrowings carried
a fixed interest rate of 5% per annum (2024: Nil).

(b) The unsecured other borrowings of HK$82,616,000 (2024:
HK$15,977,000) carried fixed interest rates ranging from 3% to 8%
(2024: 6.4% to 8%) per annum. The remaining unsecured other
borrowings of HK$6,424,000 (2024: Nil) were non-interest bearing.

A 4RZELLHAFEER AEEEA
44,584,000 TR D EREAFEEGAL
hEERZZEHEEN ETRAZFHFE
o H b & RIZ B E F F E5% (2024 : &)
A e

R OE M fE 382,616,000 T (2024 :
15,977,000/ 7T ) & 1 F3% £ 8% (2024 :
6.4% ZE 8%) 2 [E & & F L 5T 8. o Tl 5 £ 3K 8
H & 306,424,000 T (2024 : £8) AR E °

EmMEZERAERLDT 2025 F 7R

265



266

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A31BIEFE

34. DEFERRED TAXATION

The component of deferred tax liabilities
recognised and movements thereon during the
current and prior years are as follows:

#IE Bt 18

$$F§*&L\MBE¢F§EEE§7&Z?ELE
MEEGEKUAREZEHIE
L

Fair value

adjustment

on intangible

assets

BREEED

TEEAE

HK$’000

FAT

At 1 April 2023 R2023F 4 A1 H 237

Exchange realignment Ii H (13)

Credit to consolidated income statement mealmEKZEA (11)

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R2024F3 A31H

§20244 71H 213

Exchange realignment Ii H B (1)

Credit to consolidated income statement melmEKRZEA (11)
At 31 March 2025 R2025F3 A31H 201

At 31 March 2025, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$395,926,000
(2024: HK$424,634,000) available to offset
against future taxable profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of such
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams on those subsidiaries. Included in the
unrecognized tax losses at 31 March 2025 are
losses of approximately HK$47,974,000 (2024:
HK$75,933,000) that will expire in one to five
years. Other unrecognised tax losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
has deductible temporary differences of
HK$12,982,000 (2024: nil). No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary differences as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised.
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R2025F3A31H KREEA K
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FERZENB AR BREF 2 #
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. [ A<
Number
of shares Value
B#% & A -]
HK$'000
TAT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each: BROA0B T 2 BB
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, M2023%E4 A18 « 20244
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 3A31H 2024%4R1H
K 2025%F3 A31H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR:
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, F2023F 4 A1 8 + 20244
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 3A31H 2024%F4A1H
K 2025%F3 A31H 1,040,946,114 104,095
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
disposed of (i) Blue River Wuhan Port Limited and
its subsidiaries and (i) Yangkou Port Holdings
Limited and its subsidiary from its ports and
logistics business and recorded a gain on disposal
of subsidiaries of approximately HK$59,323,000.

36. HEKEBRQ A

HZE2024F3A3MBIEFE A&
BB D RYRERHE(l Blue
River Wuhan Port Limited K E Bff /&
7~ &) (i) Yangkou Port Holdings
Limited & E [ff B & & + I 8% 15 &
=M B A Al 2 & £959,323,000

BT o
2024
HK$’000
FET
Net liabilities disposed of: EHEAEFE:
Property, plant and equipment IE R Y e g 2,317
Right-of-use assets EHESE 24,223
Financial assets measured at FVOCI & A FEE i A £ 42 m
LEREE 64,378
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b e B BR 3 2,075
Bank balances and cash WITHEFAR® 3,521
Trade and other payables 2 5 K& H b fE IR (19,233)
Contract liabilities aHEaE (1,886)
Lease liabilities HEAE (2,147)
Taxation payable AR (196)
Other borrowings” H b 18 * (91,233)
(18,181)

#

Group.

Included an amount of approximately HK$3,233,000 due to the

# B ¥E FE 4 AR £ B 7 3} 7H 493,233,000 T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (conTinuep) 36. H &M B A 7 (&)

2024
HK$'000
FHET
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMEBL R ZWE :
Cash consideration HeRE 9,000
Directly attributable costs and levies B % JE {5 B AN K2 1 & (597)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEBEFRE 18,181
Gain on disposal before taxation BRI RETRERR RN S RE
and release of attributable reserve 26,584
Cumulative exchange differences P 5K 25 S BT B A B) 2 15 I A
in respect of the net liabilities of HEREYEEBRZ I MB AT
subsidiaries reclassified from equity B EFHEEBE 2 RFTIER E5
to profit or loss on loss of control of
subsidiaries 32,739
Gain on disposal before taxation Bri Al 2 BB W= 59,323
Less: taxation B BIE —
Gain on disposal after taxation BrEiig 2 BEWRE 59,323
Net cash inflow arising on EHEMELEZREESRAFE:
disposals:
Cash consideration HeRE 9,000
Less: directly attributable costs B BERMAERALREE
and levies (597)
Net cash consideration received B IR & R EFHE 8,403
Less: bank balances and B EHECRITEF LIRS
cash disposed of (3,521)
4,882
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@) Categories of financial instruments

37. €@ T A
(@) €I EZHER

() Financial assets () =THEE
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHETT
Financial assets measured at IR # 4K A5t 2
amortised cost LERMEE
— Loan receivables — BB 5,066 3,193
— Amounts due from former — OB RE A B
subsidiaries in liquidation N A)FRIB — 1,303
— Receivable held in custody — AFEEHAZ
JE W 3R 18 44,450 —
— Trade and other receivables — & 5 K H th & Ui
AR 7K 15,343 12,111
— Short-term bank deposits — RHIRITER 8,565 8,621
— Bank balances and cash —RITEFLRS 13,016 11,500
86,440 36,728
Financial assets measured EAFEEFEZ
at fair value TREE
— Financial assets measured  — EAFBE
at FVOCI Hit2E Wz 2
TRLEE 241,522 164,067
Total a5t 327,962 200,795
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 37. £ T BEuwm

(a) Categories of financial instruments (@) EMIEZER @
(Continued)
(i) Financial liabilities (i) £HEE
2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000
TAT T

Financial liabilities measured at 1% $5 5k AN 5t =

amortised cost ZEBAEE
— Trade and other payables — B NEMERN
AR 3K 17,153 14,835
— Amount due to a — B —RIEER
non-controlling shareholder f% R FR I8 8,891 8,891
— Amount due to a joint venture — B — & &
EFIR — 180
— Other borrowings — EmfE 91,051 15,977
— Lease liabilities —HEBa®E 3,736 9,429
Total Gl 120,831 49,312
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A31BIEFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 37. £ T BEuwm
b) eRmEMREEEERBE

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in Note 37(a) and respective
notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below.
Management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective
manner. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

Market risk

(i) Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate
risk arises from financial instruments
that are subject to both variable and
fixed interest rates. Financial instruments
with variable interest rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
Details of the Group’s interest-bearing
financial instruments at variable rates
are disclosed in Note 28. Financial
instruments with fixed interest rates
expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. Details of the Group’s interest-
bearing financial instruments at fixed
rates are disclosed in Notes 24, 28, 31
and 38.

To mitigate the interest rate risk, the
Group maintains a policy of holding an
appropriate mix of fixed and floating rate
borrowings. This is primarily achieved
through entering into borrowings with
different contractual terms. The interest
rate exposure is regularly monitored and
assessed with reference to anticipated
changes in market interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(1)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to interest rate
risk on financial liabilities is discussed in
the liquidity risk management section of
this note. The Group’s cash flow interest
rate risk is considered insignificant, as
there were no variable rate borrowings
outstanding as at 31 March 2025.

Currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the
value of a monetary item will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange
rates. Certain receivables of the Group
are denominated in foreign currencies
such as RMB which expose the Group
to foreign currency risk. The Group
currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However,
management monitors foreign currency
exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

Certain Hong Kong subsidiaries of the
Company also have certain transactions
denominated in RMB. RMB is not freely
convertible into other foreign currencies
and conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.
The Group manages its exposures
to foreign currency transactions by
monitoring the level of foreign currency
receipts and payments. The Group
ensures that the net exposure to foreign
exchange risk is kept to an acceptable
level from time to time.

e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

37. €@ T BEw)

(b) cRIEBREEAERBE@®

i 45 B B (&)

(i)

(ii)

R == = B ()

AEERERABETESH
MEEER  RAWMEARE
ARBETRREERLS
Efatwme ARBEZRE

2 A KR bR A B K
TNRE - REBEE2025

FIAIHEEARERT
SNER

B E
INERRIEESBIEREE
% B [ 3R %4 B i O B 2 [
o AN EE T R RA
TIAAREFEINEHE
AN 5 B A E E N R
“°$EIEWIﬂW%
O BUR CBIEE
@%WE@%%@@’%
Qﬁ%\xﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁqﬂiﬁ
HNEE | B o

AKREETEEHBERR
MEETXZUARE A
B - A\AREAAERK
BAEHMINGE  HF A
X R B BAT BT AR A 2 SINEE

E W AR B BRI TR o A
B EERINEWR KA
FOKFREBINERZ F A,
g o AN & B MR HOF MNE

R TRARFEINESZ
IR o
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AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
#HE2025F3A31BIEFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Currency risk (Continued)
All of the Group’s borrowings are
denominated in HK Dollars and RMB.
The Group mainly draws borrowings
in the functional currencies of the
entities as management considers the
repayments can be sourced from income
to be generated in those currencies.

The Group considers its foreign
currency exposure is mainly arising
from the exposure of RMB against HK
Dollars. The Group regularly reviews the
balances of assets and liabilities and
the currencies in which the transactions
are denominated so as to minimise the
Group’s exposure to foreign currency
risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Currency risk (Continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s
foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities
(excluding inter-company balances),
with exposure to foreign currency risk

REMBRKRME
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31BIEFE

37. €@ T BEw)

b) crtEREEEERER@

5 B B ()

(i) E¥E K@
NEB AINE A BRI E
HNERB o EBEEE
rEEBAE(TRERF
M) (EBRERAEEKX
FIRREHTET 2R

which are considered as significant by HEWT :
management, at the end of the reporting
periods are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
=R BE
2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAET TET FHET
RMB AR 821 826 48 48
In addition, foreign currency denominated gEoN - LASNEE EHE 2 A R
intercompany balances, with exposure to MEBRATETERBARAAE
foreign currency risk which are considered RZINER B - AR EH
as significant by management, at the end TR BT
of the reporting periods are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
=R BE
2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET F& T TE T FHET
RMB AR 1,514 1,624 21,413 21,552
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A31BIEFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% increase in RMB
against HK Dollars and 5% decrease
in RMB against HK Dollars. 5% is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at
the end of the reporting period end for
a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
A positive number below indicates a
decrease in post-tax loss where RMB
strengthen 5% against HK Dollars. For a 5%
weakening of RMB against HK Dollars,
there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the loss for the year.

37. €@ T BEw)

(b) cRIEBREEAERBE@®

i 45 B B (&)

(ii)

B E R 3
R E DT
TRHAIAEERARE
5B TUIE R IN5% KA
R 78 T IE X E 5%
2B REE- - ERAEE
ZEEABERINE AR
- JIERAS% R 8RR E
R GREDTMERRE
RARTHREIANINE S E
fLzE%IEE  BR®E
Hi S 5 I SN S BE R 2 5%
HEETRE TRZIE
BERAREHL BT LA
5% IR BB o A
RSB TT N BKE%HE
HEEEBERZBFZER
[R - T AR e

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Decrease in loss for the year FEEBERLD 798 803
Other price risk (iii) EL 15 4% & B

The Group is exposed to price risk
from its investments in financial assets
measured at FVOCI. Management
manages this exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with different
risks. The Group’s price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity securities
operating in financial services. The
Group has monitored the other price
risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Other price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses have been
determined based on the exposure to
price risk for investments in financial
assets measured at FVOCI at the
end of the reporting period. Had
the prices or fair values of these
financial assets been 5% or 20%
higher or lower, other comprehensive
income would have increased or
decreased by HK$12,076,000 (2024:
HK$8,203,000) or HK$48,304,000 (2024:
HK$32,813,000), respectively.

Credit risk and impairment assessment
As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge obligations by the counterparties
is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Trade receivables

To minimize the credit risk associated with
trade receivables, management is responsible
for setting credit limits, approving credit,
and implementing monitoring procedures to
ensure follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. Credit sales are made to
customers with good credit history. Customer
credit limits and terms across different
business units are reviewed regularly. In
this regard, the directors consider that the
Group’s exposure to credit risk is significantly
reduced. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model
on these balances individually or collectively
with appropriate grouping by common risk
characteristics.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Loan receivables

The Group has a policy for assessing the
impairment on loan receivables on an
individual basis. The assessment includes
evaluation of collectability of the loan
receivables based on management’s
judgment on creditworthiness, collateral and
past collection history of each borrower and
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In assessing the recoverability of loan
receivables, the Group considers changes
in the credit quality of the loan receivables,
if any, from the initial grant date to the
reporting date. This includes assessing the
credit history of the borrowers, such as past
experience of financial difficulties or default in
payments, background reviews, evaluation
of financial position and performance and
relevant forward-looking information.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding loan receivables to
minimize credit risk. The management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to
credit risk are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Impairment allowances on outstanding loan
receivables are determined by an evaluation
of financial background, as well as financial
condition of the borrower and the anticipated
receipts for that individual loan, at the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other financial assets measured at
amortised cost

The credit risk of other financial assets is
managed through an internal process. The
Group closely monitors the outstanding
amounts of other financial assets at amortised
costs and identifies any credit risk in a timely
manner in order to reduce the risk of a credit
related loss. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on short-term bank deposits
and cash balances is limited because these
counterparties are financial institutions with
high credit-ratings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN BERRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

HZE2025F3A31AILFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Concentration of credit risk
As at 31 March 2025, the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk as the

37. €@ I A

(b) cRIEBREEAERBE@®

1= B 2 iz K% 6 18 7T 1 (4

FESTER

20253 A31H -

ﬁilz

SERRIYERAEETIB

exposure of which spreads over a number of HE DM EER 5SS ?
counterparties.
The Group’s internal credit risk grading RNEEZAEEE R R R
assessment comprises the following FEBEATER
categories:
Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
R EBIE EFER ot EZRWERER HiteMEE
Performing The counterparty has a low to moderate Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
R &F risk of default and its credit risk has (not credit-impaired)  12{E A B EE B
not increased significantly since initial >HEHEEEE
recognition. (W EEERE)
ROEFENARREZS  BHE
BRI B ) 25 58 DA SR I 4% R 3 3
e
Underperforming There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
RAE credit risk since initial recognition through (not credit-impaired) (not credit-impaired)
information developed internally or >HEEEEE >HEHEESE
externally. (I \AZERME) (T EEERE)
NI EAEERBREERR BV
BHERUKREBEZG M-
Non-performing There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
TR credit-impaired. (credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)
ERBREEZEELREERE- >HEHEEERE T HEBEEEE
(EERE) (EERE)
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
0 8H is in severe financial difficulty and the EASEEME BEASBEME

Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery.
BREBIELES A LS RSV BUE R
BASE Y & E R IEE Y ERIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The table below detail the credit risk
exposures of the Group’s financial assets and
contract assets as at 31 March 2025 and
31 March 2024, which are subject to ECL

assessment:

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2025
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T & AR E B R20259 3 A 31
HNM2024F3HA31HB®TTIAE
HEEFBIM 2 emEE
NEHNEEZEERRFS

Gross carrying amount

RE#AE
Internal credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL 2025 2024
REEE TR REARLPEBEFEER HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Trade receivables (note i) Performing Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 5,778 6,241
B SRR (H i) RIF SHEABGEEEE(LEEERE)
Other receivables (note i) Performing 12m ECL 9,565 5,870
HAth R U B 3R (B A ) RIf 12/ EBEEEE
Loan receivables (note i) Performing 12m ECL 4,500 3,233
JE U & SR (B =) R 12 A EBREERE
Non-performing Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 4,283 -
UNES FHEHEEBE(EERHE)
Amounts due from former subsidiaries Non-performing Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 31,881 33,184
in liquidation (note iv)
FEWUE £ AT B B 2 R OB (M i iv) RiE cHEREEBE(EERE)
Receivable held in custody (note i) Performing 12m ECL 44,450 —
VAFEE ¥R 2 RN ROR (B i) RIF 128 AEMEEEE
Short-term bank deposits (note v) Performing 12m ECL 8,565 8,621
REBRITER M T RIf 12 A EBEEEE
Bank balances (note v) Performing 12m ECL 13,016 11,500
RITHETF (Htitv) R 12 A EBREERE
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NOTES T